Bath & North East
Somerset Council

Improving People’s Lives

Health and Wellbeing Board

Date: Thursday 5th February 2026
Time: 11.00 am
Venue: Council Chamber - Guildhall, Bath

Members: Councillor Paul May (Bath and North East Somerset Council), Paul Harris (Curo),
Lucy Baker (BSW ICB), Charles Bleakley (BEMs+ (Primary Care)), Councillor Alison Born (Bath
and North East Somerset Council), Fiona Lloyd-Bostock (Oxford Health), Marc Cole (Bath and
North East Somerset Council), Darryl Freeman (Bath and North East Somerset Council), Kevin
Hamblin (Bath College), Andrew Hollowood (Royal United Hospital, Bath), Sara Gallagher (Bath
Spa University), Amritpal Kaur (Healthwatch), Jean Kelly (Bath and North East Somerset
Council), Ronnie Lungu (Avon and Somerset Police), Helen McColl (AWP), Lisa Miller (Oxford
Health), Kate Morton (3SG), Sue Poole (Healthwatch BANES), Stephen Quinton (Avon Fire &
Rescue Service), Rebecca Reynolds (Bath and North East Somerset Council), Val Scrase
(HCRG Care Group), Emma Solomon-Moore (University of Bath), Becky Somerset (3SG), Nic
Streatfield (University of Bath), Agata Vitale (Bath Spa University) and Suzanne Westhead
(Bath and North East Somerset Council)

Other appropriate officers
Press and Public

Corrina Haskins

Democratic Services

Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 1JG
Telephone: 01225 394357

Web-site - http://www.bathnes.gov.uk

E-mail: Democratic_Services@bathnes.gov.uk




NOTES:
1. Inspection of Papers: Papers are available for inspection as follows:

Council’'s website: https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1

2. Details of decisions taken at this meeting can be found in the minutes which will be
circulated with the agenda for the next meeting. In the meantime, details can be obtained by
contacting as above.

3. Recording at Meetings:-

The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 now allows filming and recording
by anyone attending a meeting. This is not within the Council’s control. Some of our meetings
are webcast. At the start of the meeting, the Chair will confirm if all or part of the meeting is to
be filmed. If you would prefer not to be filmed for the webcast, please make yourself known to
the camera operators. We request that those filming/recording meetings avoid filming public
seating areas, children, vulnerable people etc; however, the Council cannot guarantee this will
happen.

The Council will broadcast the images and sounds live via the internet
www.bathnes.gov.uk/webcast. The Council may also use the images/sound recordings on its
social media site or share with other organisations, such as broadcasters.

4. Public Speaking at Meetings

The Council has a scheme to encourage the public to make their views known at meetings.
They may ask a question or make a statement relevant to what the meeting has power to do.
They may also present a petition on behalf of a group.

Advance notice is required as follows:

Questions — close of business 4 clear working days before the day of the meeting to
submit the wording of the question in full.

Statements/Petitions — close of business 2 clear working days before the day of the
meeting to include the subject matter. Individual speakers will be allocated up 3 minutes
to speak at the meeting.

Further details of the scheme can be found at:

https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=12942

5. Emergency Evacuation Procedure

When the continuous alarm sounds, you must evacuate the building by one of the designated
exits and proceed to the named assembly point. The designated exits are signposted.
Arrangements are in place for the safe evacuation of disabled people.

6. Supplementary information for meetings

Additional information and Protocols and procedures relating to meetings

https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13505



https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/webcast
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=12942
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13505

Health and Wellbeing Board - Thursday 5th February 2026
at 11.00 am in the Council Chamber - Guildhall, Bath

AGENDA

WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS
EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE

The Democratic Services Officer will draw attention to the emergency evacuation
procedure.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

At this point in the meeting declarations of interest are received from Members in any
of the agenda items under consideration at the meeting.

(a) The agenda item number in which they have an interest to declare.
(b) The nature of their interest.

(c) Whether their interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest or an other interest (as
defined in Part 4.4 Appendix B of the Code of Conduct and Rules for Registration of
Interests).

Any Member who needs to clarify any matters relating to the declaration of interests is
recommended to seek advice from the Council’s Monitoring Officer or a member of his
staff before the meeting to expedite dealing with the item during the meeting.

TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIR
PUBLIC QUESTIONS AND STATEMENTS

The following statement has been received:

Professor Rory Shaw — Reducing Air Pollution in Bath

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 7 - 12)

To confirm the minutes of the 6 November 2025 meeting as a correct record.
FEEDBACK FROM DEVELOPMENT SESSIONS (Pages 13 - 14)

5 minutes

The Board to receive feedback on actions arising from the recent development session
on emotional health and wellbeing.

Lucy Baker (Director of Learning Disability, Autism and Neurodivergence, Children and
Young People and the Combined Place Team, BSW ICB).



10.

11.

12.

13.

ITEMS FOR COMMENT/SIGN OFF

UPDATE FROM HEALTHWATCH

5 minutes
The Board to receive an update on the future of Healthwatch.

Kevin Peltonen-Messenger (Chief Executive, Healthwatch)/Amritpal Kaur (Projects
Portfolio Manager).

CHANGES WITHIN THE NHS

5 minutes
The Board to receive an update on recent changes within the NHS.
Lucy Baker
UPDATE ON DEVELOPING NEIGHBOURHOOD HEALTH PLANS

5 minutes

The Board to receive an update and feedback on the Neighbourhood Health Plan
workshop session of 29 January.

Lucy Baker

BSW ICB STRATEGIC COMMISSIONING PLAN (Pages 15 - 104)

5 minutes
The Board is requested to endorse the BSW ICB Strategic Commissioning Plan.

Lucy Baker
LOCAL PLAN

20 minutes
The Board to receive an update and be invited to comment on the draft Local Plan.

Richard Daone (Deputy Head of Planning — Planning Policy)



14. BETTER CARE FUND (Pages 105 - 110)

5 minutes
The Board to ratify the Better Care Fund Quarter 3 return.

Lucy Baker/Suzanne Westhead (Director of Adult Social Care).

15.  JOINT HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD STRATEGY EXCEPTION REPORTING
(Pages 111 - 144)

15 minutes

The Board to consider the Quarter 4 Exception Reports and Annual Priority Indicator
Set Summary.

Priority Theme Sponsors to lead the discussion.
16. AIR POLLUTION AND HEALTH: EVIDENCE AND TARGETS (Pages 145 - 152)

15 minutes

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to

1. Consider whether to recommend that the Council should identify and adopt
local targets for nitrogen dioxide and particulate pollution.

2. Comment on whether to recommend that the Council should prepare a Clean
Air Strategy that sets out what the local target should be, and what regulatory
powers there are to help protect people’s lives.

Michelle Tett (Environmental Protection Manager) and Alexei Turner (Senior Officer,
Environmental Monitoring).

The Democratic Services Officer for this meeting is Corrina Haskins who can be contacted on
01225 394357.



This page is intentionally left blank



Bath and North East
Somerset Council

Agenda Item 7

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

Minutes of the Meeting held
Thursday 6th November 2025, 11.00 am

Paul Harris

Laura Ambler
Charles Bleakley
Sophie Broadfield
Jocelyn Foster
Sara Gallagher
Amritpal Kaur
Jean Kelly

Kate Morton
Stephen Quinton
Rebecca Reynolds
Val Scrase

Emma Solomon-Moore
Becky Somerset
Agata Vitale

Suzanne Westhead

Curo, Chair for the meeting

Integrated Care Board

BEMs+ (Primary Care)

Bath & North East Somerset Council
Royal United Hospitals Bath NHS Foundation Trust
Bath Spa University

Healthwatch

Bath and North East Somerset Council
3SG

Avon Fire & Rescue Service

Bath and North East Somerset Council
HCRG Care Group

University of Bath

3SG

Bath Spa University

Bath and North East Somerset Council

26 WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS

The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting.

Page 7



27

28

29

30

31

32

33

EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE

The Chair drew attention to the evacuation procedure as listed on the call to the
meeting.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

There were none.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were none.

TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIR
There was no urgent business.

PUBLIC QUESTIONS, STATEMENTS AND PETITIONS

There were none.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of 4 September 2025 be approved as a
correct record and signed by the Chair.

FEEDBACK FROM DEVELOPMENT SESSIONS

Tom Gaze/Tim Rawlings gave the following feedback following the previous HWB
Development Session on active travel:

1. The comments raised at the session had been shared with the wider team.

2. Deprivation and inequalities: the team had access to mapping which could
be used in the future for updates to the Active Travel Masterplan. It had
already been used in prioritising projects as part of the criteria for scoring.

3. Education attainment gap: It was agreed that one of the wider benefits of
active travel would be closing the education attainment gap and this would be
included in future updates of the masterplan. The Active Way would be
publishing their local evaluation in the Spring which would provide the
outcomes of the activities and interventions delivered in the pilot project in the
Somer Valley. Early evaluation was that it was improving confidence and
access.

4. Parish/Town Councils: engagement had already happened and would
continue to do so.

5. Active Travel and relationship with similar projects: The team was
continuing to liaise with colleagues on other projects such as the Joint Travel
Plan.

6. Infrastructure: The Board had recognised that there was a need for

Page 8



34

35

investment in infrastructure to give cyclists confidence in using routes. It was
noted that introducing this type of infrastructure was controversial, and the
Council would benefit from support from HWB partners. The wording of a
supportive statement was subsequently agreed on behalf of the HWB.

Training for health service staff: pop up roadshows and triaging workshops
had taken place and there had been good engagement with health service
staff.

Prioritising vulnerable groups: the Active Way had been successful in
targeting and engaging people from isolated and disadvantaged backgrounds,
as well as those with physical and mental health problems and long-term
conditions.

BETTER CARE FUND UPDATE

Laura Ambler, Executive Director of Place — B&NES BSW ICB and Suzanne
Westhead, Director of Adult Social Care, B&NES gave a verbal update as follows:

1.

B&NES was on track to meet all targets apart from one — the average length
of discharge. Work was taking place with the RUH on preventative work to
avoid admissions and safe discharge for people requiring supported
pathways.

The Board was advised to keep a watching brief on what Better Care Funding
would look like in the future.

The Board RESOLVED to ratify the BCF Quarter 2 End of Year return.

NEIGHBOURHOOD HEALTH PLAN

Laura Ambler, Executive Director of Place — B&NES BSW ICB briefed the Board of
the latest developments in relation to the development of Neighbourhood Health

Plans
1.

6.

There was now more clarity about the requirement for Neighbourhood Health
Plans (NHPs).

NHPs were required for each local authority boundary (locality) and would be
a joint endeavour between the local authority and NHS.

The Health and Wellbeing Board would have an official role in approving
plans. The timeline was the end of the year.

There had been an instruction to focus on 3 key areas, improving access to
GPs; admission avoidance and discharges; bringing care closer to home.

The guidance was NHS specific but there was an ambition to make it broader
in B&NES to address the wider determinants of health.

A joint working group would be set up and more guidance would follow.

It was noted that the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy would run alongside the
Neighbourhood Health Plans, and the Board would need to monitor the relationship
between the two plans.

Page 9



36

37

CHANGES WITHIN NHS

Laura Ambler, Executive Director of Place — B&NES BSW ICB advised the Board of
the latest developments in relation to changes within the NHS:

1.

There had been significant restructuring within the ICB. Laura would be
leaving to take up a new role; Rob Whiteman had been appointed as Chair of
the new cluster and Jonathan Hickman had been appointed as Chief
Executive Officer.

The timeline for further changes to the structure were unknown, but there
would continue to be ICB representation on the Board.

The medium-term planning guidance had been recently released. This was
the mechanism for the NHS to deliver services.

Board members raised the following comments:

1.

It was noted that it would be Laura Ambler’s last meeting and the Board
thanked Laura for her contribution and support.

As well as changes at the ICB, there were also a lot of leadership changes
across the system including B&NES Council and the RUH.

JOINT HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY IMPLEMENTATION PLAN -
REFRESH

Sarah Heathcote, Health Inequalities Manager, B&NES, introduced the report and
drew attention to the following:

1.
2.

The Health and Wellbeing Board requested a ‘light touch’ review and refresh.

Priority theme reporting leads were briefed to update actions ensuring
alignment with System and Place plans. Priority theme sponsors signed off
changes.

A key principle was to have ambition, ensuring that all actions remain in line
with existing resources (working to a two-year time frame).

As part of the refresh the HWB requested an explicit focus on disadvantaged
groups and specific action on inequalities where possible.

The review highlighted the progress made on actions in the current plan. The
established process for monitoring implementation of the strategy has also
highlighted progress and the exception reporting log provides evidence of
this.

The four priority theme areas of the JHWS and the strategy objectives within
them remain current and did not require substantive change.

The LGA review of the HWB in February 2025 included a recommendation to
categorise actions within the JHWS Implementation Plan according to a
‘drive, ‘sponsor’, ‘observe’ framework and the Board was asked to consider
whether to take this forward as a separate piece of work.

Page 10



38

The Board raised the following comments:
1. In relation to priority 2, there was a lot of work going on in the Future Ambition

Board (FAB) and young people not in education, employment, or training
(NEETSs) were a particular priority. There may be a better a way of building
on the work of the FAB to ensure there was no duplication with the JHWS.
(action: Kate Morton/Sophie Broadfield)

2. The suggestion of the LGA to apply the drive/sponsor/observe framework
would be helpful in moving forward. It was agreed that the reporting leads
would look at this issue and this would be the subject of a future development
session.

The Board RESOLVED to:

1. Note the engagement undertaken with priority theme sponsors and reporting
leads in the review and refresh process.

2. Approve the refreshed Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy Implementation
Plan and agree a timeframe for a future review.

3. Consider the LGA recommendation to apply the Drive Sponsor Observe
framework to categorise and prioritise actions in the Implementation Plan at a
future development session.

HEALTH PROTECTION BOARD REPORT 2024-2025

Becky Reynolds, Director of Public Health and Prevention (B&NES) and Anna Brett,
Health Protection & Core Determinants of Health Manager (B&NES) presented the
Health Protection Board Annual Report 2024-25 and posed the following questions

to the Board:
1. Is the Health & Wellbeing Board assured that the Health Protection Board has

delivered on the priorities from last year?

2. Does the Health & Wellbeing Board support the priorities that have been
recommended for next year and are there further opportunities to join up with
partners to achieve them?

The Board raised the following comments/questions:

1. The Board was assured that the Health Protection Board had delivered on the
priorities from last year but asked for further information about the one amber
rated priority “Help improve immunisation uptake and reduce inequalities in
uptake, particularly MMR vaccination. Contribute to the development of a new
Integrated Vaccine Strategy for BSW and outreach vaccination model for
B&NES” Response: some progress had been made in relation to MMR
vaccination uptake and take up was good across the district but there were
some pockets of lower take up in the Kingsmead and Lansdown wards. The
team was working with GP practices in these areas and also with pre-school
settings to promote vaccines.

2. In terms of achieving the priorities, there was a focus on external threats but
what about the internal threat of behaviour shift to a partnership approach to
health? Was there enough in relation to the population taking ownership of
their own health? Response: this was a good challenge and would be taken

Page 11



back to the Health Protection Board.

. There were elements of co-design such as student/university involvement in

the work around information and advice relating to damp and mould.

. An action was agreed that Board members would link up with Health

Protection Board members within their organisations to see if there could be
any further improvements in the links between the two boards.

The Board RESOLVED to note the annual report and endorse the following priorities
agreed by the Health Protection Board for 2025-26:

1.

2.

Assurance: continue to monitor the performance of specialist areas, identify
risks, ensure mitigation is in place and escalate as necessary

Continue to actively participate in the prevention, preparedness and
management of outbreaks and incidents with partner agencies to slow down
and prevent the spread of communicable disease and manage environmental
hazards

Continue to ensure that the public and partner organisations are informed
about emerging threats to health

Contribute to regional planning on the delegation of vaccination
responsibilities from NHS England to the ICB, and to local vaccination
planning, to support vaccination and inequality outcomes.

Implement actions to support prevention of climate change and mitigation of
climate change impact

Improve uptake of NHS screening programmes with a focus on breast and
cervical screening programmes.

Support the delivery of the Bath and North East Somerset, Swindon &
Wiltshire Integrated Care System Infection Prevention and Management
Strategy 2024-2027, to ensure that the local interventions and workplans to
progress the purpose, principles and seven ambitions of the Southwest
Strategy are implemented.

39 BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET COMMUNITY SAFETY AND
SAFEGUARDING PARTNERSHIP (BCSSP) ANNUAL REPORT 2024-25

The Board was asked to note the Bath and North East Somerset Community Safety
and Safeguarding Partnership (BCSSP) Annual Report 2024-25:

https://bcssp.org.uk/assets/7a7eb990/annual report vf.pdf

The meeting ended at 12.10 pm

Chair

Prepared by Democratic Services

Page 12


https://bcssp.org.uk/assets/7a7eb990/annual_report_vf.pdf

B&NES Health and Wellbeing Board Development Session

Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health - Summary of outputs from workshop discussions Bath & North East

Somerset Council
Purpose: The Board held two focused discussions on strengthening

_ : _ 2. Children & Young People — Emotional Health & Wellbeing
mental health and emotional wellbeing support for residents:

1) Improving adult discharge pathways from acute mental health Challenges identified
services into the community. High rates of self-harm and ED attendances.

2) Supporting children and young people’s emotional health and Variation in access to early support and prevention.
wellbeing . Families unsure how to navigate pathways.

Need for stronger links between education, NHS and VCSE.
1. Adults — Improving Mental Health Discharge Pathways Young people’s voices not consistently embedded in design.
Challenges identified Next steps

Agute beds at full capacity; reliance on out-of-area placements.
[Busing and benefits gaps and issues delaying discharge.
Ldinited integration of families, carers, universities, and VCSE in
planning.

Data fragmented and not reflective of lived experience.

Strengthen early intervention in schools and neighbourhoods.
Simplify access and navigation for CYP and families.
Develop integrated models with education, NHS and VCSE
partners.

Prioritise work on self-harm reduction and resilience.

Embed youth voice and lived experience in monitoring and

Next steps improvement. L:‘;
Short-term (0—6 months): Map housing provision, embed

housing/university staff in discharge meetings, standardise discharge 3. Shared Commitment

checklists, improve family/carer signposting. Both strands highlight the importance of:

Medium-term (6—18 months): Pilot integrated discharge teams (NHS, Whole-system partnerships (NHS, LA, housing, education, VCSE,

LA, VCSE), develop shared dashboards, expand crisis alternatives, universities, families).

provide carer training. Community-based models that prevent crisis and reduce reliance on
Long-term (18+ months): Achieve zero out-of-area placements (2026 acute beds.

target), embed parity of esteem with physical health pathways, scale Shared data and accountability to drive improvement.

successful pilots. Co-production with service users to ensure pathways meet real

needs.




This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

BSW Five Year Strategic Commissioning Plan

danuary 2025

=
(93]

>
Q
@

S



Purpose of session SR

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

22 Present a draft of the BSW Five Year Strategic Commissioning plan (strategy), prior to the sign off of
4 the final plan (extraordinary board 10" February)

Provide feedback and endorsement -Health and Wellbeing Boards required to endorse as part of the
requirement for the planning submission on 12 February 2026 for the NHS Medium Term Planning
Framework (published on 24 October);

A8
11

9T abed

\/ Outline the remaining work in finalising the plan prior to the February planning submission

= Describe the timeline for the planning process to achieve the final submission on 12 February




NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

Introduction & Context

LT abed

Ssossadsasatisialensy:



omerset,
Swindon and Wiltshire

P I a n Integrated Care Board

Purpose of the Five Year Strategic COmMMISSIONING s anort cost s

Three strategic shifts The commissioning plan set out in this paper sets out the ambition
of BSW ICB to further transform health services over the next
Hospital five years, working as part of the wider ICB cluster.
1 v Takes forward the work previously set out in the BSW ICP
Community strategy, and articulated in our BSW Care Model, and now
incorporates the ambitions articulated in the NHS Ten Year Plan.
2 Analogue Our plan adds further detail to our commissioning intentions

v (approved by the Board last year) for transforming a range of
Digital key services that will deliver the three shifts.
The quantification of these shifts, which will be estimates only, is
being completed in line with our already established Outcomes

Treatment Framework
\ : Delivering on these outcomes will drive the delivery of our
AT HLCT intentions and be the key metrics by which we will evaluation
success.




Work we have undertaken to date

6T abed

Developed strategic
commissioning intentions and
engaged upon them with key

partners

Integrated Needs Assessment

updated our population
demographic and demand
forecast work

Developed in collaboration with
|ICB portfolio and
commissioning leads to further
develop the commissioning
intentions and delivery
milestones and timescales

Reviewed progress against the
BSW Care Model and our
associated clinical strategies.

NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

Alignment to the 10-year plan
has been central to identify
ambitions and opportunities for
BSW

Developed with a cluster
approach based on the
national guidance



Strategy on Page st e North st S

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

Emiedding oulcomes and Ry T Cormmissioning O comprebenshg
Dyaredoping o naig '1I:.-...-ur1'r..-..-.'.| R r urgent ord

he=alth se "
y core paltvanay

Transforming
ol Fianine
Cur
Commissioning
Internticns

Oplirmisin cpanding ond Ensuring
the BSW pound constetency of our digial offer

Transformiing Primory Corg Commissioning for Prevention

The BSW Vision

We listen and work effectively together to improve health and wellbeing and reduce inequalities.

What we
will deliver
tegether

We will deliver this vision by prieritising three clear objectives:

xcellent health

1. Focus on prevention 2. Fairer health and

and early intervention wellbeing outcomes are services

The BSW Care Model

Enablers to help make it happen:
&2 g

Hew v will

deliver it %

Ervdironrmantal Our role as Anchor
sustainokiity Iresthuticn:s

Technology Esteibes of
and dafa the fufura

Shifting funding
to prevendion




Informing our Commissioning Intentions I

Swindon and Wiltshire

Integrated Care Board
Commissioning Intentions

5 Year Strategic Intent and Ambition :
Casrt? I:/Iocijel & Direction and outcome improvements linked to
areaies rationale and Care Model and10 Year Plan

Refresh of EX|St| ng 10 Year Plan

Case for i Delivery group Facfamr ; .
Change position Gap Auayeis 3 Year Commissioning Intentions :
Specific actions and measurable impacts

Known and
forecast
financial,

P i 1-2 Year Contracting and Procurement Intentions :
and service Detail that impacts contracts
Planned procurements and management of

expiring contracts




NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

Summary of Five Year Strategic
Commissioning Plan

Zc abed

Ssossadsasatisialensy:



NHS

What our Integrated Need Assessment Tells Us AR,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

Rising demand from an ageing population: The number of people over 60 in BSW is set to grow
by 35% in 15 years, driving higher A&E attendances, ambulance dispatches, and pressure
equivalent to needing a new 20-bed ward each year.

\

o]
Growing waiting lists: Elective, community, and mental health backlogs have surged post-COVID, %
with over 100,000 people on acute waiting lists and 25,000+ on community lists, while neurodiversity

1 mihion adults

and autism waits have quadrupled. and chidren i el o

Workforce shortages and morale: GP numbers have stagnated despite population growth, dental
access is limited, and staff morale is flat or worse compared to pre-pandemic levels.

Y
&Financial pressures: Rising costs and efficiency targets mean BSW faces difficult trade-offs to

gremain financially sustainable, with full details pending from Finance.

w
Health outcomes in major diseases: While preventable mortality benchmarks well nationally, @
cancer, cardiovascular, and respiratory outcomes still trail, underscoring the need for earlier

detection and proactive intervention.

Digital: Digital tools and data offer scope to improve efficiency, patient experience, and proactive
care, but maturity and investment vary across organisations.

Health inequalities: Outcomes remain unequal across gender, age, ethnicity, and deprivation, with
deprived groups experiencing longer waits, lower vaccine uptake, and higher risk of serious illness.




What Our Mapping of Current Performance Tells us

-
Y

Q

® Urgent & Emergency
'Y Care

*Improved ambulance
handovers (now within 45
minutes) but increased
A&E demand.

*A&E 4-hour performance
remains in lowest national
quartile.

*High numbers of patients
delayed beyond
discharge-ready date; flow
improvements required.

Elective Care:

*RTT improving overall but
RUH off-plan; significant
challenge to meet 92% by
2029.

*Waiting list growth (+3.3%)
is a national outlier;
requires ~50% reduction.

*Cancer 28-day and 62-day
performance below target

*Diagnostics strong vs
national but substantial
improvement needed to
meet 1% by 2029.

Mental Health & Learning

Disabilities:

*Talking Therapies course
completions below plan;
service development
required.

*Dementia diagnosis rate
below national standard.

*CYP MH access rates in
bottom national quartile;
expansion needed.

Primary & Community
Care:

*Dental activity (routine &
urgent) below plan; needs
uplift to meet targets and
support contract
reform.Need to increase
availability of GP and
same-day appointments;
digital triage rollout key.

NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

Effectiveness &
Experience of Care:

*Infection rates need
improvement to reduce
bed closures and support
patient flow.



What Our Engagement on the 10 year plan told us NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire

We held an extensive local conversation on the NHS Ten year plan with our communities. The themes identified in this RS et

conversation as well as other engagement we have carried out with our communities are central to this plan and include:

Prevention & Early Intervention

«  Strong support for prevention but differing views on delivery.

+  Calls for better school-based health education, nutrition & physical activity programmes.

* Need for long-term VCSE funding and targeted outreach.

»  Concerns about affordability of healthy food and unintended impacts of increased screening.

Access & Navigation NHS Ten Year Plan:
* Low awareness of pathways (esp. weight management, frailty). .
» Desire for clearer signposting, self-referral routes and eligibility information. Feedback from pohen’rs

+ Transport & rural access challenges; request for mobile/closer diagnostic services. and the public
» __Frustration with poor hospital-GP coordination; need for joined-up referrals/discharge.
* & Digital vs Face-to-Face
Support for shared care records & digital tools.
. mHigh concern about digital exclusion (older & disadvantaged groups). Enthusiasm for ‘Pharmacy First’ (this community
+  Preference for face-to-face for complex issues Rhemcis o sipbly Sotte prescripiion: diny

. . . . medicines, where clinically appropriate.
*  Ongoing worries about cyber security & data privacy.

« Broad support for ‘Hospital at home'
(virtual wards).

*  Workforce & Infrastructure Concerns about staffing shortages and ability to deliver new models (Hospital at Home, Concerns over digital exclusion.
CDCs, TICC).Questions about feasibility in rural areas. Concerns over access to Community
Communication & Cultural Sensitivity Diagnostic Centres.

* Need for clearer, jargon-free communication.

* Demand for translation services & culturally sensitive care.

+ Behavioural & Social Factors

+ Learned behaviour driving A&E attendance despite alternatives.

+  Emotional/psychological support and stigma important in weight-related discussions.
Service Design Feedback (Trowbridge ICC)

»  Support for care closer to home.

* Requests for extended MIU hours, local maternity options, short-stay beds.

* Mixed views on whether new facilities = improved care or just new buildings

Belief that NHS will improve in the future.




1. Embedding Outcomes & s

Bath and North East Somerset,

2 2 Swindon and Wiltshire
Promoting Integration
Embed System Outcomes Framework in Contracts:

 Embed outcomes into our contracts with an increasing number of providers

* Require providers to demonstrate contribution to outcomes metrics and national best
practice on patient-reported outcomes and address inequalities.

* Underpin this with a new financial framework where partners collect and develop outcome data
(e.g., dementia care).

* Incentivise providers to collaborate and shift care from hospital to community.

» Enhance integration of physical and mental health pathways in community settings.

Underpin population health management to identify groups and neighborhoods where
outcomes are poorest:

« Strengthen population health intelligence at place level to guide investment and disinvestment
within pooled budgets, using PHM segmentation to target high-need cohorts and geographies.

» Support equitable uptake of high-value prescribing (e.g., CVD) by linking outcomes data to
prescribing data and using Bl tools to identify areas of low uptake.

« Commission services to maximize access for identified populations, ensuring equity and
reducing health inequalities across Pharmacy, Optometry, Dental, and medical pathways.

» Integrate PHM into Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) to improve access to safe,
high-quality community pharmacy services aligned with population needs.

+ Apply PHM in dental procurement processes to ensure accessible, safe, and quality
dentistry services that reduce health inequalities.

» Leverage high-quality data and insights to drive strategic care through NHS App, Al
frameworks, and workforce training.

» Ensure funding flows reflect population health need, not historical activity, by adding
contractual clauses for improved data quality, completeness, and linkage of data, evidence, and
clinical insight.



2. Develop a Neighbourhood Health
Service (1)

Develop a neighbourhood health service:

« Develop locality-based Neighbourhood Health Plans that define shared priorities and
outcomes for each population. We will do this by shifting from organisation-led to place-
led planning and align funding across community, primary, mental health, VCSFE and
acute partners.

» Explore development of a Mental Health Community Neighbourhood Service to
strengthen mental health support in schools, perinatal and child and adolescent services

o to build resilience and intervene earlier.

«2 Strengthen joint commissioning and shared accountability across ICB and Local

~ Authorities through pooled budgets, shared outcomes, and integrated assurance.

« Align BCF, prevention, inequalities and population health management (PHM)
workstreams under a single Neighbourhood Health delivery framework.

* Neighbourhood-level outcome measures and evaluation methods will be developed
collaboratively with providers, including acute, VCSE and local authority partners.

« Commission Community Pharmacy as a key provider in our primary care offer, by using
the opportunity and capacity that CP affords, to improve access, support urgent
care, deliver prevention and reduce health inequalities.

« Commission services in primary care within other sectors e.g. urgent care, mental health,
neighbourhood health rather than separately.




2. Develop a Neighbourhood Health
Service (2)

Expanding and embedding Integrated Neighbourhood Teams, supported by

renewed engagement with service users, the VCSE sector and targeted population
cohorts:

*  We will implement Neighbourhood Health Plans through Health and Wellbeing Boards,
aligning each with local JSNAs and system outcomes.

*  We will commission neighbourhood mental health teams which includes VCSE
;g)artnerships and school-based services so people are supported earlier and more
Focally.

» Yl'he next phase of ICBC implementation will enable the embedding of INTs as the
visible organising structure for neighbourhood delivery, incorporating children and
young people, prevention and wider determinants from the outset.

«  We will expand Neighbourhood Health beyond the contract to include civic and
community levers such as housing, education, employment and local infrastructure and
progress the INT scope in line with this contract to include prevention and early
intervention alongside clinical care.

» Using the opportunity and capacity that Community Pharmacy affords, we will improve
access, support urgent care, deliver prevention and reduce health inequalities and
expand outreach dental to underserved and discrete communities.




3 . ReVi eW U rg e nt a nd Bath and North East So!r:‘l!ezml.i

Swindon and Wiltshire

Emergency Care Pathway

We will undertake an end-to-end review of the currently commissioned UEC pathway. Using
the outcomes of this review we will seek to:

Strengthen community offers and dedicated specialist support to reduce
preventable crisis attendances and admissions, learning from commissioning of
inpatient, outreach and enhanced community offer in 25/26.

Review impact of CYP UEC schemes including the Healthier Together App and
the Paediatric ARI Hubs

Hospital @ Home will be commissioned for other pathways, for example
paediatrics, end of life and increased step up

Review of Urgent Treatment Centres, to support the shift from MIUs to UTCs.
Develop a fully joined up strategy and pathway for frailty patients
Strengthen the Place commissioning role in flow and discharge through the
Better Care Fund and Section 75 agreements and use pooled funding to
integrate intermediate-care capacity across NHS and social-care partners.

Align locality-commissioned Neighbourhood Health and ICA priorities to
reduce duplication.

Increase use of services in Community Pharmacy, Optometry and Dentistry,
to support patient access and reduce pressures on general practice and UEC
settings.

Use our commissioning levers to end the use of inappropriate out of area
placements so people remain connected to their support networks and local
teams.

Commission mental health community rehabilitation, and crisis alternatives
reserving inpatient beds for the most complex needs



4.Transform Delivery of Planned
Care

« Commission services that enable a radical change in service delivery or
recommissioning for ENT, Respiratory, Cardiology, Urology and
Gastroenterology.

» Digitally enabled, patient-led outpatient model Advice and Guidance with
specialty level Single Point of Access before referral, complemented by direct access
to diagnostics.

« Straight to test pathways for clinically appropriate patients, with the 10 largest

- Specialties by volume (all specialties by 2029)

<§ Transformation to an all-age needs-based Neurodiversity pathway through our ICBC

8 Programme, VCSFE waiting well support and National ADHD Service Development
Programme

« Transformation of CYP community pathways including sleep and neuro-disabilities ‘
through our ICBC programme.

* Redesign the pathway for primary care to reduce need for referral to treatment, f
that only those things required to do by specialists are done by specialists.

* A shift away from a traditional referral approach to a joint approach between
primary and secondary care and we will implement nationally mandated changes to
Advice and Guidance to create a 'discuss with' rather than 'refer to' model across all
specialties through our Referral Redesign Programme.




NHS

. . Bath and North East Somerset,
5. Optimising use of the BSW pound  *"&iiees

A New Financial Framework:

*  We will drive equity and optimise the use of the BSW pound

+ The system must be financially sustainable by the end of year 2 with the ambition to eliminate the
underlying deficit as deficit support funding and transitional support funding is removed.

« Our ambition is to generate an annual transformation fund of 3% for reinvestment in
initiatives that support local commissioning priorities each year over the life of the plan. This
will start at 0.6% and grow by 0.6% each year. (generating the required 3% non-recurrent surplus
by year 5)

«  We will make greater investment upstream in demand management schemes and agree a
roadmap to move acute based services to more appropriate settings at neighbourhood level.

* We will drive transformation, integration and the shift from sickness to prevention. We will do this
by focusing on eliminating waste by expanding the use of preventative approaches,
improving productivity, ensuring alignment of services with needs and incentivising
partnership working through different contracting models.

*  We will commission for outcomes and value and will support a change in how resources are

deployed with the rate of expenditure growth increasing into services outside hospitals,

drugs and digital to manage the levels and impact of demand on acute. (£10m from year 1). By

year 5, we will aim to increase our contracts linked directly to outcomes from 5% to 25%.

Collaboration will be incentivised with clear requirements to sub-contract with other providers,

including the VCSE sector.

« Improved targeting of allocations based on the data from population health management to
remove variation in provision and outcomes and align funding with need.

» Devise and set clear ROI criteria and critical success factors for all service expenditure

including robust business cases to inform service changes.

Identify two pathways or conditions areas where we can test new payment approaches.

U
Q
Q
D
(98]
=

h



6.Expanding Our Digital offer

We will commission the integration of the NHS App and a single digital front door, to
ensure providers have contractual obligations to integrate with the NHS App once
onboarding for the sector is available nationally. This may require providers ensure they
use subcontractors that are also going to engage.

We will avoid system proliferation and commission consistency of the Integrated Care
Record ensuring that providers will flow relevant data into the ICR and use the care
planning functionality it contains.

groviders will make use of existing systems across BSW rather than introduce new
@isparate solutions to the system architecture. We will do this through the Integrated
Bare Record, Single EPR, AWP EPR review and our ICBC contract.

We will require providers to state how they will collectively reduce digital
exclusion, for example this may involve outreach work into disadvantage communities.

We will commission for responsible innovation, enabling providers to exploit new
technologies, such as those that use Al, to deliver more efficient and safer pathways
of care. Tools will be deployed in line with national guidance, meet clinical safety &
cyber requirements and be evaluated to evidence benefits.

Patient empowerment- Services will be designed in a way that allow patients to take
greater control of their own management through using wearables, remote monitoring
and virtual support.




NHS!
/. Commissioning for Prevention and Population Health P 2 Windon and Wiltshire

Integrated Care Board

+ Establish a system-wide baseline of prevention spend across NHS, Local Authority
and VCSE partners and set a multi-year ambition to increase the proportion of total
resources invested in prevention. We will do this by:

-

« Commission coherent prevention pathways for major modifiable risk factors, i.e
tobacco, obesity, harmful alcohol use, polypharmacy, cardiovascular and metabolic risk,
ensuring alignment from early identification through to treatment and maintenance.

*  We will commission services in a way that maximises access where populations
have been identified, to ensure equitable access and reduced health inequalities.

+ Use the opportunity and capacity that Community Pharmacy affords, to improve
gpcess, support urgent care, deliver prevention and reduce health inequalities.

. We will commission providers to proactively target patients with problematic
pdlypharmacy, and reduce incentivizing interventions where problematic
polypharmacy is an outcome

* Require early identification, escalation and learning processes across contracts
to build a preventative safeguarding culture.

+ Make neighbourhoods the focal point for prevention by aligning NHS, VCSE and
Local Authority partners around shared outcomes, expanding Wellbeing Co-ordinators
and social prescribing.

+ Utilise Community Pharmacy as a key mechanism of the community to deliver
prevention.

* Implementation of the vaccination strategy to allow all providers access to all
vaccines at the most appropriate point for the patient

« Grow the role of VCSE role by building on the 5 % ICBC investment requirement to
deliver measurable prevention outcomes and scale trusted, community-led
approaches that tackle inequalities.



8. Transforming Primary Care

Commission same-day services for clinically urgent patients (face-to-
face, phone, online) to meet 90% target.

Ensure all GP practices deliver 2025/26 and 2026/27 contracts, including
full access via multiple channels and online consultation availability during
core hours.

Improve patient experience of GP access using PREMs for year-on-year
improvements.

Expand Pharmacy First and introduce prescribing-based services in
Sommunity pharmacies with outcome-based frameworks and PGDs.
‘Rebase dental contracts to commission additional capacity for residents.
Rccelerate digital-by-default in primary care, supporting ambient voice
tech and NHS App integration.

Require collaboration across general practice, community pharmacy,
dental, mental health, VCSE, and hospices to design neighbourhood
services for local needs (frailty, deprived populations).

Commission outcome-based frameworks to incentivise proactive care
at home and MDT collaboration, reducing non-elective admissions and
bed days.

Redesign planned care pathways to reduce referrals and commission
community-based specialist clinics, expanding CDC access and
formalising integrated pathways.

NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,
Swindon and Wiltshire

Integrated Care Board




Other Key Activities

iz  De-commissioning programme
“%* Accountability framework

Analysis of existing contracts and block arrangements

Gg abed
]

x> Leveraging specialist networks

8

Transformation/innovation fund-pathway improvement

#it Engagement with patients and communities

NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board



og¢ abed

Next Steps

Reviewing and refining a more concise version of the 5-year plan, incorporating Board feedback, and NHSE
feedback on our first planning submission and commissioning intentions

Translating and quantification of the commissioning intentions into activity plans, including aligning this with the

ambitions set out in our BSW Outcomes Framework and our ICBC Outcomes Framework

Ongoing work for activity, finance and workforce plans ahead of the February submission

Finalise detailed delivery plans

Socialisation of the plan with Integrated Care Alliances

Endorsement of the 5 year plan by all three Health and Wellbeing Boards in BSW.

An EQIA to be completed on the Integrated planning process and agreed by QOC on 2" February 2026

Detailed proposals to be agreed for key transformation projects to be agreed as part of the protected
transformation fund and summarised in the plan

NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board



< Timeline for Full Submission ot or o £t st

Swindon and Wiltshire
Full Submission 12" Feb 2026

Integrated Care Board

Extraordinary
QOC (EQIA) Paplf;f) el
2" Feb

NHSE Submission

Check & Challenge : .
: Final Submission for :
System Planning Provider Plans to ICB LU s o 2 Finance & Investment Extraordinary Board

Exec Committee
2nd Feb 4th Feb 10t Feb 12th Feb

231 Jan 2P0 e

)€ abed

HWB Endorsement (5 year Plan)
29 Jan Wiltshire
3 Feb Swindon

NHSE 5 Feb BaNES

meeting
12th Jan

Submission includes:
3 Year finance plans (4 year for capital)
3-year workforce plans
3 Year Activity and Performance

Provider Board sign off
SFT- 10th Feb

GWH- 5th Feb

Integrated medium-term plan template
RUH- 4th Feb

Board Assurance Statements
5 Year Plans (Trust delivery plan or ICB Strategic Commissioning Plan/PHIP)
3-year Ambulance operational plans

23




NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

Appendix 1: National Planning
Requirements

8¢ abed

Sy



<{ S u m m a ry Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

On 24 October 2025 NHS England published the Medium Term Planning Framework- delivering change
together 2026/27 to 2028/29, which introduces a shift away from short-term operational focus toward long-
term, locally-led improvement across the NHS.

Seeks to empower local innovation through a revised operating model and financial regime, supporting
major improvements in neighbourhood health services, digital transformation, and quality of care;

Key national priorities include:

6 abed

» Financial discipline: 3% real-terms revenue growth and 3.2% capital funding, with all systems to
achieve balance or surplus by 2029 and deliver at least 2% annual productivity gains.

« Operating model: Empowering Integrated Care Boards (ICBs) and providers to deliver integrated,
prevention-focused care through eight strategic themes: local integration, neighbourhood health,
prevention, digital transformation, quality improvement, patient experience, workforce and leadership
renewal, and embedding genomics and research.

» Operational delivery: 15 national success measures will underpin performance monitoring through
the NHS Oversight Framework, supported by new technical guidance and productivity tools.


https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/medium-term-planning-framework-delivering-change-together-2026-27-to-2028-29.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/medium-term-planning-framework-delivering-change-together-2026-27-to-2028-29.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/medium-term-planning-framework-delivering-change-together-2026-27-to-2028-29.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/medium-term-planning-framework-delivering-change-together-2026-27-to-2028-29.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/medium-term-planning-framework-delivering-change-together-2026-27-to-2028-29.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/medium-term-planning-framework-delivering-change-together-2026-27-to-2028-29.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/medium-term-planning-framework-delivering-change-together-2026-27-to-2028-29.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/medium-term-planning-framework-delivering-change-together-2026-27-to-2028-29.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/medium-term-planning-framework-delivering-change-together-2026-27-to-2028-29.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/medium-term-planning-framework-delivering-change-together-2026-27-to-2028-29.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/medium-term-planning-framework-delivering-change-together-2026-27-to-2028-29.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/medium-term-planning-framework-delivering-change-together-2026-27-to-2028-29.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/medium-term-planning-framework-delivering-change-together-2026-27-to-2028-29.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/medium-term-planning-framework-delivering-change-together-2026-27-to-2028-29.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2025/10/medium-term-planning-framework-delivering-change-together-2026-27-to-2028-29.pdf

<A The Medium term planning framework st North €t S

Swindon and Wiltshire

required us to be ambitious

The Medium Term Planning Framework (MTPF) is an ambitious document. Over the next 3 years it will return the NHS to much better health — with waiting times
dramatically reduced, access to local care restored to the level patients and communities expect, and unnecessary bureaucracy slashed so that savings are poured
back into frontline services and staff.

Building on the 10YHP it sets out how the NHS can deliver the three shifts and sets out the new way of working:

Hospital to Community Sickness to prevention Analogue to digital

+ Accelerating progress on Neighbourhood

g Health « Tackling obesity, including continued rollout » Making full use of the NHS App to
Q . Same-day appointments for urgent cases of weight loss medicines and weight communicate with and support patients to
S in general practice management services better access and manage the care and
< + Increasing community service capacity and « Supporting the target of a 25% reduction in services they need
productivity CVD-reIatgd premature mortality . sting the NHS Federated Data Platform to
+ Greater use of community pharmacy « Implementing opt-out models of tobacco improve care through benef use of data
« 700k extra urgent dental appointments a depengency ge_rvi'ces * Deploying Al toolg like ambient yoloe
» Reducing antibiotic use and polypharmacy technology and digital therapeutics

year

These shifts will be supported by:

1. Transforming our approach to quality, including setting out what good looks like in key clinical areas and rolling out data-led monitoring, starting in maternity services
2. A new Operating Model for the NHS which provides clarity on roles and accountabilities, and offers greater freedom and flexibilities for those performing well

3. A new financial regime which distributes funding more fairly and ensures payment schemes support new models of care, including the shift to community
4

A renewed approach to improving productivity, reducing unwarranted variation, transforming pathways and maximising the use of technology to speed up processes.



Planning Architecture-how the plans fit A g

Swindon and Wiltshire

to g et h e r Integrated Care Board

'NHS Medium Term Planning Framework National aggregate provider level
5-year plans will ; operational and financial plans €
be collected at an
g{gt?\glfsljrgra :‘evel Regional oversight €
submission stage T

-6early FebruarY)' o T --v R Y
% | Wﬂmw Five year Strategic Commissioning Plan/ R §CB plan retonm
|_B'he ICB plan will - Population Health Improvement Plan (rolling)
replace the I ¢ T T i
functions of the ,
JFP as well as Organisation Level Strategy NHS Trust/Foundation Trust Five-year ) Provider planreturn
setting out the Integrated Delivery Plan
strategic i i l T
C(I)mmissioning Strategic Local Planning Neighbourhood Health Plan
pians.




< National Guidance on Five Year Plan INHS
Bath and North East Somerset,

C O n te nt Swindon and Wiltshire

Integrated Care Board

Outline for ICB 5-year Strategic Commissioning Plan / Population Health Improvement plan (PHIP)

1. Executive Overview of the ICB's Commissioning Strategy including vision and desired outcomes
summary - How the Strategic Commissioning plan will seek to deliver the outcomes and key points of the plan

Summary of integrated needs assessment and baseline mapping of current performance and quality of commissioned services

:.c:l:zlr:lh | = High level analysis of population health need now and in the future, the health and care economy and the implications of 10YHP and objectives in MTPF-
_3" delivering change together for the development and commissioning of provision.

Population health ) o - . . e . i

ot Assessment of the quality, performance and productivity of existing provision and improvement opportunities including relevant benchmarking and clear

identification of underserved communities

A methodology/framework to set out priority commissioning intentions over the five-year period
= Each pricrity/commissioning intention as a minimum should include:
- defined outcomes and metrics
+  clear milestones and delivery timescales
+  delivery scale (e.g., neighbourhood, place, ICB, pan-ICB — potentially one or more levels)
+  governance arrangements

3. Commissioning
intentions for
2026/26 — 2030131

2t abed

An overview of the financial ambitions over the 5 years

< Pl Evidence of the financial rigour applied in decision making and the maintaining of long-term financial sustainability

An overview of the ICB and system workforce plans over the 5 years

ety e e = Adescription of how supply and demand challenges will be met, and how ICB is supporting system collaboration in workforce planning

A description of the organisations approach to transformation

= Summary of how the organisation will co-ordinate and work with all partners to deliver major transformation programmes including embedding digital
transformation and enabling the ‘left shift’ by supporting the shift of resources from acute to community services and increasing community and neighbourhood
health capacity

6. Transformation
and new care

izl = Description of new care models to maximise value for patients and taxpayers aligned to 10YHP and how the ICB will embed these models
2 Enabl Key enablers for the plan, how they will be resourced, any dependencies that have been considered in the development of the plan and how they will be aligned
- Enablers to support the plan. The key enablers could be: digital, data and technology; estates and facilities; workforce
. Risk model
) . High-level risk analysis including:
8. Risk and -
mitigations o assessment of likelihood

o financial and non-financial impact
o mitigating actions which should be implementable internally without the need for external resource i.e. additional funding from the centre




NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

BSW Five Year
Commissioning Plan
(Strategy)

2026/27 to 2030/31

Working Draft 15 January 2026 V1.1

Page 43

P PP DD




NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

Contents

(@] | (=] | £ PURPPRP 2
Foreword by Cluster Chair..............uuiiiiie e 3
LIPS @4 1W 153 =Y o [ ] (o Yo [8 o o) o PP UURURR 5
2. PUIMPOSE & SCOPE....oieiitiiiiiie et e e e e e e e e e e e e ettt e e e e e e e e aaeaaeeeeeensannna 6
3. Strategic CommISSIONING OVEIVIEW ..........uuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiaeee e 7
T = VA O 0] o1 (= AU 8
5. Vision, Aims and Strategic ObJeCtiVES ..........ceiiiiiiiiiiicee e 17
6. Strategic Commissioning Intentions 2026/27-2030/31 ...t 18
7. Strategic Commissioning CapabilitieS ..........cccooiiiiiiiiiiiii e 40
8. TranSfOrMAtioN .......oooiiiiii it eaaaaaa s 41
S TR o = Lo = I o = T o PSRRI 43
10, WOIKFOICE PIAN ...ttt ettt s e e e e e e e e e e e eeeeeeeeennnnnes 44
11, Digital StrategY . ueeeeeiie ittt e e e e e e e e e e e e 47
12, Infrastructure STrategy ... 48
I TR = To T= o =10 1= o | SO PO PPRRP 52
14, MOoNItOrING DEIVEIY ....oveieeeeeee ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e eeeees 55
15.  Risks @nd MitigationS .........oooiiiiiiiii e 56
L T € 1o 1V =T 4 T o= U EPPPRRPURR 59




NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

Foreword by Cluster Chair

Rob Whiteman CBE, Chair NHS Bath & North East Somerset, Swindon and Wiltshire
ICB, NHS Dorset ICB and NHS Somerset ICB

It's a real privilege to introduce our new cluster, which brings together the collective
strengths of NHS Bath & North East Somerset, Swindon and Wiltshire ICB, alongside NHS
Dorset ICB and NHS Somerset ICB. By joining forces, we're combining the expertise,
experience, and passion of three systems. Working together means we can share what we
do best, learn from each other, and deliver care that is more consistent, more efficient, and
more responsive to the people we serve. This is about planning for the future as one team;
building a high-performing strategic commissioning organisation that can make bold, long-
term decisions and achieve more for our communities as we move towards full merger in
April 2027.

Many people in our communities live a significant part of their lives in poor health, and
those in our most disadvantaged areas experience this earlier and more severely. This is
not just a health issue; it affects families, communities, and the economic wellbeing of our
region. We must act together to change this.

Our new cluster brings together our three Integrated Care Boards to work as one strategic
commissioning organisation, ahead of our planned merger in April 2027. We need to plan
for the long term, focusing on outcomes, and making sure every pound we spend delivers
the greatest value for our population. It also means working differently, moving away from
short-term fixes and towards evidence based and outcome-driven commissioning that
tackles the root causes of ill health.

We know there remain significant challenges to overcome. We need to reimagine how we
better support people in their communities; we will do this by building neighbourhood
teams, working together with our partners across the NHS, local authorities, the voluntary
and community sector and with the public. We want to improve access to GP services and
NHS dentistry whilst at the same time continuing to improve access to mental health
support, reducing waiting times for planned treatments and continuing the improvement we
have seen over the past year in our ambulance response times.

We will make these changes supported by the latest technology and while creating a
health and care system that is financially sustainable, with the workforce required to meet
the care needs of our population. We also know that not everyone has the same
experience, and those living in our most disadvantaged communities are least likely to
receive the support they need to thrive. It is important to be clear that in the years covered
by this plan, local partners will face difficult choices as a result of challenging financial
positions, but we are committed to doing everything we can to deliver on the three key
shifts set out in the Government’s 10-Year Health Plan, moving more care from hospitals
to communities, making better use of technology and preventing sickness - not just
treating it.

None of our achievements, nor our aspirations for the future, would be possible without the
dedication, talent and compassion of the inspirational people who work in our local health
and care services — from across the statutory and the voluntary, community, and social
enterprise (VCSE) sectors, and | would like to thank them for everything they do.

Our three ICB Strategic Commissioning Plans contain many shared ambitions and some
locally set commissioning intentions. They set out the actions we will take to build on the
solid foundations already laid and rise to the challenges we face.

Page 45



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

At the time of finalising and publishing this, in February 2026, we are in a time of
unprecedented change for the NHS. We are in a period of consultation with staff across
our three ICBs as part of the government-led requirement to reduce our running costs by
50% ahead of our intended merger in April 2027. We have made some good first steps to
work together, with Jonathan Higman appointed as our cluster chief executive in
September 2025. We also have a newly appointed cluster executive team, who are
working hard to set us on the path to becoming a high-performing strategic commissioning
organisation.

Alongside the changes to ICBs are the changes in NHS England and their merger with the
Department of Health and Social Care. The NHS landscape is evolving, and we will
continue to work with our partners, maintaining our focus on supporting our people and
communities to live healthier lives.

Page 46



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

1.Cluster Introduction

Chief Executive Jonathan Higman, BSW ICB, Dorset ICB, Somerset ICB

I’'m delighted to introduce our new cluster across Bath and North East Somerset, Swindon
and Wiltshire (BSW) ICB, Dorset ICB and Somerset ICB. Whilst we are currently three
systems, we have a shared mission: to help people live healthier lives, tackling unfair
differences in access and outcomes, and making the best use of every pound we spend.
By bringing our strengths together, we can go faster on the things that matter most for our
communities.

The NHS 10 Year Health Plan focuses on three shifts, and this set the direction for how we
commission services in the future:

e From hospital to community we will focus on delivering more joined up support
close to home, with neighbourhood teams as the default place people get help.

o From analogue to digital we will focus on simple, secure digital tools like the NHS
App and shared care records that make care easier to find, book and manage. We
will look for digital innovation which will support people to live healthier lives.

e From sickness to prevention we will focus on earlier help to reduce the risks around
smoking, high blood pressure, excess weight and harmful alcohol use, so fewer
people reach crisis.

Most importantly, we will design our future services with people and communities, not for
them. We will keep listening and work with people through neighbourhood plans, VCSE
partnerships, health and wellbeing boards, and ongoing public engagement so local insight
shapes decisions.

What we’re already doing in common — our one shared approach

Across BSW, Dorset and Somerset, our plans point in the same direction. Together we
will:

« Commission for outcomes, not just activity. We will put outcomes frameworks
into contracts and hold ourselves to reducing unwarranted variation and closing
inequality gaps. This gives providers clear goals.

« Build a Neighbourhood Health Service. Integrated neighbourhood teams (INTs)
will wrap care around people with primary care, community services, local authority
and VCSE partners working as one team.

« Improve urgent and emergency care by strengthening the community front
door. We will redesign same day and out of hours access, develop single points of
access, and recommission Integrated Urgent Care (IUCS) so more needs are met
safely at home.

« Transform planned care pathways. We will expand advice and guidance and
community based diagnostics; use data and clinical standards to reduce waits; and
make follow-up more personalised and efficient.

e Focus prevention where it matters most. Systemwide tobacco dependence
support, better hypertension case finding and treatment, integrated healthy weight
support, targeted alcohol harm work and improved vaccination access are shared
priorities.

Page 47



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

« Use data well. We will link up and responsibly use data across partners (e.g.
Dorset’s Intelligence & Insight capability, Somerset’s Linked Data Platform, BSW’s
Outcomes and Intelligence Hub) and adopt national tools like the Federated Data
Platform to target support and track impact.

« Make digital the easy option and keep nondigital routes open. Shared care
records, modern EPRs, NHS App integration, remote monitoring and inclusive
digital support will be built into contracts and everyday practice.

o Strengthen mental health and neurodiversity support. Earlier help in the
community, crisis alternatives to inpatient care, dementia pathway improvements,
and fair physical health checks for people with serious mental illness, are shared
commitments across the cluster.

e Improve support for children and young people. Speech and language, SEND
reforms, family hubs, and fairer access to specialist care are shared areas of work
so children get help earlier and closer to home.

« Tackle dental access and oral health. \We will stabilise the market, widen access -
especially for vulnerable groups and strengthen prevention in schools and
communities.

o Align money to value. We will grow transformation funds, use pooled budgets
(e.g., Better Care Fund) and outcome based payments to shift resources into
prevention and neighbourhood care.

« Invest wisely in estates and infrastructure. Modern, flexible spaces including
community hubs, diagnostics closer to home, greener buildings will support the left
shift and make access easier, especially in rural areas.

What’s next

We are clustering now and intend to merge into a single strategic commissioning
organisation by April 2027. This will help us plan at scale, reduce duplication and get the
best value for our communities, while keeping decisions grounded in local needs. We will
do this within the new NHS national framework, building the skills, data and market
shaping capability that strategic commissioning requires. Our promise is simple: we will
keep people and communities at the heart of our commissioning intentions; we will
measure the outcomes that matter; and we will work as one team across the 6 places in
our cluster to deliver for our people and communities.

2.Purpose & Scope

This plan will set out how we intend to deliver our strategy for the five-year period, from
2026/7-2030-31 and clearly articulate how the commissioning intentions will deliver on the
agreed outcomes and the path to delivery with clearly set out targets and trajectories.

In developing these paths to delivery, the commissioning plan will:

o Consider the ICB’s integrated needs assessment and baseline mapping of current
performance and quality of care to describe our commissioning intentions to
improve population health outcomes and ensure equitable access to healthcare in
line with the outcomes and priorities described in the ICB’s five-year Commissioning
Strategy.

Page 48



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

e Provide clarity for healthcare providers and other partners on how the ICB intends
to allocate resources, and what outcomes will be achieved as a result,

e Translate national and local strategic priorities into local action

o Demonstrate how partners will practically work together to improve health
outcomes

o Describe the financial framework that will be used to support financial sustainability
and value for money.

The plan will demonstrate also how the ICB Embed feedback and experience from
patients, service users, people and communities to inform commissioning intentions and
evidence partnership working across Public Health, local Government and the VCSFE
sector to deliver on our agreed outcomes.

3. Strategic Commissioning Overview

The Model ICB Blueprint marked the first step in a programme of work to reshape the
purpose, role and functions of integrated care boards (ICBs), laying the foundations for
delivery of the 10 Year Health Plan and following the announcement of a significant
reduction in the operating costs for ICBs from 2026/27. This strategic commissioning
framework supports ICBs in commissioning NHS services as well as others with this
function — regional NHS teams currently and in future some providers, to understand what
strategic commissioning means in practice. It updates the commissioning cycle and sets
out the important enablers to support effective commissioning. We use the term ‘strategic
commissioning’ to describe the updated approach to commissioning as presented in the
framework.

Strategic commissioning is a continuous evidence-based process to plan, purchase,
monitor and evaluate services over the longer term and with this improve population
health, reduce health inequalities and improve equitable access to consistently high-quality
healthcare. As strategic commissioners, the ICB are accountable for creating the best
value for the public from their NHS budget. ICB’s should consider how the budget should
be spent within their population to secure high quality accessible healthcare now and in
the future and ensure that the health services they plan, and commission uphold the rights
and values outlined in the NHS Constitution for patients, the public and staff. ICBs will also
work alongside government, including local government, to address the wider
determinants of health, such as employment, in line with the government’s health mission
and the 4th purpose of ICBs to support wider socioeconomic development.

Strategic commissioning comprises four stages:

1. Understanding the context — ICBs will use joined-up, person-level data and
intelligence (including user feedback, partner insight, outcomes data, public
health resource and insight) to develop a deep and dynamic understanding of
their local population and their needs now and in the future, and the biological,
psychological and social drivers of risk and demand, proactively identifying
underserved communities and assessing quality, performance and productivity of
all existing provision.

2. Developing long-term population health strategy — ICBs will focus on long-
term population health strategy and planning and care pathway redesign. They

Page 49



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

will use national modern service frameworks and guidance to create the
evidence base for new integrated models of neighbourhood care that maximise
value, guiding the development of population health improvement plans.

3. Delivering through payor function and resource allocation — ICBs will
understand and allocate resources in contracting and procuring services, shape
and manage the provider market, and have an increased focus on the longer
term in their ongoing contractual management of commissioned services to
deliver the outcomes set out in the ICB strategy and population health
improvement plan.

4. Evaluating impact — ICBs will rigorously evaluate the outcomes from
commissioned services, care models and proactive interventions. This includes
tracking and responding to healthcare use, clinical risk markers, patient and staff
reported experience, outcome metrics and wider feedback and intelligence.

4.BSW Context

4.1 Summary of BSW Integrated Needs Assessment

This section provides a high-level summary of the Integrated Needs Assessment (INA) for
BSW. It draws together key messages from the three place-based JSNAs (B&NES,
Swindon and Wiltshire), system-wide analysis of the health and care economy, and
baseline performance using the BSW Outcomes Framework. The full INA (including
detailed place-level needs, segmentation, and supporting analysis) can be accessed
separately and should be read alongside this Medium Term Plan.

4.1.1 Local context and population health needs (JSNA summary) [section being
reviewed and updated incorporating further detail and feedback from public health
leads]

Across BSW, JSNA evidence highlights generally good health outcomes overall, but
substantial variation by place and neighbourhood. Swindon has a younger and more
diverse population profile and the greatest concentration of deprivation. B&NES and
Wiltshire have older population profiles, with rurality creating additional access barriers
(transport, distance, connectivity and digital exclusion). Wider determinants (housing
affordability, employment, education, transport and community infrastructure) shape both
need and inequality, and this is compounded for inclusion health groups and people living
with long-term conditions.

While we recognise a wider set of Core20PLUS inclusion groups, deprivation and ethnicity
are two of our key inequality dimensions where we have the strongest and most consistent
data across BSW. They also frequently intersect, for example, a higher proportion of our
CORE20 population are in the Asian ethnic group, relative to the other deprivation deciles.
This suggests we could benefit from targeting some of our inequalities work where
ethnicity and deprivation intersect.

Page 50



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

The JSNAs also highlight the growing burden of long-term conditions and multi-morbidity,
rising demand linked to frailty, and sustained pressures in children and young people’s
services (including SEND and mental health). Preventable risks remain key drivers of
future ill health and demand, particularly smoking, excess weight/obesity and alcohol-
related harm, with risk and outcomes strongly patterned by deprivation and place.

4.2 Health and Care Economy: Key Messages from the BSW Case for Change
The system context is shaped by demographic change, increasing complexity, and
constrained capacity. The case for change shows that:

1) Our population is ageing, and this will materially increase need:

BSW Population by Age - 2023 and Projected 2038

B
=
=
)
=
= =
= T
B 3!
B
2T
2E
=
s
3
=X
= 1
2T 1
;
—
=
-8000 -5000 4000 -2000 0 2000 4000 6000 8000

OFemales 2038 OMales 2038 Females 2023 Males 2023

This figure provides the demographic context and supports the case for shifting investment
and delivery models towards prevention, earlier intervention, and community-based
support.

2) More older people means more multi-morbidity:

160,000

140,000 [ ] 4 LTCs ------- 2038

—

120,000 o = e 5

100,000

80,000 — .

B,

60,000

40,000 N
20,000 \
0 g

0-9 10-19 20-29 30- 39 40-29 50-59 60-69 70-79 80-89 90+

This illustrates the growth in long-term condition burden and the implications for proactive,
coordinated care (particularly for people living with frailty and multiple conditions).

Page 51



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

3) Demand pressures will increasingly show up in urgent care and acute bed
capacity:

60,000.0

14,000

20,000.0

0-9 10-19 20-29 30-39 40-49 50-59 60-69 70-79 80-89 90 -99

I [ Emergency Admissions @ Admission Rate per 100k of Population ‘

Without change, pressures on already stretched acute beds, ambulance dispatch and ED
attendances will rise. Together, these reinforce why the Medium Term Plan must deliver
the “hospital to community” shift, with integrated neighbourhood delivery and improved
flow. These figures help connect the INA evidence base to urgent and emergency care
priorities and the need for prevention and proactive community support to reduce
avoidable crisis activity.

5) Access and waiting times remain a significant challenge across services:

RTT Total Waiting List Size, BSW Patients

This supports the MTPF expectation that systems address access and productivity
alongside transformation.

4.3 Baseline Mapping of Current Performance

The Integrated Needs Assessment is anchored in the BSW Outcomes Framework, which
provides the shared baseline for performance, variation and inequalities. For this summary
we use three headline outcomes that together capture length of life, quality of life, and
avoidable crisis/system pressure:

e Life expectancy and Years of Life Lost (YLL): establishes the baseline for
premature mortality and highlights where preventable death and inequality gaps are
greatest.

10
Page 52



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

e Healthy life expectancy and Healthy Years of Life Lost (HYLL): provides the
baseline for quality-of-life impact and identifies where people are spending more
years in poor health.

e Emergency bed days: provides a system pressure proxy and highlights where
urgent, reactive care use is concentrated and where proactive, integrated
community support should have the greatest impact.

Benchmark
Latest BSW (latest Trend
data date data) (Average 6
peers ICBs)
Life Expectancy (Female) 2023 84.2 84.0 =
Life Expectancy (Male) 2023 80.8 80.3 =
Healthy Life Expectancy at 65 2021-23 127 123 _
(Female)
Healthy Life Expectancy at 65 (Male) 2021-23 11.4 11.1 =
Emergency Bed Days 9/24-9/25 43092 1

Implications of the 10 Year Plan (10YP) and Medium Term Planning Framework
(“MTPF- delivering change together”)

Taken together, the Integrated Needs Assessment evidence base supports the MTPF
direction of travel and the three shifts:

¢ Sickness to prevention: tackling preventable risks and improving early
intervention, particularly in communities experiencing the poorest outcomes.

e Hospital to community: strengthening neighbourhood and community delivery so
people receive proactive, coordinated support and reliance on urgent reactive care
reduces.

e Analogue to digital: improving data, segmentation and outcomes measurement so
commissioning can target highest-need cohorts and track impact consistently.

4.4 Activity and Performance

Integrated Health Boards and the wider NHS face significant challenges which include
longer waiting times to access services and increased demand. To fully understand the
challenges faced by the BSW System, we have in place an Integrated Performance
Dashboard to provide oversight of the key operational standards, including those outlined
within the NHS Oversight Framework (NOF) which is reported on both an ICB and Provider
basis.

11
Page 53



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

BSW ICS faces many of the same challenges as a system as other parts of the NHS, and
although progress has been made across many performance standards, we face particular
challenges, and benchmark as an outlier for Urgent and Emergency care and some
elements of Elective care. We have identified improvement opportunities in the following

areas:

Urgent & Emergency Care

Ambulance Cat 2 response time and ambulance handovers: We have implemented
a change in handover process at our acutes to ensure faster transfer of patients
(within 45 minutes), which has significantly improved our handover times, although it
has increased demand in A&E which needs to be addressed.

A&E 4 hour standard — BSW are performing nationally in the lowest quartile (Q2) for
4-hour performance at Type 1 A&E departments, and challenges remain in meeting
operational planning ambitions set out for 26/27- 28/29.

NCTR - We continue to have a high number of patients in BSW Acute hospitals and
in Intermediate Care Beds who are occupying a bed in hospital after their discharge
ready date. To achieve improved hospital flow, we need to reduce the time between
discharge ready date and the actual discharge date across all pathways.

Elective care

RTT — The system is improving RTT 18 week and 52 week performance in line with
25/26 plans though RUH are not meeting plans. BSW will be challenged to meet
constitution standard of 92% by 2029. The increase in the waiting list in year by 3.3%
is a national outlier and the waiting list needs to reduce by almost 50% to 57,520 to
support the 92% standard delivery by 28/29.

Cancer services- 28 day faster diagnosis & 62 day referral to treatment performance
below target and national average for the System and Acutes, although challenging
robust plans are in place to meet the MTP plan targets.

Diagnostics- Athough 6 week performance is in line with region and currently
performing better than national, a significant improvement is required to meet the
MTP plan targets and the national standard of 1% by March 29.

Mental Health & Learning Disabilities

Talking Therapies — Completed Courses of Treatment: Numbers of courses
completed is below plan and fair shares (not benchmarked). Service development
will be needed in the MTP to improve the number of adults receiving a course of
treatment in Talking Therapies.

Dementia Diagnosis rate is in line with region though substantially below national
performance and target, a significant improvement is required to meet the national
standard.

CYP Access (age 0 to17, 1+ contacts) BSW are bottom quartile for CYPMH Access
rate per 100,000 and improvement is required.

12
Page 54



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

Primary Care & Community care:

e Dental: Delivery of planned units of dental activity (regular and urgent) needs to
increase to meet BSW ambitions and ensure we meet our nationally agreed targets,
including the implementation of the dentistry contract reforms focusing on enhancing

access to urgent and unscheduled care.

e Ensuring there are sufficient GP appointments made available for patients including
same day appointments is a priority to help reduce pressures on the urgent and
emergency care system. The roll out of online triage systems across BSW also aim

to support this.

Effectiveness and experience of care:

e Improving infection rates across all services is a priority to reduce closure of beds

and support flow through patient pathways, improving patients experience of care.

BSW ICB is committed to actively managing the local health and care market to ensure
services are sustainable, high-quality, and responsive to population needs. We will work
closely with our Providers to support service resilience, innovation, and collaborative
approaches, while identifying opportunities to address gaps or improve patient
outcomes. During 2026/27, we will strengthen our understanding of provider capacity,
workforce pressures, and investment requirements, engaging providers in shaping future
service models. Where appropriate, commissioning levers will be used to secure high-
quality, cost-effective services that deliver equitable access and improved patient
outcomes.

4.5 Quality

Quality is defined in statute as having three dimensions: safety, clinical effectiveness and
patient experience and is a shared goal that requires system commitment and action to
ensure that we provide the highest quality health and care services.

BSW System Quality is based on these principles:

* Collaboration, trust and transparency
* Transformation
» Equity and equality

The use of the Juran Trilogy Model of quality planning, quality control and quality
improvement will be central to the planning and delivery of care. This is described within
the BSW Quality Assurance and Improvement Framework (QAIF) and sets out the vision
for quality through the application of the National Quality Board (NQB) guidance (further
strategy publication due in 2026). The QAIF also sets out our governance arrangements
for monitoring our quality priorities, including the use of agreed performance and quality
assurance metrics and patient and service user reported outcomes and experience.

In practice this means that the system will deliver care that is safe, effective, well led,
sustainably resourced and equitable. Our commitment includes the need to shape and

Page 55

13



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

design the delivery of services by working with local communities, ensuring engagement
with children, young people and adults that use local services (experts by experience),
alongside health and care professionals and the voluntary sector. We will continue to
monitor quality and safeguarding standards via metrics and agreed outcomes framework.

The care experience of the population will be positive through responsive, caring and
personalised delivery and measured through a variety of feedback tools including patient
and colleague surveys, Friends and Family Test (FFT) and review of patient and service
user concerns, complaints and compliments to identify real time trends and themes for
shared learning.

A collective reporting and shared learning approach will be achieved through existing
governance structures and improvement networks and Communities of Practice, for
example, Patient Safety Specialists; System Mortality Group oversight (including LeDeR
oversight); Infection Prevention and Management Collaborative (with a focus on the
continuous reduction in avoidable healthcare associated infections i.e., Clostridium Difficile
infections and E Coli blood stream infections), vaccination delivery and communicable
disease management); Medicines Optimisation and Safety (including oversight of
antimicrobial stewardship and antimicrobial resistance), Digital transformation / clinical
safety oversight and BSW Local Maternity and Neonatal System.

Patient Safety Incident Response Framework (PSIRF) and Patient Safety Incident
Response Plans (PSIRP)

PSIRF sets out the NHS’s approach to developing and maintaining effective systems and
processes for responding to patient safety incidents for the purpose of learning and
improving patient safety. There are four key principles fundamental to the effective delivery
of PSIRF:

1. Compassionate engagement and involvement of those affected by patient safety
incidents.

2. Application of a range of system-based approaches to learn from patient safety

incidents.

Considered and proportionate responses to patient safety incidents.

Supportive oversight focused on strengthening response system function and

improvement.

> w

The BSW Patient Safety Specialists Community of Practice has worked collaboratively to
support the implementation of the PSIRF and PSIRPs across all commissioned provider
services. Following a recent internal audit of ICB quality assurance processes, monitoring
of provider Patient Safety and Incident Response Plans (PSIRP) will be further strengthened
as part of quality planning and quality control, via formal contractual governance oversight
and BSW system shared learning and improvement group.

Quality Governance

The integral relationship with BSW System Quality Group (SQG) will be essential in
ensuring:

14
Page 56



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,
Swindon and Wiltshire

Integrated Care Board

e Positive system assurance, via quality control and improvement processes, that
statutory duties are being met, concerns and risks are being effectively mitigated,
and improvement plans are having the desired effect

e Confidence in the ongoing quality improvement of best practice pathways, drawing
on timely diagnosis, insight, and learning. This includes confidence that inequalities
and unwarranted variation are being addressed, utilising a person-centred approach
to care delivery and outcome reporting

e A vehicle for wider thematic learning and improvement

e A clear governance structure, as described in BSW Quality and Improvement
Framework, to recognise early warning signs and instigate a rapid quality review
process and monitoring of quality improvement plans where statutory duties and
contractual quality requirements are not being met

e Use of Equality Quality Impact Assessments (EQIA) to evidence the impact of
transformation plans

e Horizon scanning for evidence-based research guidance and innovation, together
with robust processes for timely response to new and emerging national guidance.

Quality Focus:

Maternity and Neonatal Services

Following concerns raised by families who have experienced adverse events in some
maternity services in England, Baroness Amos was appointed to lead a rapid, independent
investigation into maternity and neonatal system issues across England. In Dec 2025, after
having engaged with families, staff, community organisations and MPs, Baroness Amos
published her initial reflections on what she had heard to date and outlined the approach
that will be taken for the investigation and next steps.

BSW maternity and neonatal service providers have not been identified for inclusion in the
planned site visits, however learning from this national review will be incorporated into BSW
current and future service planning and quality monitoring.

The Maternity Outcomes Surveillance System (MOSS) has recently been launched
nationally and locally. This early safety signal system monitors outcomes and processes at
a Trust site level to prompt rapid safety checks and initiate early interventions when unusual
patterns occur within Trusts providing maternity care. Initial measures will be for term
stillbirths and term neonatal deaths.

Additional tools are planned to be launched throughout Quarter 4 (January-March 26) and
beyond, and will be further developed as part of ongoing quality planning, assurance and
improvement monitoring including:

e A regional heat map/dashboard for risk assessment across maternity services. this
will include safety indicators for each maternity provider and identify variations that
signal need for additional review and assurance.

¢ A national inequalities dashboard.

15
Page 57



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

e Daily Maternity Situation (OPEL) reporting to support provider, system, regional and
national identification of need for mutual aid. BSW LMNS is exploring the potential
for the data submitted to be visible through Single Health Resilience Early Warning
(SHREWD) Database for BSW.

e NHS England Maternal Care Bundle. An evidence based practice focusing on 5
elements of care, namely, venous thromboembolism (VTE), neurology, obstetric
haemorrhage, mental health and pre-hospital and acute care.

Infection Prevention Management

The BSW Infection Prevention and Management Collaborative will continue to support and
inform infection prevention standards and practices across the current BSW system, whilst
cluster arrangements are finalised. This will ensure continued surveillance of healthcare
associated infections, provision of clear guidance aligned to evidence based practice
(including AMR and AMS) and provision of monitoring and improvement tools aimed at
continuously reducing the incidence of avoidable infections, which can have a significant
impact on priorities such as Urgent and Emergency Care and Planned Care.

Urgent and Emergency Care (UEC)

Improving safety and experience of care within UEC pathways is central to meeting
planning priorities, therefore quality planning, quality control and quality improvement
oversight for UEC will include use of defined UEC metrics and a requirement to report
against a UEC outcomes framework. Following the publication of Principles for Providing
Patient Care in Corridors (NHSE 11t Dec 2025), providers will continue to review and
report against their organisation’s SOPs to ensure compliance to these principles,
recognising the priority aim of eradicating corridor care completely as soon as possible.

All Age Continuing Care

BSW ICB will continue to focus on improving the quality and efficiency of all-age
continuing care (AACC) services, addressing unwarranted variation while meeting
statutory NHS Continuing Healthcare duties. The ICB will prepare for full transition to
AACC Data Set v2.0 and its digital infrastructure by March 2027, replacing the current
quarterly collection to improve monitoring

16
Page 58



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

5.Vision, Aims and Strategic Objectives

Our Integrated Care Strategy on a page Bath and North East Somerset,
Swindon and Wiltshire

Integrated Care Board

Embedding cutcomes and

Developing a neighbourhood Commissioning a comprehensive
promoting integration in our eveloping gribourhc review of our urgent and

- = L health service o

ches fo commissioning emergency care pathway

Expanding and Ensuring _ . . ey 2 -
consistency of our digital offer Transforming Prirmary Care Comrnissioning for Prevention

The BSW Vision

We listen and werk y together to improve health and wellbeing and red equalities.

Transforming Delivery
of Planned Care
Our
Commissicning
Intentions

What we

will deliver We will deliver this vision by prioritising three clear objectives:

1. Focus on prevention (\9 2. Fairer health and 3. Excellent health @
and early intervention wellbeing outcomes (V) and care services K\ /j
I

The BSW Care Model

Healthier Communities Personalised Care Joined-up Local Teams Local Specidlist Services Specialist Centres

Enablers to help make it happen:

i} $2 L

together

How we will
deliverit

Shifting funding Developing Technology Estates of Environmental Our role as Anchor
to prevention ourworkforce and data the future sustainability Institutions

Our vision: We listen and work effectively together to improve health and wellbeing and
reduce inequalities.

In July 2023, BSW published its first Integrated Care Strategy, setting out the ambitions of
health and care partners to improve services for local people. This was also informed by
the Health and Wellbeing Strategies set by each of our Local Authority Health and
Wellbeing Boards. The Strategy set out a vision for the next five years, uniting partners
behind three clear objectives:

1) Focus on prevention and early intervention
2) Fairer health and wellbeing outcomes
3) Excellent health and care services

Following this, we worked with partners to produce the first Implementation Plan
demonstrating how we work together as a system and at place level to deliver our ICP
Strategy through our Integrate Care Partnership ‘BSW Together'.

Aligning to the NHS 10-Year Health Plan, we are moving to a more ambitious tone and pace,
focusing on the three key shifts:

1)Hospital to Community:

o Shifting care delivery from acute settings to neighbourhood-based services
o Establishing Neighbourhood Health Centres as integrated hubs

1
Page 59 !



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

2) Sickness to Prevention:
o Tackling wider root causes of ill health (e.g., housing, employment, air quality)
o Embedding genomics and predictive analytics in screening and prevention

3) Analogue to Digital:

o The NHS App becoming the central platform for care navigation and self-
management

o Al, robotics, and shared care records driving efficiency and personalisation

Our ICS Strategy from 2023-2028 describes our vision and ambitions for BSW in more
detail.

Our existing plans align to the 10 year plan though a shared emphasis on prevention,
equity, and integrated care and both plans support transformation of outpatient and
diagnostic services, with a common vision for personalised, community-based care. To
meet our aim of becoming more ambitious in tone and pace, we have identified that we
need to reflect the NHS Plan’s urgency and radical tone in our five year plan and
embedded digital transformation, genomics, Al, and employment support to truly respond
to these strategic shifts. The next section sets out our more detailed strategic
commissioning intentions over the next five years.

6.Strategic Commissioning Intentions 2026/27-
2030/31

Our strategic commissioning intentions set out how BSW ICB will commission to deliver
the NHS Ten Year Plan, as we move into a strategic commissioning role working across
our BSW, Dorset, Somerset Cluster.

These intentions build on the work that we have already put in place across BSW to
implement our BSW Care Model. They aim to set out a roadmap for how we will continue
this work, whilst aligning with the Ten Year Plan. However, they are deliberately strategic
in nature, and we will be setting out in more detail over the rest of the planning round how
we will put these into action.

These intentions have been developed in dialogue and discussion with stakeholders over
the recent weeks, and we know that they are widely supported. There is a real
commitment across our system to develop on the national vision of shifting care from
hospitals into our communities and supporting our populations to stay well for as long as
possible. This will help us improve outcomes for our population, which is a commitment we
have already made as part of developing our BSW Outcomes Framework.

In BSW, we are facing a significant financial challenge and we know that resolving that
challenge can only be done through collective action, and by delivering on the three shifts
set out in the Ten Year Plan. This means resetting the way that we are working together
across the system, including focusing our collective efforts on reducing unwarranted

18
Page 60


https://bswtogether.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Integrated-Care-Strategy-v4.pdf

NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

variation and narrowing inequalities in outcomes, so that all communities benefit equally
from the changes we make.

As part of this reset, we will be clear about our expectations of providers and in turn, what
they can expect from the ICB in its role, to support this, we will develop and agree a new
accountability framework for the system so that all parties are clear on the roles and
responsibilities that we are respectively undertaking.

Our commissioning intentions set out the areas we have identified as priorities for further
focussed action to improve outcomes for our population over the next five years. We note
that these are strategic commissioning intentions. They are structured thematically, not by
provider as we are seeking to enable whole pathway change. They also do not cover the
entire range of work that is undertaken by the ICB or partners, this is set out in our BSW
Implementation Plan and the Companion Document.

6.1 Embedding outcomes and promoting integration in our approaches to
commissioning

As part of delivering on our care model we developed a system outcomes framework that
sets out the improvements in health, equity and quality of life that matter most to our
population. This was approved by the BSW ICB Board earlier this year. We want to ensure
that all providers are working in support of delivering improved outcomes.

For 26/27, we will embed our system outcomes framework in our contracts with an explicit
ask of providers to demonstrate how they are contributing to relevant outcomes, delivering
national best practice, acting on patient reported outcomes and reducing inequalities.

Coalescing around our outcomes framework is key to helping us shift from organisational-
led planning and delivery of care, into working in a way that supports delivery of better
outcomes through integrated pathways.

Population health management will underpin this shift. By linking data, evidence and
clinical insight, we will identify the groups and neighborhood’s where outcomes are
poorest, target resources to those with greatest need, and design services that prevent ill
health, reduce inequalities and support people to stay well at home.

This also means having real discussions about value. We will identify where care can be
delivered in a setting that adds greatest value for patients and populations, and where
duplication or low-value services can be reduced. In doing so, we will explicitly prioritise
action in communities experiencing the poorest health and greatest inequity and engage
local communities in shaping these changes.

This will therefore also require a comprehensive review of our services with a clear
ambition to decommission services that are duplicative or not delivering value.

We will engage with local communities as we do this work making sure that we embed
service user voices to co-produce service developments.

Progress to date:

19
Page 61


https://bsw.icb.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/6/2025/03/BSW-Together-Implementation-Plan-2025.pdf
https://bsw.icb.nhs.uk/document/appendix-1-companion-document/

NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

We have made significant progress in this area to date through our portfolios of work
supporting delivery of our overarching implementation plan. This has included:

BSW Outcomes Framework established and being embedded: The Outcomes
Framework and interactive dashboard are in place and being rolled out through the
Intelligence Hub, supporting consistent use of trends, benchmarking, place/PCN
variation and inequalities segmentation, alongside guidance and training to support
adoption.

Outcomes-led governance and deep dives: The Outcomes Framework is being
used to structure Population Health Board deep dives and system performance
conversations, bringing partners together around variation and inequalities and
informing integrated pathway and commissioning work (e.g., dementia, with a focus on
improving diagnosis rates and quality of care).

ICBC contract — outcomes-led integration: Our Integrated Community Based Care
(ICBC) contract was commissioned using an ICBC outcomes framework (developed
ahead of the BSW Outcomes Framework); it aligns closely and is being reviewed to
strengthen alignment further. ICBC provides the delivery platform for integrated models
across primary, community and acute care, with a consistent focus on outcomes and
inequalities; this includes commissioning work underway for transformed LDAN
pathways (reducing out-of-area placements) and embedding CYP early help
requirements through ICBC aligned to neighbourhood health and Family Health Hubs.
Pooled funding (BCF/Section 75) strengthening integration and accountability:
Through pooled funding arrangements we have strengthened integration and outcome
accountability via joint ICB—Local Authority oversight, reporting against BCF metrics,
shared performance dashboards and routine provider assurance/contract review,
strengthening our ability to track impact, value for money and equity of access.
Neighbourhood and place governance aligned to outcomes: Neighbourhood
governance and assurance is in place through Health and Wellbeing Boards,
Integrated Care Alliances and the BSW Neighbourhood Health Working Group,
bringing system partners together to support integrated delivery. The Outcomes
Framework is embedded in Neighbourhood Health Plans to provide baseline outcomes
and place-based inequalities insight to drive action on prevention, inclusion and
equitable access.

Ageing Well / frailty integration: The BSW Ageing Well Strategy is in place and
implementation is underway to deliver more integrated frailty pathways across acute
and community settings, informed by a completed Frail t-ED (GIRFT) review (including
recommendations for RUH and GWH) and work to scope direct access to acute frailty
teams and reduce variation and duplication across providers.

Consistent discharge standards across partners: Work is underway to develop a
system wide “Leaving Hospital” framework so providers operate to the same standards
and processes, including a clear approach to patient choice and consideration of legal
requirements for people with restricted options.

20
Page 62



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,
Swindon and Wiltshire

Integrated Care Board
e System-wide alignment to outcomes (primary care): Primary care priorities and
metrics for 2025/26 have been explicitly mapped to Outcomes Framework indicators,
strengthening shared focus on outcomes, prevention and inequalities.

Key Workstreams
Over the next five years we will deliver these intentions through the following workstreams:

e Outcomes-based commissioning and contracting: embed the BSW Outcomes
Framework into an increasing number of contracts, including commissioning routes in
primary care (GP, community pharmacy, optometry and dental), supported by a
cluster-wide review of local enhanced/commissioned services (building on the recent
BSW LCS review). The ICB recognises the need to identify and agree the
proportionate approach to measuring and reporting outcomes for the VSCE sector
in undertaking this ambition.

e Align contract frameworks to transformation priorities: continue to develop and
refine the ICBC outcomes framework, strengthening its alignment to the BSW
Outcomes Framework and ensuring it is mapped to, and used to track, transformation
priorities.

¢ Neighbourhood intelligence to inform joint commissioning: use Neighbourhood
Health data and impact assessment processes (lIA) to inform joint commissioning,
capacity planning and prioritisation at place and neighbourhood level.

e Partner and community insight built into decisions: strengthen decision cycles by
routinely incorporating provider and VCSE feedback, alongside performance and
outcomes data.

¢ Build the outcomes evidence base (PROMs and placeholder metrics): strengthen
contractual requirements for providers to collect, submit and use outcomes data,
particularly patient-reported outcomes and other agreed measures, to address current
gaps in the Outcomes Framework. This includes developing and implementing data
collection for placeholder measures where data is not yet available (e.g., quality of care
in dementia), alongside national best practice and inequalities reporting.

e Use outcomes to drive collaboration: use the Outcomes Framework as a practical
mechanism to align providers around shared priorities and support collaboration in
delivering the BSW care model.

¢ Place-based PHM to guide investment and disinvestment: strengthen population
health intelligence and segmentation at place level to target high-need cohorts and
geographies and to inform investment and disinvestment decisions within pooled
budgets.

e Value reviews and reducing duplication: systematically review services for value
and impact and decommission or redesign where services are duplicative or not
delivering best value, reinvesting where this will improve outcomes and equity.

What it means for the Three shifts

Sickness to Prevention:

21
Page 63



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

e Commissioning decisions anchored in outcomes and prevention impact: use the
BSW Outcomes Framework and place-based PHM segmentation to prioritise
preventive investment, target high-need cohorts and geographies, and track
disproportionate improvement for groups experiencing the poorest outcomes.

e Evidence-led reinvestment: strengthen value reviews and
disinvestment/reinvestment decisions so funding shifts towards interventions with the
greatest prevention and inequalities impact.

Hospital to Community

e Contracting and pooled budget levers to support “care closer to home”: embed
outcomes and integration expectations across an increasing number of contracts and
pooled arrangements (including ICBC and BCF/Section 75), aligning providers around
shared outcomes and integrated pathways.

e Single set of place expectations: use outcomes-based alignment across place
governance (ICAs / neighbourhood plans) so partners work to a consistent set of
priorities and measures, reducing duplication and unwarranted variation.

Analogue to Digital

« Outcomes data as a core requirement: strengthen contractual expectations for
outcomes measurement (including PROMs) and require development/collection of data
for Outcomes Framework “placeholders” where gaps exist (e.g., quality of dementia
care), improving the evidence base for commissioning.

Place analytics for decision-making: build consistent place-level analytics capability to
support targeting, monitoring and evaluation, alongside inclusive access approaches to
avoid digital exclusion (with delivery actions set out in the Digital commissioning intention).

6.2 Developing a Neighbourhood Health Service

Neighbourhood Health is the organising approach through which BSW will plan, align and
commission services at the scale that best reflects how people live their lives and
experience care. It is not a single programme or prescribed model. Instead, it provides a
shared commissioning and partnership framework that brings together the NHS, Local
Authorities, the VCSE sector and communities around agreed priorities, outcomes and
population groups at neighbourhood level. This approach supports a shift from reactive
and fragmented care towards earlier intervention, prevention and more coordinated
support, particularly for people with complex or long-term needs. Engagement with local
people and communities is integral to shaping priorities and services.

Neighbourhood Health Plans are the primary mechanism for delivery. They align partners,
commissioning intent and outcomes within defined neighbourhoods, providing a shared
understanding of population need, inequalities and priorities. These plans are outcomes-
focused, informed by population health insight, and enable more targeted and locally
responsive commissioning while remaining aligned to system-wide priorities and the BSW
Outcomes Framework.

22
Page 64



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

Delivery of Neighbourhood Health in BSW is underpinned by the Integrated Community-
Based Care (ICBC) contract. From April 2025, the ICBC contract establishes a community-
based partnership to support more joined-up, preventative and personalised care across
the life course. Over time, this will enable more care to be delivered in or near people’s
homes and neighbourhoods, supported by integrated working across community services,
local authorities, primary care and the VCSE sector.

As part of this transformation, a stepped care model is being developed with partners. This
includes a digital front door and single point of access for patients and professionals, with
access to same-day urgent support seven days a week. Integrated Neighbourhood Teams
form a core component of the model, bringing together community health professionals,
GP and practice colleagues, local authority practitioners and VCSE partners. These teams
will initially focus on priority cohorts at highest risk of hospital admission, while developing
preventative approaches as the model matures. The digital front door, single point of
access and Integrated Neighbourhood Teams are expected to go live from April 2026 and
develop progressively over the following one to three years. Over time, access to
outpatient services and diagnostics closer to home will also expand, supported by digital
tools such as the NHS App.

Alongside the ICBC contract, BSW will develop new single-neighbourhood and multi-
neighbourhood contracting arrangements with general practice over time. These
arrangements are intended to support neighbourhood delivery and a more unified
approach across partners, while existing GP contracts remain in place during transition.
Further detail on these arrangements is set out elsewhere in this plan.

From a commissioning perspective, Neighbourhood Health strengthens Place as the level
at which joint commissioning, governance and alignment are most effectively brought
together. This includes the use of pooled budgets and joint arrangements, such as the
Better Care Fund and Section 75 agreements, to support integrated delivery across
organisational boundaries. Over time, further ICB budgets may be delegated at place level
to support more targeted local investment.

Neighbourhood Health also provides the framework through which wider system reform is
integrated locally, including national prevention and early intervention priorities and
reforms across primary care, community services, urgent and planned care. The approach
is intentionally flexible, recognising variation in population, geography and maturity across
BSW, while operating within a shared strategic framework. Neighbourhood arrangements
will continue to evolve over the five-year period, supported by outcomes-based assurance
and system governance.

For local people and communities, Neighbourhood Health is intended to improve access,
experience and outcomes through more joined-up, proactive and preventative support
shaped around neighbourhood need. For the workforce, it provides clearer shared
purpose, stronger collaboration and more sustainable ways of working across
organisational boundaries.

In line with the NHS Ten Year Plan, BSW’s ambition is to deliver care as locally as
possible: digital by default where appropriate, delivered at home or in neighbourhood
settings wherever feasible, and in hospital settings only where necessary.

Progress to date:

e Inyear 1 of the ICBC contract, the foundations for integrated neighbourhood teams,

23
Page 65



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

the digital front door and single point of access have been put in place. Partnership
development with the VCSE sector is underway and key care pathways are being
reviewed, and services harmonised to ensure equal access across BSW. New
workforce models and roles are being developed to support neighbourhood health
including navigator roles that will support people to access the right services for
their needs. INTs will be live across BSW by April 2026.

The development of a 10-year Integrated Estate Plan for Community Based
Services is underway, supporting the longer-term shift towards neighbourhood
delivery models and care closer to home, with further investment in neighbourhood
hubs planned from 26/27.

Ongoing monitoring of investment in VCSE-delivered services, with an ambition to
increase the proportion of spend to 5% by start of 2027/28 where this supports
neighbourhood priorities, prevention and inequalities reduction.

VCSE partners deliver approximately £5.6m of services through the Better Care
Fund across the three localities, contributing to prevention, reablement, wellbeing
and inequalities reduction.

Collaborative working with Local Authorities and provider partners across BSW to
ensure new social care and education reforms align with health reform to reduce
duplication and maximise efficiencies, supporting system coherence.

Development of a Population Health Improvement Plan aligned to national
Neighbourhood Health requirements, triangulating finance, workforce and quality
considerations to support deliverability and phasing.

Early development of Integrated Neighbourhood Teams, supported by a developing
neighbourhood outcomes approach that includes population-level indicators such
as urgent care utilisation and emergency bed days for the most complex population
cohorts.

Progress on priority population cohorts and prevention-focused pathways, including
Hypertension - General Practice pathway transformation to receive more
hypertension case finding, Community Blood Pressure Checks and Outreach
Health Checks, Health Coaching and Community Empowerment

Development of an integrated weight management model that supports adoption
and implementation of new drug-based treatments as well as non-medical support
(healthy eating programmes, exercise management, psychological support)
Monitoring and implementation of a programme for systematic development of
integrated, risk stratified, MECC enabled pathways across Community, Primary and
Acute services, aligning with GIRFT

Delivery of the system wide clinical frailty strategy

Strengthening of community vaccination infrastructure to support access,
prevention and population coverage.

Key Workstreams

Over the next five years we will deliver these intentions through the following workstreams:

Neighbourhood Health services will continue to be developed through the following
strategic workstreams, recognising local variation in pace and maturity:

Develop locality-based Neighbourhood Health Plans that define shared priorities
and outcomes and commissioning intent for each population working jointly with
general practice, planned and proactive care. Population segmentation and

24
Page 66



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

population health management insight will inform these plans. ICAs will work with
Health and Wellbeing Boards to develop plans and initiatives that tackle the wider
determinants of health and create connections between community assets and
health outcomes.

e Embed Integrated Neighbourhood Teams as the visible organising structure for
neighbourhood delivery, with local flexibility in form and phasing. This includes early
consideration of children and young people, prevention and wider determinants of
health from the outset and aligning with wider system reform programmes including
the Families First Partnership Programme. This includes consideration of children
and adults with learning disabilities and autistic people as priority cohorts within
neighbourhood planning and delivery. This will be supported by continued
engagement with service users, the VCSE sector and targeted population cohorts.

e Building on the ICBC contract as the delivery vehicle for Integrated Neighbourhood
Teams (INTs), supported by the wider community stepped care model, and working
in collaboration with wider partners including PCNs, local authorities and the VCSE,
to embed the six initial core components of the Neighbourhood Health Service.

e Strengthen joint commissioning and shared accountability across ICB and Local
Authorities through the Better Care Fund and other pooled budget arrangements,
ensuring alignment with neighbourhood priorities.

e Collaborative development of Neighbourhood-level outcome measures and
evaluation methods with providers, including acute, VCSE and local authority
partners aligned to the BSW Outcomes Framework, the ICBC outcomes framework
and focused on learning and improvement.

e Using the opportunity and capacity that wider primary care offers (including
community pharmacy, optometry, dentistry) to improve access, support urgent care,
deliver prevention and reduce health inequalities in local neighbourhoods.

e Supporting stronger relationships between providers and local populations to build
trust and encourage active participation in health decisions.

e Work with primary, secondary care and wider partners to deliver a transformation in
outpatient referral, diagnostic and treatment pathways which will lead to a year-on-
year increase in outpatient activity in community and neighbourhood settings
beginning with priority pathways and helping people to access care closer to home.

What it means for 3 shifts

Sickness to Prevention

Neighbourhood Health supports a stronger focus on prevention and early intervention,
aligned to national public health priorities and delivered through our neighbourhood teams
and community stepped care model. This includes continued expansion of vaccination,
screening and proactive case finding, informed by population need and neighbourhood
insight. Over time, neighbourhood teams will increasingly use genomic approaches to
help identify patients at risk of developing long term conditions.

Hospital to Community

Neighbourhood Health provides a clear direction of travel towards more care being
delivered in community and neighbourhood settings, where this improves outcomes and
experience. The stepped care model will support people with easy access to advice and
support through the digital front door and single point of access, which will also co-ordinate
strengthened urgent and planned care services, enabling more people to be treated in

25
Page 67



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

their own homes and where they live. People who need more specialist support will
receive this in the community unless it is required in an acute setting. Integrated
neighbourhood teams (our teams of teams) will bring together partners to share
information, expertise, advice and provide coordinated and joined up care, supporting
more people to remain at home. This will be supported by joint commissioning approaches
and appropriate use of community and neighbourhood infrastructure, recognising that
models and pace of change will vary locally. On a phased basis, the number of integrated
care centres / neighbourhood hubs will be expanded across BSW, allowing patients to
access several services as part of a “one stop shop” offer and professionals to share
accommodation, increasing communication and multi-disciplinary working.

Analogue to Digital

Neighbourhood Health will be supported by progressive improvement in digital access and
information sharing across settings, enabling more joined-up care, improved population
insight and better engagement with local communities, in line with wider system digital
strategy. Through the ICBC contract, a digital front door for patients will be live from April
2026 enabling them to have easy access to information, make referrals and request
support. The digital front door will support a single point of access for both patients and
professionals and will be fully integrated with the NHS app which will be the future route for
patients to manage their care digitally. As part of our community and neighbourhood
transformation, use of the integrated care record will increase 10% year on year, and
remote monitoring will expand by 25% each year to support people with long term
conditions and those cared for at home will be expanded. Professionals will also have
access to all diagnostic tests for their patients.

6.3 Commissioning a Comprehensive Review of our Urgent and Emergency Care
Pathway

We know from a wealth of evidence, including our case for change, an ICB led review into
demand, and our recent engagement activities that we need to ensure we have a
sustainable urgent and emergency care (UEC) pathways that meets the needs of our
current and future population. We have already made significant investments in some
areas of our UEC pathway, including the development of Urgent Treatment Centres
(UTC’s) and Same Day Emergency Care (SDEC) services in our acute hospitals. We have
also commissioned BSW Community Health as part of our Integrated Community Based
Contract (ICBC) contract to review the provision of some of our UEC services e.g. Minor
Injury Units (MIUs) and virtual wards (Hospital at Home).

It is our intention to work with all partners to undertake a collective review of urgent and
emergency care demand and capacity the whole pathway, with the aim of ensuring that we
have a plan to deliver a pathway of care that is fit for purpose for our future population and
the envisaged demand. This will need to include services that we jointly commission with
other ICBs as well.

We will undertake this over the rest of this year, with the aim of identifying any gaps in our
existing commissioning and including them in our detailed commissioning intentions for
next year.

26
Page 68



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

Progress to date:

Same Day Emergency Care (SDECs) -— Undertake a comprehensive review of
existing SDEC pathways, along with peer-to-peer learning and implementation of
profiles on the Directory of Services Commissioning a comprehensive review of our
UEC Pathway

Frailty Strategy / Pathways / Frail t-ED (GIRFT) - Embedding outcomes and
promoting integration in our approaches to commissioning, developing a
systemwide Frailty Strategy that all partners are signed up to

Co-located Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC) at SFT — In line with national
recommendations, the capital works are underway

Hospital at Home maximisation - Embedding outcomes and promoting system
integration in our approaches to commissioning to provide equity of services

Hear and Treat and See and Treat - Commissioning a comprehensive review of our
UEC Pathway. BSW have good Hear & Treat rates compared to other systems,
work in place to maintain this and further work to increase See & Treat rates
Mental Health vehicles & service desk now in place with MH vehicles live from
October 25

Pharmacy First expansion with Pharmacy First referrals live from RUH and planned
go live for GWH in Q3

Enhanced ED Validation via Healthhero Pilot undertaken Jan — Mar 25 which
showed positive outcome. Healthhero commissioned from 24th October until end
March 26 to run this service

Maximisation of Care Coordination Centre which is led through Community Delivery
Group and sub-contracted by HCRG to Healthhero

Over the next five years we will deliver these intentions through the following workstreams:

Key Workstreams

Identify any gaps in our current commissioning by undertaking an end to end
pathway review, and including them in our detailed commissioning intentions for
next year.

Systemwide engagement to develop pathways providing equity of service for
patients across BSW. Strengthen community offers and dedicated specialist
support to reduce preventable crisis attendances and admissions, learning from
commissioning of inpatient, outreach and enhanced community offer in 25/26.
Commission Hospital @ Home for other pathways, for example paediatrics.

Review of Urgent Treatment Centres, to support the shift from MIUs to UTCs, as
well as implement co-located UTC at SFT and review of UTC at RUH with
opportunity to relocate.

Develop a fully joined up strategy and pathway for frailty patients.

Strengthen the Place commissioning role in flow and discharge through the Better
Care Fund and Section 75 agreements and use pooled funding to integrate
intermediate-care capacity across NHS and social-care partners.

Increase use of services in Community Pharmacy, Optometry and Dentistry, to
support patient access and reduce pressures on general practice and UEC settings.
Use our commissioning levers to end the use of inappropriate out of area
placements for mental health so people remain connected to their support networks
and local teams.

27
Page 69



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

e Further the implementation of our mental health strategy, including commissioning
mental health community rehabilitation, and crisis alternatives reserving inpatient
beds for the most complex needs.

What it means for 3 shifts

Sickness to Prevention

. Signposting for patients and public to encourage self- care and prevention
Hospital to Community

¢ Increase the use of services in the Community Pharmacy, Optometry and Dentistry
to reduce pressure on hospitals
e Commissioning Hospital @ Home for pathways like paediatrics

Analogue to Digital

e Use digital technologies to enable a more streamlined pathway for patients and
utilise tools such as remote monitoring.

6.4 Transforming Delivery of Planned care

The NHS Elective Reform Plan set out a clear requirement for transformation for planned
care services. This is key to ensuring we are delivering the Referral to Treatment 18 week
target by March 2029, but also as part of our wider commitment to invest more in
prevention and keep people well outside of hospital.

A key focus will be to ensure a partnership between primary, community and secondary
care so that most people are managed in neighbourhoods, avoiding unnecessary
attendances and keeping hospital capacity focused on complex care. We will explore
options for radical change in service delivery or recommissioning with a specific focus on
ENT, gastroenterology, respiratory, urology and cardiology as priority services set out in
the elective reform guidance. We will also consider fragile services in BSW such as
dermatology. We will do this in collaboration with BSW Hospitals Group to confirm these
are the right services to look at first, as we also explore options for contracting models.

Across all of our planned care services, we will need to make the most of the available
digital technologies to enable a more streamlined pathway for patients, and to move away
from a traditional referral approach to a joint approach between primary and secondary
care. We will seek to put these arrangements in place in line with the national direction of
travel, working with primary and secondary care colleagues to agree this. The ICB has a
plural market of acute, independent sector, and community/primary care based
alternatives to hospital care.

The ICB will work with all providers to ensure common application of clinical standards and
practices, enabling choice whilst also reducing referral rates where clinically appropriate.
We will embed these requirements as part of our contracts and be clear on our
expectations with regards to a reduction in long waits, removal of variation in performance
and better management of system demand.

We have also heard from our engagement work that we need to review our diagnostic
provision and make sure that our strategy works towards making our facilities as
accessible as possible to the public.

28
Page 70



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

Progress to date

We have opened up three new diagnostic centres (in Bath, Swindon and Salisbury)
providing services such as such as X-rays, MRl and CT scans, blood tests,
ultrasounds and endoscopies, in the community.

Reduced waiting times so that no-one in BSW will wait longer than 65 weeks by
March 2025

Increased activity across the footprint using the independent sector

Improved access to diagnostics, delivering planned reductions in diagnostic waiting
times

Commissioned and developed new capacity at Sulis Hospital

Commenced work on pathway transformation in core areas

Implemented a Community Pharmacy Blood Pressure Check Service, including
supporting VCSE with outreach clinics

Developed a New Medicines Service

Integrated dashboard for elective for BSW

Discharge Medicines Service

Over the next five years we will deliver these intentions through the following workstreams:

Key Workstreams

Commission services that enable a radical change in service delivery or
recommissioning for ENT, Respiratory, Cardiology, Urology, Dermatology and
Gastroenterology. This will require a whole system focus, creating end-to-end
pathways that make best use of primary care, community and secondary care
expertise at the right point in the care pathway.

Ensure that delivery models support earlier access to elective intervention and
address the disproportionate impact of long waiting times on Children and Young
People.

A shift away from a traditional referral approach to a joint approach between
primary and secondary care and we will implementing nationally mandated changes
to Advice and Guidance to create a ‘discuss with’ rather than ‘refer to’ model.
Embed clinical standards and practice in our contracts e.g. GIRFT so that we
ensure patients are able to access the right service for their needs, and we reduce
the number of procedures of limited clinical value at all providers. .

Straight to test pathways for clinically appropriate patients, with the 10 largest
specialties by volume (all specialties by 2029).

Right sizing our diagnostic provision to ensure we make best use of all available
capacity (including CDCs) and to enable delivery of redesigned care pathways and
using future capital to invest in more diagnostic capacity to support our
neighbourhood health ambitions.

Commission new or improved pathways that support faster diagnosis of cancer —
including addressing current inequalities in uptake of screening across our
population and making best use of new Al and digital tools.

Begin scoping for genomic screening integration and workforce training
Transformation to an all-age needs-based Neurodiversity pathway through our
ICBC Programme, VCSFE waiting well support and National ADHD Service
Development Programme.

29
Page 71



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

e Transformation of CYP community pathways including sleep and neuro-disabilities
through our ICBC programme.

« Commission new or improved pathways that support faster diagnosis of cancer —
including addressing current inequalities in uptake of screening across our
population.

What it means for 3 shifts
Sickness to Prevention

We will deliver the Referral to Treatment 18-week Referral to Treatment (RTT)target by
March 2029 through maximising capacity within all our commissioned services and
investing in preventative services to keep more people well outside of hospital. This will
include developing new care pathways that provide earlier access to specialist provision in
our communities, linked with our neighbourhood health ambitions.

Through straight to test pathways and increased use of community diagnostics, enabling
earlier diagnosis to prevent deterioration, and enabling more people to be managed in
community settings.

The delegation of screening commissioning to ICBs affords the opportunity to consider
how and where our screening offers are provided. We will work with partners across our
system to ensure that service provision continues to reflect population health needs and
we maintain strong levels of uptake in core screening programmes. We will ensure that
commissioned activity provides sufficient capacity for us to act rapidly where people
require further intervention, with the intention to increase the number of people treated with
lower grade cancers.

Hospital to Community

Through integrated care pathways, we will maximise the expertise that exists in primary,
community and secondary care so that a greater proportion of the care pathway is
delivered in a community setting. This will avoid the need for people to travel to hospital
settings and ensuring that specialist capacity is focused on the most complex care. We will
align delivery with our neighbourhood health and needs, with tailored offers that reflect
population health needs.

We will continue to commission capacity from a range of providers, maintaining our
commitment to supported patient choice in BSW. We will require all partners to work within
our integrated care pathways so that people can be confident that they will receive the
same level of service wherever they choose to receive treatment

Analogue to Digital

In line with national guidance, we will use digital technologies to enable a more
streamlined pathway for patients and move away from a traditional referral approach to a
‘discuss with rather than refer to’ model. We expect that this will provide operational
efficiencies, ensuring that face-to-face capacity is used for those people with more
clinically complex needs. This new model will be deployed across all providers.

30
Page 72



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

We will ensure that signposting to enable active waiting for patients is delivered through
the NHS App, so that more people have easy access to information about how they can
self-manage whilst they wait for interventions — improving outcomes and engagement.

We will work with the BSW Hospitals Group to ensure that opportunities to improve
productivity through application of Al are maximised.

6.5 Optimising use of the BSW pound

In order to support delivery of the above commissioning intentions, we need to move to a
new financial framework across the system that prioritises investment in the left shift of
care and prevention of ill health. As set out earlier in this document, returning the system
to financial balance is a key part of our plan to ensure that we can continue to provide
efficient and effective services.

The majority of our Provider contracts are mostly either fixed or item of service based. We
will need to move to contracts that better support the type of change we are seeking to
achieve in the areas described above, this could include alternative payment models that
can be aligned to different outcomes, support transformation and incentivising whole
pathway improvements or lead provider models (where appropriate) to incentivise
collaboration with clear requirements to sub-contract with other providers, including VCSE.

We intend to align deficit support/transitional support funding paid to intra-NHS providers
to service transformation and whole pathway improvement. Achieving this change is
critical to returning to financial balance and allowing us to spend deficit support in ways
that deliver more value for our population.

Progress to date:

e As part of the 26/27 plan, we have ringfenced 0.6% (c.£12m) for investment in
transformation and key enabler schemes. The schemes will be agreed through the
Investment Committee framework process.

e |n addition, a further £5m has been set aside to support mitigations of ambulance
demand. The schemes are being developed using the same protocols.

e As per the medium term plan the system will be breakeven in year two.

e Schemes are in place for prevention and health inequalities funding.

Over the next five years we will deliver these intentions through the following workstreams:

Key Workstreams

e We will drive equity and optimise the use of the BSW pound.

e The system must be financially sustainable by the end of year 2 with the ambition to
eliminate the underlying deficit as deficit support funding and transitional support
funding is removed.

e Our ambition is to generate an annual transformation fund of 3% for reinvestment in
initiatives that support local commissioning priorities each year over the life of the
plan. This will start at 0.6% and grow by 0.6% each year. (generating the required
3% non-recurrent surplus by year 5).

31
Page 73



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

e We will make greater investment upstream in demand management schemes and
agree a roadmap to move acute based services to more appropriate settings.

e We will commission for outcomes and value and will support a change in how
resources are deployed with the rate of expenditure growth increasing into services
outside hospitals, drugs and digital to manage the levels and impact of demand on
acute. (£E10m from year 1). By year 5, we will aim to increase our contracts linked
directly to outcomes from 5% to 25%.

e Collaboration will be incentivised with clear requirements to sub-contract with other
providers, including the VCSE sector.

e Improved targeting of allocations based on the data from population health
management to remove variation in provision and outcomes and align funding with
need.

e Devise and set clear ROI criteria and critical success factors for all service
expenditure including robust business cases to inform service changes.

¢ Identify two pathways or conditions areas where we can test new payment
approaches.

e Support increase in High-Value prescribing equitably across the system

What it means for 3 shifts

Sickness to Prevention
e Drive transformation, integration and the shift from sickness to prevention.
e Improved targeting of allocations based on the data from population health

management to remove variation in provision and outcomes and align funding with
need.

Hospital to Community
e Shift more care to the community using the new ICBC contract
e Development of the annual transformation fund to reinvestment in initiatives that
support local commissioning priorities

Analogue to Digital
e Support change in how resources are deployed with the rate of expenditure growth
increasing into services outside of hospitals, including digital to manage impact on
hospitals

6.6 Expanding and Ensuring Consistency of our Digital Offer

The ICB published a 5 year Digital Strategy in March 2023 that is now being refreshed in
light of the ten year plan publication and the shift from analogue to digital.

We will commission in a way that ensures digital is the default for access, information and
follow-up, supported by inclusive alternatives to avoid digital exclusion. This includes
expanding the use of the NHS App as a single digital front door, ensuring shared care
records are accessible across providers, and embedding approaches such as patient-
initiated follow-up and remote monitoring where clinically safe.

32
Page 74



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

This means that we need to commission services that are aligned an integrated digital
footprint, with a clear expectation that all providers will use the suite of national tools that
are available such as the Federated Data Platform:

Commissioning for responsible innovation, enabling providers to exploit new
technologies, such as those that use Al, to deliver more efficient and safer
pathways of care. Tools will be deployed in line with national guidance such as the
Digital Technology Assessment Criteria, (DTAC) and be evaluated to evidence
benefits

Commission clear requirements for providers regarding digital exclusion and NHS
app integration, e.g. outreach work into disadvantage communities, improved
engagement with “Get Connected” groups, development of ICS digital inclusion
roadmap.

Commission the integration of the NHS App and a single digital front door, to
ensure providers have contractual obligations to integrate with the NHS App once
onboarding for the sector is available nationally.

Progress to date

The Electronic Patient Record (EPR) programme is now in the implementation
phase. This will bring our three acutes onto a single digital system creating
consistency and supporting our increasing collaboration.

We have increased the number of partners using our shared care record and
increased its use, meaning that health staff have access to a single set of records
for patients.

We have increased the usage of the NHS App.

We have increased cloud based telephony within GP practices which reduces
patient waiting times and increases satisfaction.

We have continued to ensure strong cyber security is in place with increased
system wide working including the creation of a system wide Cyber Tactical Advice
Cell (CTAC) and ICS wide cyber exercises.

Key Workstreams

Extension of the deployment of the Integrated Care Record; new partners, use
cases, data, infrastructure, and user interface.

Implementation of Acute EPR programme in preparation for go live in 2027/28.
Expansion of Al policies, guidance, training and governance within organisations to
support Al adoption as part of overall digital roadmaps. Implementation of specific
Al-enabled pilots in areas such as Ambient Voice Technology, administrative
workflows, Referral triage and decision support, and others.

Convergence onto single key cyber tooling across BSW Hospitals Group, SIEM to
sentinel clustering once available nationally, improvement in organisations’ ICS
cyber score.

Working with partners and the public to increase uptake and usage of NHS App.
Expansion of national and local product incubation of the Federated Data Platform.
Products include Cancer360, PLICS, Shared PTL and ICS PHM.

Consolidation of infrastructure across Hospitals Group and across ICB cluster.

33
Page 75



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

« Transition away from bleeps for Hospitals Group (subject to business case
approval), streamlining of community based acute services connectivity provision,
single service management tool across Hospitals Group

« Development of a plan to improve digital literacy offer across the Hospitals Group

« Baselining exercise to understand capability and identify gaps in DDAT Digital Skills

e Support providers to design pathways that allow patients to take greater control of
their own health management through using wearables, remote monitoring and
virtual support.

What it means for the 3 shifts:

Sickness to Prevention:
e Promoting early intervention to address issues before they escalate, improving
long-term outcomes.

Hospital to Community
e Making health services more efficient, safer and provide a better patient experience
so that patients can access support through the use of technology in their
communities

Analogue to Digital

« Digital Transformation and GPIT
o Prioritised digital inclusion through targeted outreach and training

6.7 Transforming Primary Care

Primary Care including general practice, community pharmacy, primary care dentistry, and
optometry is central to the delivery of the NHS Ten Year Plan and
the transformation ambitions of the new NHS operating model.

In BSW, Primary Care providers deliver the vast majority of patient contacts and are
critical to enabling the shift from hospital to community, supporting prevention, and
improving population health outcomes. Primary Care are key to delivering

the neighbourhood health service vision, reducing unwarranted variation, and improving
access and equity across all contractor groups. Our goal is therefore to enhance efficiency
and integration across out of hospital care.

We recognise that each Primary Care sector operates under nationally negotiated
contracts and frameworks, which provide consistency and clarity across England.
However, in BSW we are committed to ensuring that these national arrangements do not
constrain local innovation, improvement, or integration. This includes building on the ICBC
contract and expanding Integrated Neighbourhood Teams (INTs) to deliver joined-up care
across general practice, pharmacy, dental, and optometry, alongside community and
mental health services.

Progress to date:

34
Page 76



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,
Swindon and Wiltshire

Integrated Care Board

e Delivering modern general practice and targeted support to identified practices,
focusing on high-impact patient contacts and efficient care models.

e Reviewing the commissioning for frailty (including Transforming Care in Older
People in Wiltshire) to align with BSW Frailty Programme including Care Home
support through INTs and Primary Care Networks and domiciliary dental care.

e Strengthening partnerships between primary care, community services, and urgent
care providers to improve patient flow and reduce demand on GP appointments.

e Developing and implementing a primary care workforce strategy for all primary care
contractor groups.

e Contributing to implementing a system-wide, collaborative approach to the
secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease by increasing case finding and
optimising hypertension management.

e Creating additional capacity for urgent dental care across the system

e Community services dental review

e Ensuring all GP practices are transitioned onto a compliant online consultation
product

e Maximising community pharmacy services (inc. BP monitoring and contraception)
and the use of prescribing qualifications to move services closer to home by
expanding the roll out of Pharmacy First.

Key Workstreams

e Develop our approach to Integrated Neighbourhood Teams (covered earlier in this
document) and ensure that primary care services are at the heart of
emerging neighbourhood working.

« This will include making sure that we are working together to put in place strategies
for optimising the management of long-term conditions, improving frailty care and
ensuring continuity of care.

e As part of this, we will engage with Primary Care on embedding Population Health
Management as set out in the Neighbourhood Health Framework.

e All primary care providers will be engaged in development and maturation of
Neighbourhood health models based on the needs of the population.

o We will utilise population segmentation to support signposting to the most
appropriate location, developing multidisciplinary teams in at-scale urgent care
hubs.

e This will allow GP practices to focus on the more complex patients and the low
complexity to be managed by other health and social care professionals.

« We will develop Primary Care specific Patient Reported Outcome Measures
(PROMS) and Patient Reported Experience Measures (PREMS) to ensure a patient
focus for outcomes regarding any interventions. This will identify any barriers to
access as well as improve responsiveness to demand, leading to better health
outcomes.

« We will commission approaches that enable patients to access care through
multiple channels including telephone, online, NHS App, and walk-in supported by
structured information and clear signposting. PCNs will be expected to lead
improvement in access by optimising capacity, deploying multi-professional teams,
and using digital tools effectively and appropriately. For example, online access for
non-urgent queries, digital long term condition management to upload measures
such as blood pressure and glucose readings.

35
Page 77



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

e We will also strengthen the role of community pharmacy and optometry in urgent
care navigation, ensuring patients can access timely advice and treatment closer to
home. National requirements such as GP Connect functionality will be embedded,
alongside initiatives like Pharmacy First, to reduce pressure on general practice and
improve patient experience.

o We will commission urgent dental care services to continue to reduce the demand
on other services, increasing activity in line with national targets.

o We will work jointly to support primary care to improve recruitment,
training, retention and job satisfaction cross all primary care workforce.

What it means for the 3 shifts:
Sickness to Prevention:
e Promoting early intervention to address issues before they escalate, improving
long-term outcomes.
e Utilising population segmentation to identify patients before they experience
negative health outcomes to stay well and stay at home

Hospital to Community
e Using patient experience to improve accessibility of the most appropriate service
closer to the patients home e.g. Pharmacy First and online access
e Align ICA priorities with emerging neighbourhood health plans

Analogue to Digital

o Development of digital services being used by providers e.g. Al transcription, triage
and data processing, as well as use by patients, e.g. uploading health data digitally
« Prioritised digital inclusion through targeted outreach and training

6.8 Commissioning for Prevention

Prioritising the focus on prevention is essential for delivering high-value care, improving
population health, reducing future demand on services, and tackling health

inequalities. Early identification and intervention help people live longer, healthier lives
while ensuring resources are used where they have the greatest impact.

Shifting from sickness to prevention, central to the NHS Ten-Year Plan and our BSW Care
Model, requires funding for value, not activity: moving resources from treatment to earlier,

higher-impact prevention interventions that improve outcomes, cut inequalities and reduce
avoidable demand.

We will commission end-to-end pathways for prevention utilising Population Health
Management (PHM) methods. We will align commissioning with local authorities to
coordinate coherent prevention pathways, ensuring continuity from early identification
through to treatment and maintenance. Building on tobacco dependence and
cardiovascular risk, we will selectively invest in high impact, major modifiable risk factors
(tobacco, alcohol, obesity, cardiometabolic risk). Neighbourhoods will be a focal point,
uniting partners around shared outcomes.

Progress to date:

36
Page 78



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

Treating Tobacco Dependence (TTD): A system-wide commissioning model has
been agreed to stabilise and scale TTD as a priority prevention and inequalities
intervention from April 2026 (2026/27), including recurrent funding and a preferred Host
Trust approach to standardise pathways, reporting and delivery across acute, maternity
and mental health settings, with mobilisation underway.

Hypertension early detection and optimisation: We have developed a whole-
system approach to improve early detection and optimise hypertension management,
building delivery across general practice, community pharmacy and VCSE outreach
with an explicit focus on reach into Core20PLUS communities and evaluation of
impact.

Weight management pathway development: Work has progressed to develop an
integrated weight management approach that brings together behavioural support and
pathway redesign (and, where appropriate, the introduction of new treatment options)
to improve access, reduce waiting times and support healthier weight outcomes, with
an explicit focus on equity of access.

Alcohol-related admissions deep dive (in progress): The Population Health Board
has initiated an outcomes-led deep dive into alcohol-specific admissions, with the first
session completed and a second session planned to agree a focused set of partner-
owned recommendations. Early findings highlight the importance of using peer
benchmarking (not just England/SW averages), understanding local variation (including
PCN-level variation), and targeting action to narrow inequalities (Core20 deprivation
gap, SMI and LD), with work underway to strengthen locally usable indicators and
ongoing monitoring.

Targeted vaccination delivery: We have strengthened our Community Vaccination
Hub model to improve targeted Covid-19 and flu vaccination uptake for priority groups.
BCF/VCSE prevention delivery infrastructure: VCSE partners currently deliver
around £5.6m of BCF-funded services across BSW, contributing to prevention,
reablement, wellbeing and inequalities reduction, with joint ICB/LA oversight through
BCF/Section 75 governance and structured locality engagement.

ICBC prevention levers: The ICBC contract includes prevention outcomes within its
outcomes framework and an expectation to increase investment in the VCSE sector,
strengthening community-based prevention and earlier intervention closer to home.

Over the next five years we will deliver these intentions through the following workstreams:

Key workstreams:

Deliver the BSW Prevention Strategy and Plan (Prevent—-Reduce-Delay):
Implement the agreed prevention approach across partners and places, embedding
prevention consistently in neighbourhood, community and system delivery. The
Prevention Strategy (2025-28) and Prevention Plan are currently in draft and will be
finalised and ratified through 2025/26, enabling delivery from April 2026.

Baseline prevention spend and shift investment over time (2025/26): Establish a
system-wide baseline for prevention spend across NHS, Local Authorities and VCSE,
and agree a multi-year ambition to increase the proportion of total resources invested
in prevention, governed through a prevention outcomes and inequalities framework
aligned to the system outcomes framework to ensure investment shifts are evidence-
led and deliver measurable impact.

37
Page 79



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

e Commission end-to-end prevention pathways (clear provider expectations):
Commission and/or align whole pathways spanning identification, brief intervention,
treatment, maintenance and relapse prevention, aligning funding to outcomes and
equity with clear expectations for pathway leadership, collaboration and shared
outcomes across providers, and optimising existing investment where possible.

e Align prevention commissioning with Local Authorities (single pathway
approach): Strengthen NHS—Local Authority partnership working so prevention
services operate as a single pathway (e.g., smoking cessation and alcohol harm), with
continuity across settings and clearer accountability for outcomes and inequalities
impact.

e Grow VCSE and community delivery (building on the 5% ICBC requirement):
Expand community-based prevention delivery in trusted settings, building on the ICBC
commitment to increase VCSE investment, targeting high-need cohorts and
geographies to improve equity of access and measurable prevention outcomes.

e Utilise all care providers in delivery of prevention: Providers such as Community
Pharmacy have a key part to play in the delivery of prevention, widening access in
harder to reach communities.

¢ Focus on the highest-impact prevention priorities: Concentrate system effort on
tobacco, obesity, harmful alcohol use, polypharmacy (compliance and safety) and
cardiometabolic risk, spanning identification through to relapse prevention. This
includes scaling priority programmes such as hypertension expansion into broader
CVD prevention, an integrated obesity/weight management pathway, optimised
smoking cessation/TTD, improved vaccination uptake (including targeted flu and Covid-
19 programmes), increasing the prescribing of high-value CVD medication, and the
alcohol-related admissions deep dive actions as they are agreed—supporting the
NHSE target to reduce CVD premature mortality by 25% over ten years.

e Measurement and evaluation (provider contribution): Develop a consistent
prevention measurement and evaluation approach, agree a core indicator set
(including inequalities breakdowns), and, where data gaps exist, require providers to
develop and implement outcomes data collection and reporting so prevention impact
and value can be tracked over time.

e Delivery Groups drive implementation and assurance: Delivery Groups are the
mechanism for implementing prevention actions across the system, with each Delivery
Group accountable for a defined set of prevention deliverables and for reporting
progress and impact through system governance.

e Providers as anchor institutions (coordinated system approach): Set a clear
expectation that NHS providers act as anchor institutions—using their influence, assets
and employment power to improve health and reduce inequalities—and coordinate this
activity across the system so it adds value, avoids duplication and aligns with
neighbourhood priorities and prevention outcomes.

What it means for the 3 shifts:
Sickness to Prevention:

¢ Shift commissioning and investment upstream: establish the baseline
prevention spend and a multi-year ambition to increase the proportion of resources
invested in prevention, governed by a prevention outcomes and inequalities
framework.

38
Page 80



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,
Swindon and Wiltshire

Integrated Care Board
Commission end-to-end prevention pathways: align funding to outcomes and
equity across tobacco, cardiometabolic risk (hypertension—CVD), healthy weight,
harmful alcohol and medicines safety—spanning identification through relapse
prevention.
Use every setting as a prevention touchpoint (examples): utilise community
pharmacy to deliver key prevention interventions (e.g., BP checks, smoking
cessation support, contraception/EHC where relevant) and implement the
vaccination strategy so people can receive the right vaccines at the most
appropriate point in their pathway.

Hospital to Community:

Deliver prevention closer to home through neighbourhood and community
models: grow VCSE and community delivery in trusted settings and use
neighbourhood teams to provide earlier intervention for high-need cohorts and
communities.

Integrate NHS and Local Authority prevention into a single pathway (hospital
— community): Align LA and NHS offers so needs identified in hospital are
routinely followed through with timely referral into community-based support,
reducing avoidable escalation and repeat use of urgent care.

Strengthen place and neighbourhood leadership and alignment (examples):
strengthen community pharmacy leadership within neighbourhoods; link
community-led approaches (including outreach) to pharmacy prevention services
(e.g., BP checks); align ICA priorities with neighbourhood health plans.

Analogue to Digital:

Measure and manage prevention as outcomes-led commissioning: agree a
core prevention indicator set (with inequalities breakdowns) and require providers to
improve data capture where gaps exist so impact can be tracked consistently.
Target population health management using place analytics: build place-level
analytics capability to identify high-need cohorts/geographies and target prevention
investment and outreach.

Digital inclusion by design: ensure prevention offers are “digital-first where
appropriate” with inclusive non-digital routes, supported by targeted outreach,
training and accessible communications.

39
Page 81



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

7.Strategic Commissioning Capabilities

The Strategic Commissioning Framework (2025) describes that ICBs will need the
following to be successful in their role as strategic commissioners:

capability in strategic leadership and partnership working with other commissioners,
providers, local government and service users to co-design services and improve
population outcomes

effective and broad multidisciplinary clinical and professional leadership embedded
in how they work to drive cross-organisation improvements

access to high quality data analysis, sustained and meaningful engagement with
people and expertise to inform decision-making and target interventions. This will
include having a greater understanding of how to identify geographical and
demographic inequalities and what is working well locally and elsewhere, and
greater use of technology in the solutions commissioned.

triangulating demand analysis with

an ability to involve people and diverse communities and understand their
experiences through asset-based approaches that facilitate co-production and
empower community-driven solutions

strong relationships with their local government partners (including adult social care,
children’s services, housing and public health) within their footprint; to build a
shared understanding of their population and work together to improve outcomes,
tackle inequalities and develop neighbourhood health

an ability to use market management (including modelling impacts of shifts of
activity between care settings by triangulating forecast demand analysis with needs
based intelligence), contract management and procurement mechanisms to support
a focus on quality, value for money and delivery of improved outcomes

to develop a shared understanding with providers of current and future delivery
costs, ensuring each investment improves access, care quality, efficiency and
outcomes

to develop the skills and capability of the workforce and effectively deploy it across
the whole health and care system, to deliver effective strategic commissioning

As an ICB and in our new role as strategic commissioners, we are committed to
developing the skills and capability we need to fulfil this role. From 26/27, we will start
changing this by working with providers to move funding towards local, outcome-based
care. This means care will be fairer, more patient-focused, and give better value for public
money. Our goal is to improve people’s experience and health outcomes. To do this, we
will move from planning based on historic activity and organisations, to commissioning
based on needs and outcomes alongside activity.

40
Page 82



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

8. Transformation

The BSW Care Model was developed following consultation and engagement with
partners and the public during 2022. This Care Model sets out how collectively as a
partnership we agreed to transform the way in which care is delivered and organised in
BSW.

We have been making progress with delivery of this care model, most notably with the
procurement of an integrated community-based care contract (ICBC) that went live in April
2025 and the establishment of the BSW Hospitals Group in November 2024. Alongside
these developments, there has also been a number of wider developments that further the
implementation of the care model for specific pathways and populations.

BSW ICB will continue to lead and coordinate a system-wide approach to deliver major
transformation programmes that enable sustainable, high-quality care and improved
outcomes for our population. Central to this is the ‘left shift’, moving resources and care
closer to home by transitioning from an acute-centric model to a community-based,
preventative approach.

The key principles and actions to support this will include:

Collaborative System Leadership
e Work in partnership with NHS providers, local authorities, voluntary sector, and
primary care networks to align priorities and resources.
e Governance structures that enable shared accountability and transparency.

Integrated Planning and Delivery
e Collaborative transformation plans that reflect local needs and national priorities.
e Coordinate workforce, digital, and financial enablers across organisations to support
seamless implementation.

Resource Reallocation to Support Left Shift
¢ |dentify opportunities to shift investment from hospital-based services to community
and primary care based settings.
e Expand community capacity for proactive care, early intervention, and support for
long-term conditions.

Population Health and Prevention Focus
e Use data-driven insights to target interventions that reduce health inequalities and
avoid unnecessary hospital admissions.
e Embed personalised care models and strengthen social prescribing.

Continuous Engagement and Communication

41
Page 83



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

¢ Maintain strong engagement with patients, carers, and communities to co-design
services.
¢ Provide regular updates to stakeholders to ensure alignment and shared learning.

Through these coordinated efforts, BSW ICB will deliver transformation programmes that
improve access, outcomes, and sustainability, while enabling the shift of care and resources
from acute settings to community-based services.

In developing a more sustainable approach to transformation and enabling this ‘left shift’ we
have recognised that a new approach is required to start changing the dialogue to shift of
resources and ways of working to deliver major transformation. To support this, a ring-
fenced fund for Transformation has been created for BSW, for 26/26 this will be
£11.6 million (0.6%) which will not be used for deficit reduction. The purpose of the fund is
to enable changes that cannot be funded through baseline allocations, removing structural
barriers to efficiency, productivity, and quality and to create enduring benefits that release
capacity, reduce avoidable cost, or materially improve outcomes in subsequent years. It
must also enable better value from annual running costs. The fund should not be used
to plug recurrent deficits, support additional capacity or support business-as-usual delivery,
temporarily prop up unsustainable services, fund activity growth without system
redesign, or create additional net recurrent cost to the system baseline.

All proposals to the fund should align to a set of principles as follows:

1. Non-recurrent, enabling investment-one-off spend that unlocks future benefit (e.g.
digital, estates reconfiguration, capability build, transition costs).

2. Clear line of sight to recurrent benefit-benefits realised in FY 2025/26 and beyond,
such as:

3. Cash-releasing savings
o Capacity release (clinical and managerial)
o Avoided cost growth for the three BSW acute providers (ability to take costs out)
e Productivity improvements

4. System-level impact, preference for proposals that:

e Cross organisational boundaries
e Reduce duplication or variation
e Improve whole-pathway performance rather than single-service optimisation

5. Deliverability within the funding window-spend profile achievable within agreed
timelines, dependencies understood and manageable, accountable leadership and
delivery capability in place, scalability or reusability, solutions that can be scaled,
replicated, or reused across the system or in future years are prioritised.

42
Page 84



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,
Swindon and Wiltshire

Integrated Care Board

9.Financial Plan

BSW ICB expects to receive in the region of £2.5bn of funding in 2026/2027 to provide a
broad range of primary, secondary and specialised services for our population.

The BSW system comprising the ICB and the three main acute NHS providers within the
geography (GWH, RUH and SFT) are currently spending more on the ongoing
commitments for the system than the ongoing funding received to provide services for the
population.

The system has managed to get to an overall breakeven position with additional non-
recurrent national support funding for the last couple of years. This funding is expected to
be withdrawn.

All NHS organisations have a statutory duty to not spend more than the funding they
receive in a year. This means that recovery interventions will need to be undertaken to
address the overspending to avoid a future deficit. On an ongoing basis ¢.5% more is
being spent than we receive in funding.

Addressing the overspend whilst continuing to meet the needs of our population will
require changes to the services that we currently commission. This may mean ceasing
some services, significant changes to existing services or adding new services.

The system is committed to meeting its financial statutory duties and returning to a break-
even position and to a sustainable financial balance.

The system planned to deliver efficiency in 25/26 of £125m or 5.6%. Once we include
productivity improvements, this increased to ¢.6.5%. This was a significant stretch for the
system in the context of historical under-delivery of recurrent CIP schemes. Despite this
high level of efficiency, the ongoing overspend is expected to remain at c.5% as we enter
into 26/27.

The efficiencies delivered in 25/26 have failed to deliver the level of recurrent reductions in
spend required or the productivity improvements to materially reduce waiting

lists. Continued operational challenges connected with service demand have meant that
both waiting lists and demand for non-elective services have exceeded planned

levels. We have also continued to see higher levels than expected of patients occupying
beds despite being medically fit for discharge.

The chart below indicates how the ICB planned to spend its resources for 25/26:

43
Page 85



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

25/26 (excluding specialised services)

Mental Health

In addition to the funding that the ICB receives directly there is separate funding streams
allocated to the BSW population to support specialised services. This funding is directed
into the following areas of spend but the services are commissioned jointly for all ICBs
across the South West.

The ICB commissions services from both NHS and Non-NHS provider organisations and
currently ¢.40% of all service spend is with GWH, RUH and SFT. Not all hospital-based

services are delivered with BSW, and patients regularly use providers in Bristol, Oxford,

Gloucester and Southampton. More specialist provision is also used in London.

44
Page 86



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

10. Workforce Plan

Over 35,000 people work in health and care in BSW across a wide range of professions, in
a variety of settings and across multiple employers. We have a highly skilled, dedicated
and committed workforce across our ICP area. However, gaps in the health and social
care workforce will be one of the key barriers to improving services in BSW over the
coming years. Our priority is to improve both recruitment and retention of staff across BSW
by creating a culture in which our workforce enjoy satisfying careers, feel valued and are
able to make their best contribution. We will do this by focusing on the following four
ambitions:

e Creating inclusive and compassionate work environments that enable people
and organisations to work together

e Making BSW an inspiring and great place to work
o All staff feeling valued and having access to high quality development and
careers

e Using resources wisely to reduce duplication, enhance efficiency, productivity and
share learning

We will ensure that the equality, diversity and inclusion of our workforce improves and
ensure that all providers of services comply with the minimum requirements of the Public
Sector Equality Duty (PSED). As the published model blueprint indicates, the ICB’s role is
shifting to that of strategic commissioners with the aim of planning for the future of
healthcare services, allocating resources and focusing on removing health inequalities and
improving outcomes for the population we serve.

We will continue to build on the progress in reducing our use of and expenditure on
temporary staffing in our NHS provider organisations as well as supporting initiatives to
recruit into high cost and hard to recruit roles.

The ICB will continue to ensure that, where relevant, that workforce plans for NHS
providers are triangulated across finance, activity and workforce. We will maintain
relationships with NHSE and other arms lengths bodies to utilise provided tools and
models as well as using relevant data and information to better inform and influence plans.

The BSW ICB Work and Health Partnership project will continue to build on its success in
delivering the Work Well programme with its intent to support individuals with health
conditions in overcoming barriers to employment.

BSW Strategic Vision for our Workforce

Over the next five years, BSW will develop workforce plans that aim to support and deliver
the following priorities:

Hospital to community

45
Page 87



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

In BSW, we have developed a Primary Care and Community Delivery Plan that sets out
how we plan to transform care for our population. As part of our plan, we have
commissioned our Integrated Community Based Care Contract including community
Integrated Neighbourhood Teams (INTs). This aligns to the new national ambition set out
for Neighbourhood Health. Our five - year workforce plan will be informed by the required
workforce needs of the ICBC contract and the commissioned HCRG stepped care model.
This will also draw in the workforce needs of wider partners including PCNs, local
authorities and the VCSE.

Primary care

Primary Care including general practice, community pharmacy, primary care dentistry, and
optometry is central to the delivery of the NHS Ten Year Plan and the transformation
ambitions of the new NHS operating model.

Primary Care are key to delivering the neighbourhood health service vision, reducing
unwarranted variation, and improving access and equity across all contractor groups. Our
goal is therefore to enhance efficiency and integration across out of hospital care. We
recognise that each Primary Care sector operates under nationally negotiated contracts
and frameworks, which provide consistency and clarity across England.

As part of our workforce plan, we will work jointly to support primary care to improve
recruitment, training, retention and job satisfaction across all of the primary care workforce.

We will use data and intelligence to understand supply pipelines into roles such as
community pharmacy and optometry in urgent care navigation, ensuring patients can
access timely advice and treatment closer to home.

Mental Health

The BSW Mental Health Strategy 2025 — 2030 commits to improvements in commissioned
services so we achieve good mental health for the people living in our area.

Workforce is identified as a key enabler of this strategy, and we are committed to make
our area an excellent place to work in mental health. We know our key challenges include
national shortages of mental health care professionals which is replicated in BSW, high
staff turnover and in turn high vacancy rates and heavy reliance on agency staff to fill
vacancy pressures in the clinical workforce. The temporary nature of their relationship with
service users means they can’t always provide consistency of treatment and interventions
which impacts upon people accessing our services.

Our workforce plan will encompass these known challenges and BSW mental health
providers will progress a number of actions to expand and develop the workforce
including: Clinical associate psychology trainees, Talking Therapies workforce expansion
through low and high intensity trainee , Apprenticeships ,Overseas recruitment ,Training
for professionals to enhance their work with service users, Connect 5 Training, Oliver
McGowan Mandatory Training, Cross provider training programmes and Recruitment of
mental health professionals in primary and urgent and emergency care. Success will be
measured by a bi-annual improvement forum where providers will share and commit to

46
Page 88



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

measurable actions to improve recruitment and retention and optimise staff skills and
wellbeing.

Learning Disabilities Autism and Neurodivergence (LDAN)
Our workforce plan will encompass the following priority areas:

e Workforce requirements for the new Kingfisher unit and outreach team provided by
Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership NHS Trust. Building on the existing
dedicated workforce workstream that has been part of the programme and has
included use of the Aspire Nursing Programme and training of Advance Clinical
Practitioners (ACP’s). The intention is to continue to support and offer and consider
how this can be implemented within community settings as part of the ICBC
transformation priorities.

e Development of new all age Neuro Diversity pathway with HCRG and requirement
for a needs-based approach including our VCSE partners

e Expansion in numbers of LDAN keyworkers

e |CBC Transformation work of LDAN Community Services (HCRG) including
development of existing workforce to support autistic people without a learning
disability and meeting the forensic needs of people with LDAN as part of
community-based services — linked to ICBC outcomes.

e Upskilling of mainstream mental health services (inpatient and community) to meet
the specific needs of autistic people with co-morbid mental iliness.

Urgent and Emergency Care

The workforce plan will respond to the review of the UEC pathway including the review of
workforce requirements for delivery of Urgent Treatment Centres and to support the shift
from MIUs to UTCs. It will also reflect any expansion of Hospital @Home for other
pathways, such as for children, and will outline the implied workforce requirements.

Analogue to digital

The ICB published a 5-year Digital Strategy in September 2024 that is now being
refreshed in light of the ten-year plan publication and the shift from analogue to digital. We
will commission in a way that ensures digital is the default for access, information and
follow-up.

Our workforce plan will need to respond to the increasing need for a suitably skilled and
competent workforce across a range of cyber professions to support the ambitions of the
NHS ten-year plan. We know that filling specific digital roles is a challenge across BSW
due to competition from other employers and skills gaps in our existing workforce. The ICS
Cyber Strategy outlines how the expansion of relevant professional apprenticeships will
take place to respond to the increasing workforce required and this will be incorporated
into our five-year workforce plan.

47
Page 89



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

48
Page 90



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

11. Digital Strategy

To meet the current and future needs of our population we need to make significant
changes in the way we deliver services. Technology is an important enabler to make
these changes. Digital solutions give us the potential to work differently, facilitating
better, safer care and experience and more efficient and effective use of resources, both
financial and time. Making better use of technology, also referred to as moving

from analogue to digital, is a crucial element of plans to make the health service more
efficient, safer and provide a better patient experience. Digital, Data and Technology
across the ICS are also enablers for the other two shifts we are being asked to focus on
(moving care from hospitals to the community, shifting from treatment to prevention).

Healthcare is more than ever, dependent on digital solutions for the prompt, safe and
effective delivery of data and information to those that need it, be they staff, patients or
their carers.

The opportunity digital presents to the NHS and social care is recognised by the
Government as one of the transformational shifts the NHS must make over the next ten
years.

The organisations of BSW have a shared aim to exploit this opportunity to the benefit of
our patients, population, staff and organisations.

We have identified five strategic themes and agreed a set of principles that will ensure a
consistent approach to delivering digital across all our organisations.

By delivering against the priorities identified within this strategy we will increase the digital
maturity of our organisations, reduce our carbon impact, improve services for our patients
and improve the working conditions for our staff.

Delivery is however not without risks. The BSW system is under financial pressure which
impacts the ability to invest in digital technologies, and where national funding is available
it is often capital where revenue funding is required. The capacity and resource to support
the Digital, Data and Technological change is limited both within specialist teams and the
frontline. The transition of NHS England into the Department of Health and Social Care
and the ICB merge will also impact at a local level.

How we seize this digital opportunity will define the future of care in BSW. Encapsulated
by our vision of:

“Working together to deliver innovative digital solutions that enhance patient outcomes,
staff experience, and streamline healthcare services”

49
Page 91



Strategic themes for health and adult social care in
BSW to 2029

Daglially empowering our population
f‘h 'We will enable individuals fo actively manage their health and so
qﬁ improve oooess to sanvices to support more efficient, connectad,
f ond preventofive core,

Supporting cur workforce through digttal Innevation

‘We will improve the experience of pofients and staff by improving
Lo how we use digital to provide care.

%% Using dato fo focus decision making

‘We will make imvesiment decisions, and health and core
£L% interventions, based on doto-led evidence.

il Delver strong digital and data foundations

‘W will get the basics right by delivering o relioble and secure
jls diata and digital infrostructure.

1 ‘We will ensure the confidentiality, ovailability and inbegrity of the

Protecting our patients and staff with robust cyber securtty
1 diata we process fo deliver our senices.

b,

NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

Figure 1. BSW Digital Strategic Themes to 2029

Page 92

50



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

12. Infrastructure Strategy

Infrastructure is a critical enabler for delivering the transformational changes set out in the
BSW Integrated Care Strategy. We aim to provide a modern, fit-for-purpose estate with
seamless digital connectivity, designed for efficiency, sustainability, and flexibility to
support high-quality care closer to home. As the third largest cost after workforce and
medication, infrastructure must be financially sustainable and optimally utilised.

Our Enabling Infrastructure Strategy (2025-2035) sets out our vision and objectives for
reshaping and enhancing our estate and digital infrastructure over the next decade. It
aligns with the BSW Together Integrated Care Strategy and Primary & Community Care
Delivery Plan and is underpinned by six priorities:

o Empowered decision making

o Transformative digital solutions
o Workforce excellence

e Building a greener future

e Informed infrastructure spending
e Building a better future together

Delivering this vision requires significant investment for backlog maintenance and
additional space, depending on the level of clinical transformation achieved. For 2026/27,
the system has an operational capital envelope of £46.4m, supplemented by national
programmes.

?l:““::l:: :':: z:t:La:: "nlft: SR LI Swindunl 2627 27/28| 28/29| 29/30| Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Operational Capital (CDEL) 41.56 43.50 44.39 45.26] 174.72
Primary Care BAU Capital (GPIT/MIG) 1.88 1.88 1.89 1.89 7.53
Mational Programme - Primary Care Utilisation Fund 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 3.00
Strategic Primary Care Fund 3.00 3.14 3.21 3.27 12.61
Total 47.19 49.27 50.23 51.17] 197.86

Funding sources will include annual ICB capital allocation, national NHS capital
programmes, Section 106 and CIL contributions, local authority borrowing, private sector
partnerships, charitable funds, and capital disposal receipts (estimated £10.1m, with 50%
reinvested locally).

Data-led decision making is central to our approach for planning and prioritising
investment. We will use key planning tools to model demand and capacity across acute,
community, mental health and primary care settings, ensuring that our estate strategy is
evidence-based and aligned to population needs. This includes applying advanced

51
Page 93



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

modelling techniques to forecast future service requirements and identify opportunities for
co-location and optimisation.

Alongside this, we will maintain a robust categorisation of our estate into Core, Flex and
Tail assets, enabling us to target investment where it delivers greatest value, improve
utilisation of existing facilities, and plan disposals to release capital for reinvestment.
These actions will ensure that decisions on infrastructure are transparent, data-driven and
support the delivery of our strategic objectives for prevention, equity and care closer to
home.

The development of our infrastructure plan is shaped by several critical dependencies that
influence both timing and scope. Population growth and housing development across BSW
will significantly impact demand for health and care services. Forecasts indicate an
additional 62,000 residents and 57,000 new homes by 2038, with the most substantial
growth in the over-60 population. This demographic shift requires close alignment with
Local Plans and proactive engagement with local authorities to secure developer
contributions through Section 106 and Community Infrastructure Levy agreements.

Clinical service transformation is another key dependency. Our infrastructure requirements
are informed by ADEPT modelling, which supports the ‘left shift’ of care from acute
hospitals into community settings. This approach demands flexible, modern facilities that
can accommodate integrated neighbourhood teams and deliver care closer to home,
reducing pressure on acute sites while improving patient experience.

Digital enablement underpins the success of our infrastructure strategy. The delivery of the
BSW Digital Strategy, including shared electronic patient records, virtual wards, and
remote monitoring will be essential to optimise estate utilisation and support new models
of care. Investment in digital connectivity and space for virtual consultations is therefore a
critical dependency.

Workforce expansion also influences infrastructure planning. The NHS Long Term
Workforce Plan requires modern facilities for recruitment, retention, and training, alongside
spaces that promote collaborative working and staff wellbeing. Without sufficient physical
capacity, workforce productivity improvements cannot be achieved.

Finally, sustainability commitments and governance frameworks shape our approach.
Compliance with the NHS Net Zero Building Standard and delivery of the BSW Green Plan
depend on system-wide investment and external factors such as National Grid upgrades to
support electrification. Governance arrangements, including the implementation of the
BSW Capital Investment Framework and Investment Panel, ensure prioritisation and
affordability. In addition, the forthcoming end of the Great Western Hospital PFI contract in
2029 requires early planning to manage transition and mitigate operational risk.

The National Programme, with indicate allocations to BSW capital provides investment
opportunities over four years (2026/27-2029/30) to support constitutional standards and
the ‘left shift’ of care into community settings. This indicative multi-year settlement enables
strategic investment across six programme areas, with our total allocation over this period
set out in the following table:

52
Page 94



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

Note: This table will be completed with numbers once we have confirmed BSW allocations
by the National Team and Region, so this is included as a holding position.

Summary of NHS Bath and North East Somerset, Swindon|
and Wiltshire ICB CDEL Allocation
Mational Programme Estates Safety Fund

Mational Programme Diagnostics Schemes

Mational Programme UEC Schemes

Mational Programme Mental Health, Learning Disability
and Autism Schemes

Mational Programme Community Schemes

Mational Programme Elective Scheme Completion

26/27 | 27/28 | 28/29 | 29/30 | Total

£k £k £k £k £k

Total Value of PDC for Proposed Schemes

We are developing a capital pipeline scheme that will be integral to delivering the ICB’s
strategic objectives across the following themed areas:

Diagnostics: Expanding CDCs and replacing outdated equipment improves access
to timely tests and supports elective recovery by reducing waiting times. Locating
diagnostics in community settings aligns with the ambition to deliver care closer to
home and tackle health inequalities.

Urgent and Emergency Care: Investments in Model EDs, UTCs, and SDEC units
enhance patient flow and reduce A&E waiting times, directly supporting
constitutional standards. Ambulance hubs and home-based UEC care strengthen
system resilience and integrated neighbourhood services.

Mental Health, Learning Disability & Autism: Developing NMHCs and MHEDs
ensures people in crisis receive care in therapeutic settings, reducing inappropriate
hospital admissions and out-of-area placements. Crisis accommodation supports
personalised care and parity of esteem for mental health.

Community Health Services: Estate and digital upgrades increase capacity for
proactive care and multidisciplinary working, supporting prevention and early
intervention.

Elective Care: Completing surgical hubs and day case units addresses the elective
backlog and improves productivity, supporting RTT standards.

53
Page 95



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

e Primary Care Estates: Upgrading GP premises creates additional clinical space,
supports workforce expansion, and facilitates integrated care delivery within
neighbourhoods. Strategic estate investment replaces outdated buildings and co-
locates services with local authority and community partners.

Collectively, our schemes will enable the left shift of care from acute hospitals to
community and primary care settings, improve access and reduce waiting times, address
health inequalities, support digital transformation and workforce productivity, and deliver
sustainability goals by embedding NHS Net Zero principles in all new developments.

Infrastructure priorities are fully aligned with the objectives of the Integrated Care Strategy:
Prevention and early intervention, fairer health outcomes, and excellent health and care
services.

Delivery will be supported by the BSW Capital Prioritisation Framework, categorising
investments into three bands: Band 1 for major schemes attracting national funding, Band
2 for ICS-funded small projects, and Band 3 for local minor capital expenditure. Our plans
underpin these priorities and will be refreshed annually to maintain alignment with evolving
clinical and population needs.

Devizes Integrated Care Centre (opened 2023) and Trowbridge ICC (completion 2026).
Community Diagnostic Centres in Bath, Swindon, and Salisbury. Sulis Orthopaedic Centre
supporting elective recovery are current examples of where we are delivering against our
vision as well as significant investment into Primary Care during 2025/26 to increase
clinical capacity.

54
Page 96



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

13. Engagement

Ensuring that the voices of local people are listened to is so much more than a
statutory obligation. Without these views, we cannot develop and deliver services that
truly reflect the needs of the people we serve. Local people and communities possess a
unique perspective on the local health and care system, along with a real-world view of
how services are delivered within our communities. It is essential that we listen to these
insights as we plan for the future.

We held an extensive local conversation on the NHS Ten year plan with our communities.
During January and February 2025 we conducted a number of engagement sessions with
members of the public across BSW to gather input and involving several distinct groups,
including Patient Participation Groups, senior citizens from Black and Minority Ethnic
(BAME) communities in Bath, refugees and asylum seekers in Swindon, the Muslim
community in BaNES, and representatives from the Gypsy, Romany, Boater, and Traveller
communities in Wiltshire and Bath. Discussions with these groups focused on three key
national shifts underway nationally in health and care.

NHS Ten Year Plan:
Feedback from patients
and the public

« Broad support for ‘Hospital at home’
(virtual wards).

=« Enthusiasm for ‘Pharmacy First’ (this community
pharmacists to supply some prescription-only
medicines, where clinically appropriate.

+ Concerns over digital exclusion

« Concerns over access to Community
Diagnostic Centres.

« Belief that NHS will improve in the future.

The themes identified in this conversation as well as other engagement we have done with
our communities are central to this plan include:

Prevention and early intervention

e Broad support for preventing illness rather than just treating it, but much debate
about the best way of doing this

e Improved health education in schools is widely believed to be the best route

e More emphasis should be placed on nutrition and physical activity programs,
subsidised where possible for disadvantaged communities

e Calls for long-term funding for VCSE partners and better outreach to marginalised
communities

e Worries about affordability of healthy food, “nanny state” interference and
unintended consequences of screening creating more patients the system would
not be able to cope with

Access and navigation of services

55
Page 97



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,
Swindon and Wiltshire

Integrated Care Board

e Low awareness and unclear routes into services, particularly with weight
management and frailty, were highlighted

e People want clearer signposting, the ability to self-refer and better communication
about eligibility criteria

e Transport and rural access challenges were common concerns, with calls for mobile
units and patients from rural areas highlighting the difficulty of attending Community
Diagnostic Centres if they were situated away from town centres

e There is frustration with poor coordination between hospitals and GPs. People want
“joined-up” referrals and discharge processes

Digital vs face-to-face care

e Strong support for shared care records and technology to improve efficiency, while
there is criticism for what is seen as a disjoined approach between primary and
secondary care

e High levels of concern about digital exclusion for older or disadvantaged groups in
terms of booking GP appointments and a preference for face-to-face appointments
for complex issues

e Cybersecurity and data privacy were raised as ongoing worries

Workforce and infrastructure

e There were repeated questions about staffing shortages, pay and recruitment
needed to deliver plans such as Hospital at Home, services at TICC, Community
Diagnostic Centres and the hospital to community shift

e Practical delivery concerns for rural areas and fears that plans may not be realistic

Communication and Cultural Sensitivity

e Desire for clearer explanations of clinical terms and less use of jargon
e Need for translation services and culturally sensitive care

Behavioural and Social Factors

e Learned behaviour drives A&E attendance, even when alternatives exist
e Emotional and psychological support needs were raised by many in relation to
weight management discussions, alongside stigma concerns

Service Design Feedback (mainly connected to Trowbridge Integrated Care Centre)

e Positive sentiment toward bringing care closer to home
e Persistent requests for:
o Extended opening hours for Minor Injury Units

56
Page 98



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,
Swindon and Wiltshire

Integrated Care Board
o Local maternity options and short-stay beds
¢ Mixed views on whether new facilities represent real service improvements or just
“same services, new building.”

We will continue to engage with our patients and local population on a regular basis, using
a coproduction methodology that actively involves people and communities (based on
Care Quality Commission’s Framework for engaging with people and communities to
address health inequalities (2025). By using both quantitative and qualitative insights to
inform our integrated needs assessment, this will provide us with a comprehensive
understanding of the lived experience of those receiving health and care support.

Areas of engagement that align with our commissioning intentions will include:

Developing a Neighbourhood Health Service

Place based engagement with communities to inform the development of Neighbourhood
Health. Within this we will also be working closely with the Gypsy, Roma, Traveller and
Boating communities as well as Veterans to gain a better understanding of how they view
Neighbourhood Health and how to best to communicate the idea of Neighbourhood Health
to them.

Commissioning a comprehensive review of our urgent and emergency care pathway
Expanding on the “Big A&E Survey” carried out in 2025, we will work on delivering further
engagement activities to support the review of the currently commissioned UEC pathway.

Transforming Delivery of Planned care
Engagement work planned to support the development of the BSW Diagnostics Strategy
to include Community Diagnostic Centres.

Transforming Primary Care
Working closely with our local Patient Participation Groups (PPGs) to gather feedback
across Primary Care.

Commissioning for Prevention

Building on engagement work carried out at the end of 2025 on BSW Weight Management
Services, we will look to codesign pathways and a system wide approach to
compassionate language around weight management and obesity.

The ICB’s work in this area against its Legislative Duties is also found in Appendix 4.

14. Monitoring Delivery

We are committed to working together to deliver the intentions set out in this plan for BSW
and using our agreed BSW outcomes framework indicators, performance reporting and
our governance and assurance processes, we will track and monitor our progress.

The BSW outcomes framework is a tool designed to define the outcomes that are of value
to our population. It will enable the measurement of the effectiveness of our activities

and interventions in delivering improved health outcomes for the population. The
framework shall provide a robust, evidence-based approach to monitoring progress

57
Page 99


https://www.cqc.org.uk/local-systems/integrated-care-systems/framework-engaging-people-and-communities
https://www.cqc.org.uk/local-systems/integrated-care-systems/framework-engaging-people-and-communities

NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

and addressing inequalities. It enables the Integrated Care System (ICS) to align its
priorities with measurable and actionable goals, ensuring that our efforts translate into
meaningful change for our communities. By embedding this Outcomes Framework into our
commissioning and contracting, we will ensure a structured, equitable, and transparent
approach to improving health outcomes across our communities and by the end of the five
year period we aim to see a measurable improvement in these outcomes.

As per the guidance set out for ICB’s in the strategic commissioning framework, we will
rigorously evaluate the outcomes from our commissioned services, care models and
proactive interventions. This includes tracking and responding to healthcare use, clinical
risk markers, patient and staff reported experience, outcome metrics and wider feedback
and intelligence. We will monitor and evaluate the performance (quality, operational or
financial) of the services we commission by:

e understanding gaps or challenges in the achievement of agreed priorities or
within individual commissioned services (such as those in the national planning
priorities: for example, urgent and emergency care and elective care)

« learning from and adapting services (including decommissioning and scaling
successful innovations where appropriate)

e ensuring quantitative metrics are triangulated with qualitative data, professional
insight and regulatory intelligence to fulfil this function effectively (such as
complaints, “You and Your General Practice’, Freedom to Speak Up, Patient
Safety Incident Response Framework and safety incident data)

To support achievement of this and in meeting the national guidance, we will set up an
evaluation approach by March 2027, supported by an intelligence function and working
with other partners as appropriate. The approach will encompass both quantitative and
qualitative data, including feedback from staff (ICB, provider and other partners),
communities and people using services.

15. Risks and Mitigations

The ICB is committed to having a risk management culture that underpins and supports
the business of the ICB, including its system function and responsibilities. The approach
seeks to embed robust, transparent, proportionate and responsive risk management in the
ICB’s activities and processes relating to the discharging of the ICB’s functions, duties and
responsibilities. The ICB’s Risk Management Framework sets out the ICB’s approach to
risk management, key decision-makers with regards to risk management, the ICB’s risk
appetite and risk categories, and key processes to manage operational risks (held on the
ICB’s operational risk register) and risks to the ICB’s ability to achieve its strategic
objectives (held on the ICB’s Board Assurance Framework, BAF).

BSW ICB holds the following risks on its BAF and operational risk register which it deems
to be relevant for this plan, and the ICB’s ability to deliver it:

58
Page 100


https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-read/strategic-commissioning-framework/

NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

Risk

NQ2, Ambulance to Hospital handover delays (Ambulance
Improvement) impact on system’s ability to meet targets

Fin05, Sufficiency of capital funding for the ICB and system, finite
resource could be spent on schemes that don’t support the
delivery of system objectives or create revenue pressures which
add to the system underlying deficit and ongoing savings
requirements

PCC9, PCC2, PCC1 Planned care and cancer wait times,
pacity impact on system’s ability to meet targets

BCorp01, Organisational change impacts on ICB’s capability to
(deliver its functions
o

=

#74, Single Electronic Patient Record Programme not delivered
safely and on time could result in material operational disruption
within the

acutes and across the wider system

Various risks re specific ICB activities and operations across
primary care (GP, dental, SW hub), urgent and emergency care
and flow, planned care, mental health, s117 aftercare that all point
to capacity and financial constraints as a risk to the ICB’s ability to
achieve delivery of in-year aims and objectives

BAFO01, Urgent and Emergency Care, insufficient capacity across
the entire system pathway to meet demand and support flow,
resulting in missed targets, high NCTR, insufficient flow, patient
harm, and inability to shift resources from managing pressures
into the transformation of care

Risk Score Likelihood Impact Mitigating Action
(LxI) (on the ICB /
system if the
risk does
materialize)

5 4 Close monitoring of contract performance; Acute UEC
Programme focusing on front door, in hospital and
discharge; Expansion of SDEC offers at RUH and SFT
to avoid handover at ED

5 4 Capital plan; close oversight and monitoring through
ICB / ICB committees

4 4 GWH, RUH, SFT run recovery projects; ICB close
monitoring and oversight

4 4 ICB / cluster change programme: capabilities mapping
exercise to identify essential roles and high-risk loss
areas; business continuity plans

4 4 Acute Group has in place Board-led governance
providing leadership and assurance against a set of
readiness checkpoints that assess the various
component parts of the EPR programme
Mitigations focus on close collaboration with providers
and on close monitoring of finances

3 5 UEC strategy, oversight of SWAST contract, focus on
infection prevention and control, oversight of out-of-
hospital capacity

==s=




NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

Risk Risk Score
(LxI)

BAFO02, Elective Care, system fails to deliver on the specific
expectations set out in the elective care reform plan, leading to
wait times / lists remaining high, loss of Elective Recovery Fund
(ERF), continued increased demand for urgent and emergency
care and primary care, continued operational systems pressures

BAFO03, Prevention, no actions and incentives for residents to stay
healthy, resulting in inability to prevent disease, injury or ill-health
or avoidable complications associated with long-term conditions,
leading to continuation of operational pressures and failure to
deliver intended health outcomes

BAF04, Health inequalities, efforts not focused on improving
alth inequalities and addressing unwarranted variation, resulting
little or no impact on the health and outcomes of those who are
versely affected by current ways of working
B®AF06, Financial delivery, financial cost pressures are not
controlled, resulting in BSW overspending / breaching revenue or
capital plan, not achieving statutory financial duties, and leading to
intervention from NHSE including reduced local discretionary
decision making, reduced capital resources, reduced opportunity
to apply for additional funds, and loss of deficit support funding

BAFO07, Wider determinants of health, failure to address wider
determinants of health, leading to people not having the
opportunities and means to stay healthy, resulting in continued
high / increased demand for health and care services, operational
pressures, inequalities of access and health outcomes

BAF09, Future of the BSW ICB, running cost reduction leads to
ICB’s inability to deliver statutory functions and short- to medium-
term plans

Likelihood Impact Mitigating Action
(on the ICB /
system if the
risk does
materialize)
4 4 Providers activity plans and recovery plans, close
monitoring via contract meetings, increased use of
CDC capacity
4 4 Prevention strategy incl. CYP / MH / frailty prevention,
hypertension programme delivery and continuation
beyond year 1, stronger prevention reporting and data
4 4 BSW inequalities strategy, Deliver 2025/26 inequalities
commissioning model, inequalities dashboard
4 5 identify the root cause of BSW’s strategic deficits,
support from experienced consultant, financial
recovery plans medium-term plan, efficiency pipeline
for 2026/27 and beyond
4 4 Medium Term Plan, system outcomes framework /
reporting mechanisms
4 5 Options for future footprint, functions and strategic

objectives, programme plan to manage the change,
plan/s to facilitate retention and delivery of as many
strategic and planned objectives for the benefit of the
BSW population as possible

60




NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

16. Governance

Governance and oversight for the delivery of this plan is as follows:

During the business year 2025/26, the BSW ICB’s governance and decision-making
arrangements will ensure appropriate decision-making and oversight and assurance with
regards to the approval, implementation and delivery of the plan. The relevant forums in the
BSW ICB’s governance arrangements are:

BSW ICB Board — approval of the plan

e BSW ICB Commissioning Committee — oversight and assurance of the plan and its delivery,
risk monitoring and assurance that risks are managed, and commissioning decisions where
the value of the commissioned services contracts reach the relevant threshold per the BSW
ICB’s SoRD and Scheme of Financial Delegations (the BSW ICB Board is the decision-
maker for the most high-value commissioning decisions)

e BSW ICB Executive Management Group — day-to-day monitoring, operational decision-
making in line with the BSW ICB’s SoRD and Scheme of Financial Delegations, operational
management to ensure delivery of the plan to projected timelines, metrics and outcomes

From 1 April 2026, BSW, Dorset and Somerset ICBs will closely collaborate as a cluster.
The intention is to have in place cluster governance and decision-making arrangements.
While these arrangements have not been finalized at this point in time, we anticipate the
following as relevant forums for decision-making, oversight and assurance with regards to
the delivery of the plan — to note that this is indicative only at this point in time and may be
subject to change:

o Cluster Board — approval of any material changes to the plan, decision-making with
regards to very high-value commissioning decisions, decision-making with regards to
novel or contentious commissioning models

¢ Joint cluster committee for commissioning — oversight and assurance of the plan and its
delivery, commissioning decisions, risk monitoring and assurance that risks are managed

e Joint cluster Executive Group — day-to-day monitoring, operational decision-making,
operational management to ensure delivery of the plan to projected timelines, metrics
and outcomes

e TBC: Place ‘boards’ may play a role in the oversight and assurance of the plan and its
delivery where intentions have particular local / place implications

Oversight via Executive structures

The Cluster executive structure will have overall oversight of the commissioning intentions as
set out in this plan. The Population Health Board will hold the oversight of the Population Health
Improvement as part of this plan and our priorities in relation to outcomes and inequalities.

61

Page 103



NHS

Bath and North East Somerset,

Swindon and Wiltshire
Integrated Care Board

Accountability
We will report regularly to the ICB board on progress against the priorities set out here.

62

Page 104



Agenda Item 14

Bath & North East Somerset Council

MEETING/
DECISION | Health and Wellbeing Board
MAKER:

th
MEETING/ 5" February 2026
DECISION
DATE:

] Bath and North East Somerset Better Care Fund Quarter 3 National
TITLE:
Data Return

WARD: All

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM

List of attachments to this report:
BCF Return Excel Document (On Request)

1 THE ISSUE

1.1 Bath and North East Somerset Council with the Integrated Care Board (ICB) has
a statutory duty, through the Health and Wellbeing Board to approve activity
related to the Better Care Fund as defined in the requirements of the central
Government allocation of these funds. For the period 2025 to 2026, these
include a single year narrative and activity plan and quarterly reports throughout
the year. The Quarter 3 report is now being submitted and requires approval
from the Health and Wellbeing Board.

2 RECOMMENDATION

The Board is asked to;

2.1 Ratify the BCF Quarter 3 return.

3 THE REPORT

3.1 The Health and Wellbeing Board agreed the proposed plan and narrative
explanation for the Better Care Fund 2025-2026 prior to submission in April

2025.

3.2 Quarterly reporting is required by national partners which require consultation,
agreement, and ratification in line with the agreed governance process.

3.3 The report has been compiled by the Better Care Fund Manager in consultation
with relevant senior partners within B&NES Council and BSW ICB, following the
agreed process.

Printed on recycled paper Page 105




3.4 Requirements for the submission are pre-defined and the BCF manager is
provided with templates with prepopulated fixed cells. This does not form or
change our published Narrative plan which has been approved for 25-26.

3.5 Requirements for the submission include reporting against key metrics specific
for the 2025 to 2026 period, which apply to varying degrees to work funded
partly or wholly by BCF pooled funding.

3.6 The spreadsheet return also requires reporting spend against sources of funding
pooled in the BCF.

3.7 The report has been approved by Lucy Baker (Director of Learning Disability,
Autism and Neurodivergence, Children and Young People and the Combined
Place Team, BSW ICB) and Suzanne Westhead (B&NES Director of Adult Social
Care) and was submitted according to the deadline of the 30" January 2026.

3.8 It should be noted that Health and Wellbeing Board meetings do not always
precisely align with BCF returns. The National BCF guidelines accept that
returns may be given approval, via delegated responsibility by officers and can
then be given formal approval via the Health and Wellbeing Board both before
and after submission.

RETURN SUMMARY

3.9 The 4 National Conditions are to:

(1) Have a jointly agreed plan -

a) Local health and social care commissioners must agree to a plan, which is
then signed off by the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB).

b) The plan should set out a joined-up approach to person-centred services,
including joint commissioning and arrangements for embedding the
discharge policy.

(2) Meet Policy objectives —

a) Objective 1: Shift from sickness to prevention: Support people to stay
healthier and more independent for longer.

b) Objective 2: Shift from hospital to home: Provide the right care in the right
place at the right time, focusing on enabling people to stay at home.

(3) Comply with grant funding conditions -
a) The NHS must continue its contribution to adult social care.
b) Funding must be used in accordance with the BCF plan,

c) Pooled into a single fund under a section 75 agreement to be used for the
local BCF plan.

(4) Comply with oversight and reporting processes

3.10 These conditions have all been met.

Printed on recycled paper Page 106



3.11 National Metric 1 Emergency Admissions (for age 65+ per 100,000 of

population)
Target trajectory: Lower is positive
Planned performance On track to meet
1720/100000 avg goal

Actual performance up to Q2
1789/100000

Increasing demand and complexity in attendances which presents challenge and
in turn places higher demand on community services and reduces capacity for
anticipatory care approaches to support people to remain at home. However,
care co-ordination promoting out of hospital pathways and access to services is
in place. The teams in B&NES continue to work flexibly, to ensure that we use
all of our available capacity flexibly, to meet any surges in demand. Planned
performance is ambitious and actual performance is close to this planned figure
and an average across the year. Overall goal on track to be met with an
anticipated reduction for Q4 with continued focus on respiratory hubs and
anticipatory care.

3.12 National Metric 2 Average length of Discharge Delay for all acute adult
patients (including proportion discharged on their planned discharge day and for
those delayed the average number of days delay)

Goal trajectory: Lower is positive

Avg Discharge Delay for Planned Actual to date Not currently

all (days) on track to
0.49 0.7 meet goal

Proportion discharged at 88.5% 88%

Discharge Ready Date

Avg delay for those 4.29 4.84

discharged after DRD

(days)

Overall, discharge performance remains consistent with the direction of travel
identified in the NCTR data. While the Bath and North East Somerset position
appears not on track for length of stay related data at surface level, the goals set
for planned performance are very ambitious and local validation suggests the
performance is partly attributable to data recording variation. The locality team is
working with acute flow leads to refine discharge readiness recording and locally
work on improving PO performance is continuing led by RUH with support from
B&NES VCSE via BCF funded hospital connector roles.

Other BCF-funded schemes, such as Trusted Assessors and interim homecare

continue to make a measurable contribution to supporting timely, safe discharge
Printed on recycled paper Page 107



for people requiring supported pathways, manage surge demand and deliver
during the winter period.

3.13 Positive progress has been made in the delivery of Adult Social Care
assessments which continues to support the overall system flow. Adult Social
Care receive on average 255 requests for Care Act assessments/reassessments
per month and have reduced waiting lists for Care Act Assessments from 255
(January 2025) to 65 (October 2025). Occupational therapy assessment waiter
have reduced from 229 (January 2025) to 45 (October 2025).

3.14 National Metric 3 Residential Admissions (Rate of permanent admissions to
residential care per 100,000 population (65+))

Goal trajectory: Lower is positive

Planned performance 489.1 (to On Track to Meet
Q3), annual 639.6 Goal

Q1 102.3 (below plan)
Q2 161.2 (above plan)
Q3 102.3 (below plan)
Overall YTD 365.9

There is continued pressure on care home admissions for older people due to
complexity of need and ageing population where options for continued care at
home due to complex needs is not always most appropriate option. However
wider support is achieved through effective support from community
partnerships, which is helping to ensure that services are provided to meet the
individual's specific needs and that they are regularly reviewed. Hospital
connector and community connector models support knowledge of care needs
alongside new ASC teams aligned to enable effective discharge from acute and
community hospitals. Outcomes of frailty project for early identification and
support is positive and being integrated into planning for Neighbourhood Health.
The impact of preventive community support such as CWH support of Wellbeing
Courses, on permanent admissions may be a longer-term benefit, but current
position is positive.

3.15 Expenditure Summary

Areas are required to report overall spend of allocated funding and against the
plan. B&NES report 69% of funding commitment spent at end of Q3, with
planned spend on track for 100% at year end.

4 STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS

4.1 The statutory considerations are set out in section 1 of this report.

Printed on recycled paper Page 108



5 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE)

5.1 No specific resource implications are identified in this report, as commitments
have already been made through previous approvals.

6 RISK MANAGEMENT

6.1 Arisk assessment related to the issue is in place, in compliance with the Council
and ICA's decision making risk management guidance.

7 EQUALITIES

7.1 The joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy for B&NES is in operation supporting
aims to improve health and wellbeing outcomes for low-income households,
vulnerable groups, and people with specific accessibility needs. An Equalities
Impact Assessment (EQIA) has been carried out in relation to the BCF schemes
and the schemes have been agreed previously by the HWB to fulfil commitments
in the Health and Wellbeing and Inequalities strategies.

8 CLIMATE CHANGE

8.1 This report does not directly impact on supporting climate change progress.

9 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

9.1 None

10 CONSULTATION

10.1 Appropriate consultation has taken place in the construction and

development of this return as mentioned in 3.3.

Contact person

Lucy Lang Lucy_lang@bathnes.gov.uk

Background papers

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an alternative

format

Printed on recycled paper

Page 109




This page is intentionally left blank

Page 110



TTT abed

Q4 Exception report for progress on B&NES Health and Wellbeing Strategy Implementation

Date of Health and Wellbeing Board meeting this report will be reviewed at: 5 February 2026

The exception report is one of the identified ways by which the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) Board fulfils its responsibility to have
oversight on progress of delivery against the JHWS Implementation Plan. Biannual exception reporting takes place at HWB meetings which fall
in Q2 and Q4. Use the RAG rating (See below) shading and write RED, AMBER, or GREEN to indicate where progress is significantly off track
or ahead of expected target/timescale. Threshold determined by whether the identified ‘risk’ will be resolved by end of financial year.

Report Summary
Number RED actions items | Number of actions | Number of GREEN actions
Current report 0 9 34
Previous report 0 9 14

Priority ONE: Ensure that children and young people are healthy and ready for learning and education —
with annual indicator summary.

1 - Sign off from Sponsor

Theme

Lead officers Sponsor

Progress reviewed and exceptions have been reported?

1.

Sarah McCluskey Jean Kelly

Yes

2. Open ‘Red’ actions from previous exception reports - NONE

3. New exception reports Priority One

GT wa)| epuaby


https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/JHWS-Implementation-Plan6-11-25.pdf

21T abed

Strategy Objective
1.1 Strengthen family resilience to ensure children and young people can experience the best start in life

Strategy objective Action Risk Reason for Actions to control risk | Success Timescales | Requests to
level escalation measures Health and
RAG Wellbeing
Board?
1.1.1  Implement Families First | AMBER| The Transformation | Development of key Implementation| July 2026
Partnership Programme Programme for options to support of Families
Families First is an service delivery for key | First
ambitious DfE requirements for
mandated reform, Families First are
involving wide currently out for
ranging review of discussion, feedback
current practice and | and agreement. A clear
processes. timeline is in place to
support implementation
and changes to family
help, family group
decision making and
multi agency child
protection teams will be
embedded over the
course of the next 3
years in line with DfE
monitoring and funding.
1.1.2 Implement Best Start in GREEN

Life Action Plan ensuring
alignment with the Best
Start in Life Strategy




€17 abed

1.1.3 Confirm declaration of GREEN
intent to participate in
Best Start Family Hubs
Development Grant 25/26
and adhere to
requirements for
implementation from April
2026
1.1.4 Ongoing work towards a | GREEN | There is a clear offer Trauma
shared trauma informed of trauma informed Informed
resilience approach training for all Guidance for
schools available. all Early Years
settings to be
Trauma Informed launched in
Toolkit for schools Term 3
sent to all BANES (January). It
schools in Term 1. has been
written and
published. It
will have a
training offer to
accompany it.
Strategy Objective

1.2 Improve timely access to appropriate family and wellbeing support




yTT abed

Strategy objective Action Risk Reason for Actions to control risk | Success Timescales | Requests to
(Add hyperlink to detailed level escalation /eave measures Health and
update on progress on this RAG blank if green Wellbeing
indicator unless exceptional Board?
progress

1.2.1 Ensure Early Help offer | GREEN

aligns with Families First

Partnership Programme
1.2.2 Progress work towards a| GREEN

Family Hub/Multi-

Disciplinary Team

approach to support

families linked to new

Integrated

Neighbourhood Team

model.
Strategy Objective
1.3 Reduce the existing educational attainment gap for disadvantaged children and young people
Strategy objective Action Risk Reason for Actions to control risk | Success Timescales | Requests to
(Add hyperlink to detailed level escalation (leave measures Health and
update on progress on this RAG blank if green Wellbeing
indicator where available) unless exceptional Board?

progress

1.3.1 Improve Disadvantaged | AMBER | Inequality in Continue to: Project Report | Wider

Educational Outcomes Education is a key ** (see linkto | determinants

Programme (IDEOP) to priority as - Implement Big Education | Action Plan

commission work to evidenced in the Big programme  of report atend | 2025 -2027

provide intensive work with

support for
disadvantaged children

Education
programme

education settings.

1.4.4)




GTT abed

- Implement B&NES
Council Action
Plan to address
wider determinants
of the attainment

gap.

Align actions with work of
wider system partners

1.3.2

Develop plan to
understand and address
impact of wider
determinants on the
educational attainment

gap

GREEN

1.3.3

Prepare business case
to narrow educational
attainment gap

GREEN

1.34

Continue to work
alongside schools and
social care to reduce
exclusions and
suspensions for all
children open to social
care but with a specific
focus on Children
Looked After (CLA) and
Children with Protection
Plans (CPP) in place

GREEN




91T abed

1.3.5 Continue Affordable
Schools work.

GREEN

Strategy Objective

1.4 Ensure services for children and young people who need support for emotional health and wellbeing are needs-led and tailored
to respond and provide appropriate care and support (from early help to statutory support services)

Strategy objective Action Risk Reason for Actions to control risk | Success Timescales | Requests to
level escalation measures Health and
RAG Wellbeing
Board?
1.4.1 Ensure commissioned AMBER | The focus going We currently have the Start Well April 2026- | To support
services are designed to identify | Was forward in 2026 will | right commissioned commissioning | March 2028 | with changes
and support needs GREEN | be the services in place, and is working to future
transformation they are working well. closely with commissioning
programme around Children’s intentions in
Families First. However, we will need to | Social Care to line with new
review future ensure the national
commissioning needs in | Families First guidance
light of new national Initiative is at outlined in
guidance. the forefront of Families First,
our future Children’s
commissioning Wellbeing and
intentions. Schools Bill
and Best Start
Across in Life Strategy
Education,
Commissioning
decisions

reflect




/1T abed

changing need,
have a focus
on supporting
inclusive
practice in
mainstream
settings, and
are directed at
supporting the

graduated
approach in
schools.
1.4.2 Influence ICA to invest AMBER Health and Wellbeing April 2026-
and take action to address Board Development March 2027
emotional wellbeing and mental Session held to agree and
health through working together progress key actions.
to develop a joint two-year work
programme ensuring activity
supports the needs of CYP
1.4.3 Use and refresh Dynamic | GREEN
Support Register and Care,
Education and Treatment plans
to ensure support provided is
needs led and tailored to child
1.4.4 Improve transition AMBER | Transitions to adult | The Preparing for Transitions Dec 2025 —
processes between children and services remains a | Adulthood (PfA) sub from Children | Dec 2027
young people and adult services priority. group of the LAIP Board | Social
(physical and Mental Health continues to work with Care/SEND to
provision) multiagency partners to Adult Social

continue to improve
transitions processes.

Care Protocol




8TT abed

for consideration and
decision making.

Options for delivery of PfA | December
provision is being finalised | 2025

Transitions from Chilc

G

Protocol for

**1.3.1 https://sites.google.com/school360.org.uk/banes-bigeducation/project-reports/project-reports

4. Annual Priority Indicator Set Summary

Priority Indicator

Timescales

Summary Points

Comments

Gap in School Readiness:
the gap in the percentage of
children with free school
meal status achieving a
good level of development at
the end of reception
compared to pupils who are
not in receipt of free school
meals

2024-2025

The attainment gap between children
eligible for free School Meals (FSM) and
their peers widened in 2025. The FSM gap
increased to 38.9 percentage points up from
32 percentage points in 2024.

This widening is due to improving outcomes
for children not-in receipt of FSM.

(Good Learning Development - GLD for
non-FSM children increased to 77.1 % in
2025 up from 76.8% in 2024), combined
with declining GLD outcomes for children in
receipt of FSM (GLD 44.6% in 2024
declined to 38.2% in 2025).

Actions being undertaken:

Ongoing support to raise
educational settings awareness of
their cohort characteristics and
potential risk factors that can
impact on attainment.

Ongoing rollout of Language for
Life early speech and language
screening intervention
programme.



https://sites.google.com/school360.org.uk/banes-bigeducation/project-reports/project-reports

61T abed

Bespoke support for educational
settings with local factors
impacting on quality of provision
and outcomes.

Focus on effective transitions into
school, EYPP take up and use,
parental engagement with home
learning, accurate assessment.

Building relationships with all
settings across a diverse and
fragmented EYFS delivery sector,
to support partnership working.

Hospital admissions caused
by unintentional and
deliberate injuries in children
(aged 0-14 yrs.), crude rate
per 10,000,

2023/24

B&NES rate is 65.3 per 100,000 which is a
reduction from the previous reported rate.

It is not possible to compare local
admission statistics with national
statistics due to a change in how
hospital activity is reported in
Hospital Episode Statistics (HES).
Local trends can still be used
reliably until 2025/26.

The local Injury Prevention Group
continues to monitor this and
feeds into the Best Start in Life
group which reports to the CYP
Sub-group of the H&WBB.

Hospital Admissions as a
result of self-harm (10-24
years), DSR (directly

2023/24

B&NES 2023/24 B&NES admission 434.4
per 100,000

It is not possible to compare local
admission statistics with national
statistics due to a change in how




02T abed

standardised rate) - per
100,000

hospital activity is reported in
Hospital Episode Statistics (HES).
Local trends can still be used
reliably until 2025/26.

Child development:
percentage of children
achieving a good level of
development at 2 to 2V
years

2024/25

81.4% of children achieved a good level of
development at 2 — 2.5 year

Emotional Health and Wellbeing
(EHWB) for CYP remains an ICA
priority. The B&NES Health
Inequalities Group has focused
on mental health, aligned with the
Core 20+5 framework. Public
Health has supported this work by
gathering intelligence and data,
including insights from the
Schools Health and Wellbeing
Survey.

Plans are underway for a CYP
EHWB Summit in Spring 2026. In
addition, the BSW Senior Mental
Health Leads meeting for schools
will focus on recognising and
supporting anxiety in CYP.

Number of mothers known to
be smokers at time of
delivery as a percentage of
all maternities with known
smoking status

2024/25

Smoking in pregnancy rates in B&NES are
consistently lower than BSW and national
averages. From local data smoking at time
of booking (SATOD) rates in B&NES are
around 5.5-6.5% annually and smoking at
time of delivery rates are lower at 3.7%

BSW ICB identified an error in
data submission for Q4 24/25
SATOD data which has meant
one of the Trusts is showing an
incorrect figure, affecting the
overall prevalence of SATOD
across




T2T abed

Priority TWO: Improve skills, good work and employment

1 - Sign off from Sponsor

Theme

Lead officers

Sponsor

Progress reviewed and exceptions have been reported?

2

Claire Lynch

Jackie Clayton Yes

2. Open ‘Amber’ and ‘Red’ actions from previous exception reports - NONE

3 New exception reports — Priority Two

Strategy Objective
2.1. Work with education providers and other partners to provide robust and inclusive pathways into work and including for
disadvantaged young people

requirements, including
in major projects and
emerging sectors, and
work with skills
providers on relevant
course provision such

www.achieveinbathnes.co.uk

Strategy objective Action | Risk Reason for escalation Actions | Success | Timescales| Requests
level to measures to Health
RAG control and
risk Wellbeing
Board?
2.1.1  Map future skills GREEN | www.skillsconnect.org.uk/directory



http://www.skillsconnect.org.uk/directory
http://www.achieveinbathnes.co.uk/

2eT abed

as Adult Skills Fund
(ASF) Skill Bootcamps

Prioritise projects to
address barriers to
employment for young
people, including care
leavers and those with
SEND, vulnerable
learners

GREEN

https://weworkforeveryone.org

https://www.skillsconnect.org.uk/youth-guarantee/

Improve access to
support by providing
clarity to the extensive
and complex
employment and skills
ecosystem through
high quality and
impartial Information
Advice and Guidance
(IAG)

GREEN

www.skillsconnect.org.uk/directory

https://www.achieveinbathnes.co.uk/success-stories

Strategy Objective
2.2 Work with local employers to encourage, incentivise and promote good quality work

Strategy objective Action

Add hyperlink to detailed
update on progress on this
indicator where available

Risk
level
RAG

Reason for escalation (leave blank if green unless
exceptional progress

Actions
to
control
risk

Success
measures

Timescales

Requests
to Health
and
Wellbeing
Board?

2.2.1

Encourage partners
and local businesses to
sign up to WECA Good
Employment Charter
(GEC)

GREEN

https://www.goodemploymentcharter.co.uk/

This was
followed
up via

HR
confirmed
this will be in



https://weworkforeveryone.org/
https://www.skillsconnect.org.uk/youth-guarantee/
http://www.skillsconnect.org.uk/directory
https://www.achieveinbathnes.co.uk/success-stories
https://www.goodemploymentcharter.co.uk/

€21 abed

Sponsor
and
confirmed
actioned

the People
Strategy and
it will be on
the service
plan for
2026.

2.2.2 B&NEs council to lead
by example and
support partners and
local businesses to
transition into an
Employer of choice.

GREEN

We held our 2" Disability event last year along with our
Midlife MOT and Business conference — all supporting
businesses and partners with update legislation and
feedback from residents, employees and government.

We are starting to develop this further within the
Business and Skills team and we have set up the Resilient
Business working group which is an adoption of the
Economic Strategy

Strategy Objective

2.3 Support the development of and access to an inclusive labour market, focusing on engaging our populations most at risk of
inequalities in accessing and maintaining good work

Strategy objective Action | Risk | Reason for escalation (leave blank if green unless | Actions | Success | Timescales| Requests
level | exceptional progress to measures to Health
Add hyperlink to detailed RAG control and
update on progress on this risk Wellbein
indicator where available g
Board?
2.3.1 Create and deliveran | GREEN | https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Business-

inclusive employment
and skills plan for Bath
and North East

Skills-Plan.pdf



https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Business-Skills-Plan.pdf
https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Business-Skills-Plan.pdf

21 abed

Somerset, ensuring UK
Shared Prosperity
Fund (UKSPF) or
similar scheme
supports B&NES
requirements

2.3.2 Promote the Disability
Confident Employer
scheme and increase
our own levels and be
an employer who can
encourage local
employers to enhance
the recruitment, retain
and develop residents
with disabilities

GREEN

2.3.3 Through the FWD (and
future successor)
programme, offer an
alternative and
inclusive structure to
training that addresses
barriers to training not
addressed through
existing provision, and
has embedded routes
to employment

GREEN

We are currently pulling plans together on a centre of
excellence for Skills which will build on the FWD pilot

Strategy Objective

2.4 Prioritise inclusiveness and social value as employers, purchasers and investors in the local economy

Strategy objective Action

Risk
level
RAG

Reason for escalation

Actions
to
control
risk

Success
measures

Timescales

Requests
to Health
and




GeT abed

Wellbeing
Board?

2.4.1

Collaborate as
B&NES anchor
institutions (and
major
employers) to
review and
adopt good
work practices

GREEN

We are achieving helpful and healthy conversations and
actions through the GOOD WORK pillar

242

Use social value
to promote
apprenticeships
for vulnerable
groups

GREEN

https://www.achieveinbathnes.co.uk/support-and-

guidance/constructing-bnes

We have also included Social Value into our Digital open
access agreements

243

HWB members
commit to
support
individuals from
vulnerable
groups with
apprenticeships,
jobs and work
placements

GREEN

We are working closely with Curo on the next phase of
Youth Trailblazer.

4. Annual Priority Indicator Set Summary



https://www.achieveinbathnes.co.uk/support-and-guidance/constructing-bnes
https://www.achieveinbathnes.co.uk/support-and-guidance/constructing-bnes
https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/apps/6454955f-832f-492a-b4ec-c750b70afbd9/reports/46740534-a176-41db-b5fc-a6b57a71f0b3/ReportSection3bc53b54abd1116ed00a?ctid=c562c0ce-d925-4dfd-8d99-c9416eb03eb9&experience=power-bi&bookmarkGuid=Bookmarka760ba70d8e8a2280589

92T abed

Priority Indicator

Timescales

Summary Points

Comments

Gap in the employment rate
between those with a long
term health condition and the
overall employment rate

We are reviewing and collecting data
on employment outcomes for B&ENES
residents with a long-term health
condition. The latest employment rate
for residents is 76% (ONS Annual
Population Survey). Figures from the
Department for Work and Pensions
show there were 23,533 disabled
people living in Bath and North East
Somerset as of March, with 64% of
them in employment (significantly
lower than the overall employment
rate). At the same time, only 17% of
economically inactive B&NES
residents give long-term sickness as
the primary reason for not being in
work, compared with 27% in the South
West and 28% nationally, so more
analysis is needed to understand the
scale of the issue and whether B&ENES
is truly underperforming on health-
based employment outcomes

Economic activity rate (16-64
year olds

June 2025

Economically active 79.5%

Breakdown

In employment 76.5
Employees 65.9
Self employed  10.5




12T abed

Unemployed 3.7

% NEET (inc not known) (16- | Dec 2024 4.6%
17 year olds)
Apprenticeship participation 2024-25 2,876 per 100,000 population People aged 19 and above
rage per 100,000 population participating in further
education and skills learning
(including apprenticeships),
per 100,000 people
% who are economically June 2025 | Total 20.5% A new element to the dataset
inactive (aged 16-64) “discouraged” this information is
Breakdown only national at the moment
Student 42.4
looking after family/home 13.8 For information
temporary sick  unknown “someone of working age (16-
long-term sick 17.5 64) who isn't working or looking
discouraged ! unknown for work because they believe
retired 11.8 no suitable jobs are available,
other 11.6 having given up searching due
to prolonged unemployment or
wants a job 15.0 lack of opportunities, therefor
does not want a job 85.0 falling outside official
unemployment statistics but
contributing to economic
inactivity”
% with no qualifications or Dec 2024 No qualifications 4.1%

Level 1 qualifications (aged
16-64)

Level 1 0.7%
(Level 1 and above = 94.4%)




Page 128



Priority THREE: Strengthen compassionate and healthy communities

1 - Sign off from Sponsor

Theme | Lead officers

Sponsor

Progress reviewed and exceptions have been reported?

3 Amy McCullough

Becky Reynolds

Yes

2. Open ‘Amber’ and ‘Red’ actions from previous exception reports - NONE

3 New exception reports Priority Three

Strategy Objective

3.1 Infrastructure that encourages and enables individuals, organisations and networks to work together in an inclusive
way, with the shared aim of supporting people in need and building strong local communities

62T abed

Strategy objective Action

3.1.1  Implement Community
Wellbeing Hub (CWH)
Business Plan to
include extension of
scope to support
families with CYP (as
well as adults) and
engagement with
HCRG regarding
Integrated
Neighbourhood Teams

Risk Reason for
level escalation
R G)

Actions to control
risk

Success
measures

Timescales

Requests to
Health and
Wellbeing
Board?

Community
Wellbeing
Hub Business
Plan is for the
period 2023-
2030




0¢T abed

and CWH’s role within
these new structures

3.1.2 Update CWH Business | AMBER | Currently underway, | Report back and sign Community | None
plan to align with new aligning to off by BANES Council Wellbeing
NHS strategy Neighbourhood Commissioning Hub Hub Business
Health plans and INT Plan is for the
development for period 2023-
BSW. 2030
Strategy Objective

3.2 Enable and encourage proactive engagement in health promoting activity at all ages for good quality of life

Strategy objective Action

Add hyperlink to detailed
update on progress on this
indicator where available

3.2.1 Implement Be Well
B&NES (BWB)
programme, a whole
systems approach to

health improvement

3.2.2 B&NES Cultural
Development Plan to
promote health and

wellbeing and the

reduction of inequalities

Risk level| Reason for
level
R G

financial year

Actions to control | Success Timescales| Requests to
escalation risk measures Health and
Wellbeing
Board?
Plan has been Formal sign
developed off due at the
end of




TET abed

Strategy Objective
3.3 Develop a strategic approach to social prescribing to enable people to remain healthy and manage physical and
mental health conditions

best be embedded in
existing health work
programmes

work embedded in
governance
(rather than via a
standalone
steering group)

Strategy objective Action | Risk level| Reason for Actions to control | Success Timescales| Requests to
R G escalation risk measures Health and
Wellbeing
Board?
3.3.1  Implement AMBER Social prescribing | Work taking place to Recommendations| By end of To engage with
recommendations from work supported by | refine actions refined March 2026 | the
the B&NES Social the ICA but some development
Prescribing Framework recommendations | Discussions due to take | Clear ownership of| 2026 session on
as feasible need refining and place on how the actions social
action owners framework and Soci " prescribing in
confirmed. recommendations can ocial prescribing 2026 May

4. Annual Priority Indicator Set Summary

Priority Indicator

Timescales

Summary Points

Comments



https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/apps/6454955f-832f-492a-b4ec-c750b70afbd9/reports/46740534-a176-41db-b5fc-a6b57a71f0b3/ReportSection3bc53b54abd1116ed00a?ctid=c562c0ce-d925-4dfd-8d99-c9416eb03eb9&experience=power-bi&bookmarkGuid=Bookmarka760ba70d8e8a2280589

ZeT abed

Prevalence of smoking
among persons aged 18-
64 years in the routine and
manual group

Percentage of adults who
feel lonely often/always or
some of the time (aged
16+)

High ratings of anxiety (%
adults 16+)

Percentage satisfaction
with local area as a place
to live




ceT abed

1 - Sign off from Sponsor

Priority Four (4.1): Create Health Promoting Places

Theme

Lead officers

Sponsor

Progress reviewed and exceptions have been reported?

4.1

Amy McCullough

Lucy Baker

Yes

2. Open ‘Amber’ and ‘Red’ actions from previous exception reports - NONE

3 New exception reports Priority FOUR (4.1)

health and wellbeing and
sustainability outcomes and
address the root causes of
unhealthy development e.g.
policies that promote:
- Access to green space

development and so
policy content not
yet confirmed

the process of being
developed to inform
draft Local Plan
Policy content,
including by Public
Health, Leisure,

health, wellbeing
and equity
outcomes.

Strategy Objective

4.1 Utilise the Local Plan as an opportunity to shape, promote and deliver healthy and sustainable places and reduce

inequalities

Strategy objective Action Risk Reason for Actions to control | Success Timescales| Requests to
level escalation risk measures Health and
R"G Wellbeing

Board?
4.1.1 Key policies included in the Draft Local Plan Evidence papers Policy embedded | 2025 and
Local Plan that promote AMBER)| currently in have been orare in | that promotes 2026




v abed

- Active travel

- Access to healthy foods and
growing spaces

- Affordable, accessible and
safe housing

- Social infrastructure

4.1.2 Comprehensive public
engagement to inform the
Options Appraisal and
Local Plan

Housing, Transport
and other key areas.

Future social
infrastructure
requirements being
developed.

Comprehensive
public engagement
to inform the Options
Appraisal (Autumn
2025) taken place,
led by Regeneration.

Public Health
engagement with
seldom heard groups
and across the life-
course undertaken
by Public Health to
inform draft Local
Plan policy content.

Engagement
used by Planning
leads to inform
options document
and Local Plan
policy content

2025 and
2026




GeT abed

Priority Four (4.2, 4.3): Create Health Promoting Places

1 - Sign off from Sponsor

Theme

Lead officers Sponsor

Progress reviewed and exceptions have been reported?

42,43

Chris Mordaunt

Lucy Baker

Yes

2. Open Amber and Red actions from previous exception reports - NONE

3 New exception reports Priority Four (4.2, 4.3)

Strategy Objective
4.2 Improve take up of low carbon affordable warmth support for private housing; and encourage B&NES social housing
providers to provide low carbon affordable warmth for existing social housing to help prevent damp and mould and

cold-related illnesses

energy firms for warm
home schemes or similar
initiatives and express
interest for these

Strategy objective Action Risk Reason for Actions to control| Success Timescales| Requests to
level escalation risk measures Health and
R G Wellbeing
Board?
4.2.1 Investigate further Schemes in 2025 - 28 Promote
opportunities (e.g. with place schemes on

https://www.en

ergyathome.or
.uk/fundin



https://www.energyathome.org.uk/funding
https://www.energyathome.org.uk/funding
https://www.energyathome.org.uk/funding

9¢T abed

4.2.2 Ensure affordable warmth Residents 2026 As above
grant schemes and contacting
initiatives are promoted schemes
4.2.3 Assess progress of West Latest Forum | 2026 RP
of England based update engagement
Registered Providers (RP)
Forum on implementing
affordable warmth
initiatives for social
housing tenants
Strategy Objective

4.3 Maximise opportunities in legislation to facilitate targeted private rented sector inspection programme to ensure the
minimum statutory housing and energy efficiency standards are met

Strategy objective Action

4.3.1 Identify and assess the
potential impact of the
Renters Rights legislation
alongside other existing
statutory duties on
improving housing and
energy efficiency
standards in B&NES, then
agree and implement work
programme to include
awareness raising and
inspection arrangements

Risk
level
level

Reason for Actions to control Success Timescales| Requests to
escalation risk measures Health and
Wellbeing
Board?
Positive 2026 - 2035 | Awareness of
response to current
legislation housing
standards
legislation




/€T abed

4.3.2 Agree opportunities for Consideration Receive
improvement and priority of feedback
actions arising from the development
HWB development session .
held in July 2025 session

actions
4. Annual Priority Indicator Set Summary

Priority Indicator Timescales | Summary Points Comments

Number of air quality Year to No locations in B&NES where exceedances Based on network of monitoring

monitoring locations in March 2024 | measured sites around the district

B&NES exceeding the

targeted level of Nitrogen

Dioxide

% EPC (Energy As of June 37.4% of homes Upward trend

Performance Certificate) 2025

rating A-C B&NES
residential premises



https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/apps/6454955f-832f-492a-b4ec-c750b70afbd9/reports/46740534-a176-41db-b5fc-a6b57a71f0b3/ReportSection3bc53b54abd1116ed00a?ctid=c562c0ce-d925-4dfd-8d99-c9416eb03eb9&experience=power-bi&bookmarkGuid=Bookmarka760ba70d8e8a2280589

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 138



6ST abed

1 - Sign off from Sponsor

Priority Four (4.4): Create Health Promoting Places

Theme | Lead officers

Sponsor

Progress reviewed and exceptions have been reported?

4.4 Lucy Baker

Lucy Baker

Yes

2. Open Amber and Red actions from previous exception reports — NONE

3 New exception reports Priority Four (4.4)

Strategy Objective

4.4 Improve equitable access to physical and mental health services for all ages via the development of Integrated
Neighbourhood Teams (INTs), community-based specialist services and our specialist centres

consideration existing local
models and experience
through the newly
commissioned ICBC
programme and Integrated
neighbourhood team model

Strategy objective Action Risk | Reason for Actions to control| Success Timescales| Requests to
level | escalation) risk measures Health and
R G Wellbeing
Board?
4.41 Design and implement
Integrated Neighbourhood
Teams (INTs), taking into GREEN




o1 abed

as part of that delivery, and
the emerging guidance on
neighbourhood health as
part of the NHS 10 year
plan.

442

Programme alignment
workshop to bring together
relevant workstreams that
touch on neighbourhood
health

GREEN

Multiagency B&NES
workshop Jan 29t 2025




T¥T abed

1. Sign off from Sponsor

Priority 4: Create Health Promoting Places

Theme | Lead officers

Sponsor

Progress reviewed and exceptions have been reported?

45 Paul Scott

Lucy Baker

Yes

2. Open Amber and Red actions from previous exception reports - NONE

3. New exception reports Priority Four (4.5)

Strategy Objective

4.5 The NHS, LA, Third Sector and other partners to increasingly embed prevention and inequalities action into their
planning and prioritisation (Cross referenced to ICA’s priorities 2 and relevant cross cutting teams)

Strategy objective Action Risk Reason for Actions to control | Success Timescales| Requests to
level escalation risk measures Health and
R"G Wellbeing
Board?
4.5.1 Ensure work on both
prevention and inequalities
are visible and aligned in GREEN

key NHS and Local
Authority plans, and in the
monitoring of them
including the future
Neighbourhood Health
Plan, ICBC programme, the
Local Plan and the
Economic Strategy




ZvT abed

4.5.2 Explore opportunities to
embed the work of the

Health Inequalities Network | GREEN

as BAU and for any future

opportunities to support

further development and
coordination of the network

4 5.3 Shift resources towards

babies, children and young

people to improve
population outcomes

AMBER

ICB children and
young people
programme
resourcing several
targeted programmes
for babies, children
and young people.

- _ Existing July 2026
Families First inequalities
Partnership recognised
programme and
developing. responded to
in Families
First plans.
4. Annual Priority Indicator Set Summary
Priority Indicator Timescales | Summary Points S

Percentage of physically
active adults

2024

The percentage of physical active adults in
B&NES has fallen slightly compared to



https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/apps/6454955f-832f-492a-b4ec-c750b70afbd9/reports/46740534-a176-41db-b5fc-a6b57a71f0b3/ReportSection3bc53b54abd1116ed00a?ctid=c562c0ce-d925-4dfd-8d99-c9416eb03eb9&experience=power-bi&bookmarkGuid=Bookmarka760ba70d8e8a2280589

cpT abed

2023. However, this indicator has varied
up and down over time and in 2024 it
remains significantly higher (at 72.8%)
than the England average (at 67.4%).
Work related to this indicator is happening
within the Be Well B&NES Active
Wellbeing workstream.

Percentage of adults 2023/24 The percentage (51.6%) has improved
classified as overweight or slightly in B&NES compared to 2022/23
obese and remains significantly below the
England average (64.5%)
Population Health Indicators
Inequality of life 2021-2023 | The gap in life expectancy between most
expectancy at birth and least deprived areas in B&NES has
increased to 8.0 years for males and 5.1
years for females. Both values remain
significantly below the England averages.
Healthy life expectancy at | 2021-2023 | The value for males in B&NES is 66.2

birth

years and 66.0 years for females. Both are
significantly higher than the England
averages.




This page is intentionally left blank

Page 144



Agenda Item 16

Bath & North East Somerset Council

MEETING | Health and Wellbeing Board

MEETING

DATE: 05 February 2026

TITLE: Air Pollution and Health: Evidence and Targets
WARD: All

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM

List of attachments to this report:
Appendix 1: Listed of relevant air quality and health reports.

1 THE ISSUE

1.1 To brief Health and Wellbeing Board on (i) the current UK health-related
research on air pollution and (ii) the targets that apply or are emerging nationally,
in the EU, and from the World Health Organisation (WHO) for nitrogen dioxide
(NO,) and particulate matter (PMyq and PM,5) to inform policy choices,
programme priorities and communications.

2 RECOMMENDATION
The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:

2.1 Consider whether to recommend that the Council should identify and adopt local
targets for nitrogen dioxide and particulate pollution.

2.2 Comment on whether to recommend that the Council should prepare a Clean Air
Strategy that sets out what the local target should be, and what regulatory
powers there are to help protect people’s lives.

3 THE REPORT
Part 1 — Air Quality and Health

3.1 There is overwhelming evidence to demonstrate that poor air quality leads to
adverse health outcomes. Appendix 1 provides a list of air quality documents
that support this report.

3.2 There are overarching themes amongst these reports:
There is no safe level for PM, 5

There are adverse effects of PM, 5 on health observed from low concentrations and
Printed on recycled paper Page 145



therefore reductions below current UK guideline levels are required for improved
population health benefits.

(Committee on the Medical Effects of Air Pollutants (COMEAP), Royal College of
Physicians (RCP) and Chief Medical Officer (CMQO)).

Children and vulnerable groups

There is robust evidence identifying the disproportionate impacts on children, older
adults, and people with existing conditions. Recommendations conclude that priority
actions should reduce exposures where vulnerable groups live, learn and work.
(COMEAP, RCP, University of Cambridge (UoC), & CMO)

Air pollution and health

The impact of air pollution on human health is significant from pregnancy and
throughout the life span highlighting air pollution as both an environmental and
public health challenge. There are considerable impacts experienced from both
short and long-term exposure including contributing to significant mortality and
economic costs requiring increased action to reduce pollutant concentration and
exposure levels.

(COMEAP, RCP, UoC, & WHO).

3.3 Description of Key Pollutants

Pollutant Description

Nitrogen dioxide is a gas which is generally emitted from
Nitrogen Dioxide high temperature combustion processes such as road
(NO,) transport, domestic boilers and other energy generation.

Particulate matter is everything in the air that is not a
gas.

Particulate can come from natural sources such as
pollen, as well as human made sources such as smoke
from fires, dust from tyres and brakes, emissions from
industry and agricultural processes.

Particulate Matter
(PM10 and PM2_5)

Particulate matter can travel large distances from within
the UK and Europe, which can contribute to our local
concentrations.

3.4 We currently undertake monitoring for nitrogen dioxide, moving forward we
would look to increase our monitoring of particulate matter to enable us to
understand concentrations and sources across the district.

Part 2 — Air Quality Targets and Standards

3.5 There are three different sets of targets and standards set by UK, EU, and World
Health Organisation (WHO) which are presented in the table below.

Printed on recycled paper Page 146



3.6 Where the UK objectives are exceeded an Air Quality Management Area
(AQMA) is declared. There are three AQMAs (Bath, Farrington Gurney and
Temple Cloud) in BANES which have been declared for exceedances of the
nitrogen dioxide objectives. In 2024 the objective was met across the district. In
the same year we revoked the AQMAs in Keynsham and Saltford. Monitoring is
continuing to ensure we demonstrate on-going compliance before revoking
further AQMAs.

3.7 EU set air quality standards; the standards show that our neighbouring countries
have tighter regulations than the UK which we could use as benchmarking and
reviewing our own ambition.

3.8 The guidelines produced by the World Health Organisation (WHO) are not
statutory but are based on scientific and health data. They acknowledge that
lower pollution levels are better for health.

Air Quality Standards and Targets
. I World Health
Pollutant Avera_glng UK Objective El‘.’ limit (To be Organisation
period achieved by 2030) 1
Guideline
Ni 200 ug/m3 not to be| 200 ug/m3 not to be
itrogen ; .
o exceeded in an |exceeded in an hourly 3
Dioxide Hourly hourl iod iod than 3 200 pg/m
(NO,) ourly period more | period more than
than 18 times a year times a year
Nitrogen
Dioxide Annually 40 pg/m3 20 ug/m3 10 pg/m3
(NO,)
Nitrogen 50 ug/m3 not to be
Dioxide Daily / exceeded more than 25 ug/m3
(NO,) 18 times a year
3
Particulate 50 pg/m no? t(? be 45 pg/m?3 not to be
. exceeded within a 3
Matter Daily , exceeded more than 45 pg/m
(PMyo) 24hour period more 18 times a year
10 than 35 times a year
Particulate
Matter Annually 40 pg/m3 20 pg/m3 15 pg/m?
(PM1o)
Particulate 20 pg/m3
Matter Annually 10 pg/m3 5 pug/m3
(PM2.5) 10 ug/m?3 by 2040
Particulate 25 ug/m?® not to be
Matter Daily / exceeded more than 15 pg/m3
(PM,5) 18 times a year
Particulate 35% reduction in
Matter Exposure [concentrations at an / /
(PM2.5) urban background.

3.9 To set local targets for both pollutants, the Council would review the EU limits
and WHO guidelines. We would consider what other local authorities have done,
some examples of local targets are provided in the table below. We would also
review all the current monitoring data and use forecasting tools available to

Printed on recycled paper

Page 147




estimate concentrations in future years. Targets selected would be ambitious be
achievable.

Examples of LA’s with Local Targets:

4

NO, PM,, PM,
20 pg/m3 by 2030 | 15 ug/m? by 2030 | 10 pug/m? by 2030
Camden
10 pg/m? by 2034 5 pg/m?® by 2034
20 pg/m?3 by 2029
Cambridge 20 pg/m3 by 2029 | 10 pug/m? by 2029
10 pg/m3no date
Oxford 30 pg/m? by 2025 N/A N/A
Newcastle 30 pg/m? by 2030 N/A N/A

STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS

4.1 Under Part IV of the Environment Act 1995 as amended by the Environment Act

2021, and the relevant Policy and Technical Guidance documents, local
authorities are required to review and assess air quality within their authority
area.

4.2 The Council’s monitoring programme is compliant with the guidance provided in

5

‘Local Air Quality Management Technical Guidance 2022'.

The Council is meeting the annual UK objective standards for nitrogen dioxide
and particulate pollution (Annual Status Report 2025). Reports on progress
made in terms of monitoring and implementing actions identified in the air quality
action plans annually in the annual status report (copies of these reports can be
found on our website - https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/document-and-policy-
library/annual-air-quality-reports).

The Council currently has three air quality management areas these are
reviewed each year and should be considered for revocation if concentrations
are below 36 ug/m3 for 3 consecutive years. Each AQMA has an Air Quality
Action Plan which focuses on reduction of nitrogen dioxide within the specific
area. This doesn’t include particulate matter or nitrogen dioxide across the wider
district which would be included in an Air Quality Strategy.

Within the UK Government’s “Air Quality Strategy framework for local authority
delivery (2023)”, there is an expectation that local authorities take proactive and
preventative action to improve air quality reflected in their air quality strategy.
Since 2023, the policy guidance ‘Local Air Quality Management Policy Guidance
2022’ requires a local authority that has revoked its AQMAs to develop a district
wide Air Quality Strategy to ensure air quality remains a high-profile issue and to
ensure that they can respond quickly to a deterioration in concentrations.
Although the Council still has AQMAs, there are areas of the district which have
been revoked or have not been included in an AQMA which would benefit from
the development of a local Air Quality Strategy.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE)

Printed on recycled paper Page 148


https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/document-and-policy-library/annual-air-quality-reports
https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/document-and-policy-library/annual-air-quality-reports

5.1 The officer resource to continue to monitor, evaluate and report on nitrogen
dioxide is met from existing revenue budgets.

5.2 Should the recommendation to determine a local target and/or the production of
a Clean Air Strategy be recommended, there may be some capital outlay
required to purchase additional monitoring equipment specifically relating to
monitoring particulate matter, as well as additional revenue outlay for associated
data ratification, forecasting, ongoing maintenance and servicing associated with
additional monitoring. Any additional capital or revenue could not be incurred
until a budget has been identified to fund the additional expenditure and any
request for additional budget would need to be approved through the Council’s
budget setting processes.

6 RISK MANAGEMENT

6.1 A risk assessment related to the issue and recommendations will be undertaken,
should the recommendation to determine a local target and/or the production of
a Clean Air Strategy be recommended in compliance with the Council's decision-
making risk management guidance.

7 EQUALITIES

7.1 Air pollution affects children, older adults and those with existing conditions more
severely; lower-income areas often experience higher exposure. Any new local
targets or Clean Air Strategy will undergo an Equalities Impact Assessment to
assess impacts and mitigations.

8 CLIMATE CHANGE

8.1 The Council declared a Climate Emergency in March 2019, resolving to provide
the leadership to enable the Bath and North East Somerset Area to be carbon
neutral by 2030. This was followed by the Ecological Emergency, which was
declared in July 2020, recognising the severity of the degradation of the natural
environment and loss of wildlife, the consequences of this, and the urgency with
which we need to take action to restore nature. The Council resolved to be
nature positive as an organisation by 2030.

Should the recommendation to determine a local target and/or the production of
a Clean Air Strategy be recommended, this would aim to reduce pollutant
concentrations across the district, which would also lead to a reduction in carbon
dioxide emissions, supporting the Council’s climate commitments.

9 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

9.1 None, this is an evidence and targets briefing.

10 CONSULTATION

10.1 We will work in partnership with Public Health.

10.2 This item has been taken to the Climate Emergency and Sustainability
Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel in January (22) 2026, and received full
support in relation to points 2.1 and 2.2.

Printed on recycled paper Page 149



Contact person Michelle Tett — Environmental Protection Manager, Public
Protection.

Background None
papers

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an alternative
format

Appendix 1 — List of air quality and health reports

(1) Statutory expert advice from Committee on the Medical Effects of Air
Pollutants (COMEAP) | Annual Report 2024

The COMEAP annual report provides a robust overview of committee work in
2024 across multiple health topics including: adverse birth outcomes;
cardiovascular morbidity; indoor air quality; childhood asthma; and air pollution.
The committee’s study and advice is utilised to support and inform Governmental
Departments and local authorities in developing policy, undertaking analysis and
providing advice to members of the public.

(2) COMEAP | Air pollution and adverse birth outcomes (2025)

This report reviews and weighs existing and emerging evidence regarding
maternal exposure to air pollutants and the associated outcomes such as low birth
weight and pre-term birth. Whilst there is emerging evidence to support the
association between air pollutants and maternal exposure to birth outcomes, the
report identifies the need for increased study in the area to improve understanding
and strength of associations.

(3) University of Cambridge (UoC) | Long-term exposure to outdoor air pollution
linked to increased risk of dementia (2025)

Research from an analysis study carried out by UoC has identified strong
associations between air pollutants and cognitive decline. Three pollutants of note
with significant association include PM,5, NO, and soot (from sources such as
vehicle exhaust and wood burning). Research established an individual’s relative
risk of dementia would increase by 17% for every 10 pg/m? (micrograms per cubic
metre) of PM,s The study highlights the significant role that urban planning,
transport policy and environmental regulation have in both reduction and exposure
to key pollutants with the aim of improving public health, specifically dementia
prevention.

(4) Chief Medical Officer (CMO) | Annual Report: Air pollution (2022)

The CMO'’s independent report synthesises the life course harms of air pollution,
from pregnancy and childhood to older age. The report outlines actions to improve
outdoor air quality with practical, local actions such as with increased active and
public transport options supported by urban planning, and increased awareness of
the significant impact of domestic burning on local air quality. Additionally, the
impact on health of indoor air quality is acknowledged alongside the need for
increased study in this area and supporting regulation to improve ventilation in
private and public buildings.

Printed on recycled paper Page 150



https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/68dbb2b6ef1c2f72bc1e4c19/COMEAP_Annual_Report_2024_27_August_2025.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/691b139121ef5aaa6543ee11/COMEAP_adverse_birth_outcomes.pdf
https://www.cam.ac.uk/research/news/long-term-exposure-to-outdoor-air-pollution-linked-to-increased-risk-of-dementia
https://www.cam.ac.uk/research/news/long-term-exposure-to-outdoor-air-pollution-linked-to-increased-risk-of-dementia
https://www.thelancet.com/action/showPdf?pii=S2542-5196%2825%2900118-4
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/6389ee858fa8f569f9c823d2/executive-summary-and-recommendations-air-pollution.pdf

(5) The Royal College of Physicians (RCP) | A breath of fresh air: responding to
the health challenges of modern air pollution (2025)

The report acknowledges the links between air pollution and health, identifying air
quality as both an environmental and public health issue. RCP has estimated that
the significant health implications of air pollution contributed to the equivalent of
30,000 deaths in the UK in 2025, costing over £27 billion annually. Encouraging the
recognition of air quality as a public health issue, RCP supports the World Health
Organisation (WHO) more stringent global air quality guidelines. The report
provides insights into the dangerous short and long-term impacts of air pollution and
presents cross-governmental policy action and recommendation to support
reduction in concentration levels and exposure to harmful air pollutants.

(6) World Health Organisation | Health risks of air pollution in Europe (2025)

WHO identifies air pollution as the largest environmental risk factor for health,
acknowledging the wide-ranging impacts air pollutants cause to human health. The
report provides guidance on concentration-response functions and associated
information for key pollutants (PM,5, O3 and NO;) and health-outcomes to support
the assessments of effects from different exposure durations. Guidance is provided
for mortality and morbidity outcomes enabling comprehensive health risk
assessments.

(7) Public Health England/ National Institute for Health and Care Excellence: Air
Pollution: Outdoor air quality and health (2017)

The report focuses on road traffic air pollution and associated ill health. With an aim
to improve air quality to prevent a health conditions and deaths.

Printed on recycled paper Page 151


https://www.rcp.ac.uk/media/hvbeolvx/21072025-update-rcp-full-report-a-breath-of-fresh-air.pdf
https://www.rcp.ac.uk/media/hvbeolvx/21072025-update-rcp-full-report-a-breath-of-fresh-air.pdf
https://iris.who.int/server/api/core/bitstreams/19bdf746-06de-4f1b-90ba-f8d53989936f/content

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 152



	Agenda
	7 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	8 Feedback from Development Sessions
	Slide 1: B&NES Health and Wellbeing Board Development Session Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health - Summary of outputs from workshop discussions

	12 BSW ICB Strategic Commissioning Plan
	Slide 1
	Slide 2: Purpose of session
	Slide 3
	Slide 4: Purpose of the Five Year Strategic Commissioning Plan
	Slide 5: Work we have undertaken to date 
	Slide 6: Strategy on Page
	Slide 7: Informing our Commissioning Intentions
	Slide 8
	Slide 9: What our Integrated Need Assessment Tells Us
	Slide 10: What Our Mapping of Current Performance Tells us 
	Slide 11: What Our Engagement on the 10 year plan told us  
	Slide 12: 1. Embedding Outcomes & Promoting Integration 
	Slide 13: 2. Develop a Neighbourhood Health Service (1)
	Slide 14: 2. Develop a Neighbourhood Health Service (2)
	Slide 15: 3. Review Urgent and Emergency Care Pathway
	Slide 16: 4.Transform Delivery of Planned Care
	Slide 17: 5. Optimising use of the BSW pound
	Slide 18: 6.Expanding Our Digital offer
	Slide 19: 7. Commissioning for Prevention and Population Health
	Slide 20: 8. Transforming Primary Care
	Slide 21: Other Key Activities
	Slide 22: Next Steps
	Slide 23
	Slide 24
	Slide 25
	Slide 26
	Slide 27: Planning Architecture-how the plans fit together
	Slide 28
	BSW_ICB_Strategic Commissioning Plan_22JANICBBOARD_DRAFTV1.1 (002)
	Contents
	Foreword by Cluster Chair
	1.	Cluster Introduction
	2.	Purpose & Scope
	3.	Strategic Commissioning Overview
	4.	BSW Context
	5.	Vision, Aims and Strategic Objectives
	6.	Strategic Commissioning Intentions 2026/27-2030/31
	7.	Strategic Commissioning Capabilities
	8.	Transformation
	9.	Financial Plan
	10.	Workforce Plan
	11.	Digital Strategy
	12.	Infrastructure Strategy
	13.	Engagement
	14.	Monitoring Delivery
	15.	Risks and Mitigations
	The ICB is committed to having a risk management culture that underpins and supports the business of the ICB, including its system function and responsibilities. The approach seeks to embed robust, transparent, proportionate and responsive risk management in the ICB’s activities and processes relating to the discharging of the ICB’s functions, duties and responsibilities. The ICB’s Risk Management Framework sets out the ICB’s approach to risk management, key decision-makers with regards to risk management, the ICB’s risk appetite and risk categories, and key processes to manage operational risks (held on the ICB’s operational risk register) and risks to the ICB’s ability to achieve its strategic objectives (held on the ICB’s Board Assurance Framework, BAF).
	BSW ICB holds the following risks on its BAF and operational risk register which it deems to be relevant for this plan, and the ICB’s ability to deliver it:
	16.	Governance


	14 Better Care Fund
	15 Joint Health and Wellbeing Board Strategy Exception Reporting
	2026 27 Priority 2
	2026 27 Priority 3
	2026 27 Priority 4.1
	2026 27 Priority 4.2 4.3 1
	2026 27 Priority 4.4
	2026 27 Priority 4.5

	16 Air Pollution and Health: Evidence and Targets
	Part 2 – Air Quality Targets and Standards


